# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

|  | FORM 10-Q  |  |
|--|--|--|
| (Mark One)   |  |  |
| <b>☑</b> QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SE   | CTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES I  | EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934   |
|  | For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2022<br>OR   |  |
| ☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SEC  | CTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES I  | EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934   |
| _  | For transition period from to Commission File Number 001-40963   |  |
|  | Allbirds, Inc. (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)  |  |
| Delaware   |  | 47-3999983   |
| (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)   |  | (I.R.S. Employer<br>Identification Number)                                 |
| (Address, including zip code, and  | 730 Montgomery Street San Francisco, CA 94111 (628) 225-4848 telephone number, including area code, of registr | rant's principal executive offices)  |
| Securi   | ities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the  | e Act:   |
| Title of each class Class A Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value per share   | <u>Trading Symbol</u><br>BIRD  | Name of each exchange on which registered  The Nasdaq Global Select Market |
| Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) had uring the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter requirements for the past 90 days. Yes $\boxtimes$ No $\square$ |  | . ,  |
| Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has st Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the page $\boxtimes$ No $\square$                                  |  |  |
| Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a la emerging growth company. See the definitions of 'company' in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.                       |  |  |
|  |  |  |

| Large accelerated filer  |   | Accelerated filer   |                     |
|--------------------------|---|---|---------------------|
| Non-accelerated filer    |   | Smaller reporting company   |                     |
|                          |   | Emerging growth company   | $\boxtimes$         |
|                          | mpany, indicate by check mark if the registrant has ele-<br>nting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the | cted not to use the extended transition period for complete Exchange Act. $\square$ | ying with any new   |
| Indicate by check mark w | hether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in R   | Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act): Yes $\square$ No $\boxtimes$                       |                     |
|                          | e number of shares of the registrant's Class A common stock outstanding was 53,137,729.                               | non stock outstanding was 95,772,360 and the number                                 | er of shares of the |
|                          |   |   |                     |
|                          |   |   |                     |
|                          |   |   |                     |
|                          |   |   |                     |
|                          |   |   |                     |

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

|                    |  | Page                   |
|--------------------|--|------------------------|
| Special Note Regar | rding Forward-Looking Statements   | <u>i</u>               |
| Risk Factors Sumn  | <u>nary</u>  | <u>iv</u>              |
| Part I—Financial I | nformation and the second seco | 1                      |
| Item 1.            | <u>Financial Statements (Unaudited)</u>  | <u>1</u>               |
|                    | Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets  | <u>1</u>               |
|                    | Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss   | <u>2</u>               |
|                    | Condensed Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)  | <u>3</u>               |
|                    | Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  | <u>5</u>               |
|                    | Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements   | 7                      |
| Item 2.            | Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  | <u>24</u>              |
| Item 3.            | Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk   | <u>39</u>              |
| Item 4.            | Controls and Procedures  |                        |
| Part II—Other Info | ormation   | <u>40</u><br><u>42</u> |
| Item 1.            | <u>Legal Proceedings</u>   | <u>42</u>              |
| Item 1A.           | Risk Factors   | <u>42</u>              |
| Item 2.            | <u>Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds</u>   | <u>85</u>              |
| Item 3.            | Defaults Upon Senior Securities  | <u>86</u>              |
| Item 4.            | Mine Safety Disclosures  | <u>86</u><br><u>86</u> |
| Item 5.            | Other Information  | <u>86</u>              |
| Item 6.            | Exhibits   | <u>87</u>              |
| Signatures         |  | _                      |

#### SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, which statements involve substantial risk and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this quarterly report, including statements regarding our future results of operations, financial condition, business strategy and plans, and objectives of management for future operations, such as statements regarding the benefits and timing of the roll-out of new technology, are forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as "anticipate," "believe," "contemplate," "continue," "could," "estimate," "expect," "intend," "may," "plan," "potential," "predict," "project," "should," "target," "will," or "would" or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning the following:

- our expectations regarding our net revenue, expenses, gross profit, gross margin, adjusted EBITDA and other non-GAAP financial measures, payback period, and other results of operations;
- our ability to acquire new customers and successfully retain existing customers;
- our ability to gauge and adapt to fashion trends and changing consumer preferences in products, sustainability, price-points, and in-store and digital shopping experiences;
- our ability to achieve the intended benefits of our simplification initiatives announced in August 2022;
- our ability to achieve or sustain profitability;
- the impact of economic and market conditions in the United States and in other countries where we do business, including inflation and resulting
  changes to customer purchasing behavior, unemployment and bankruptcy rates, as well as any fiscal stimulus, or the cessation of any fiscal
  stimulus and the resulting impact on consumer spending;
- the impact of political conditions, such as Russia's invasion of Ukraine;
- future investments in our business, our anticipated capital expenditures, and our estimates regarding our capital requirements;
- our ability to effectively develop and launch new, innovative, and updated products;
- our ability to effectively manage our inventory and supply chain, including with respect to environmental, social, and governance, or ESG, matters;
- our ability to effectively increase the number of and management of our physical retail locations;
- our ability to successfully implement and expand our retail partnerships;
- the costs and success of our sales and marketing efforts, and our ability to promote our brand;
- our reliance on key personnel and our ability to identify, recruit, and retain skilled personnel;
- our ability to achieve the sustainability targets and goals that we have announced;
- our commitments to meeting certain threshold ESG criteria and reporting ESG practices in connection with the Sustainability Principles and Objectives Framework, or the SPO Framework, as well as aligning our ESG reporting with the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board and Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure frameworks;
- our expectations regarding our ESG initiatives;

- our ability to effectively manage our growth, including any international expansion;
- our ability to protect our intellectual property rights and any costs associated therewith;
- our dependence on key suppliers and manufacturers;
- the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic or other public health crises, as well as governmental authorities' responses to such pandemics or crises;
- our focus on a specific public benefit purpose and potential resulting negative effects on our financial performance;
- our ability to compete effectively with existing competitors and new market entrants; and
- our total addressable market and the growth rates of the markets in which we compete.

You should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks and uncertainties, including the factors described in "Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The results, events, and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements may not be achieved or occur, and actual results, events, or circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements.

In addition, statements that "we believe" and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based on information available to us as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. While we believe that such information provides a reasonable basis for these statements, that information may be limited or incomplete. Our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain, and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely on these statements.

The forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in or expressed by, and you should not place undue reliance on, our forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, or investments.

#### Additional Information

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to "we," "us," "our," "our company," and "Allbirds" refer to Allbirds, Inc. and its subsidiaries. The Allbirds design logo, "Allbirds," and our other registered or common law trademarks, service marks, or trade names appearing in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are the property of Allbirds, Inc. Other trade names, trademarks, and service marks used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are the property of their respective owners. Solely for convenience, we have omitted the ® and TM designations, as applicable, for the trademarks we name in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

We announce material information to the public through a variety of means, including filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, press releases, public conference calls, our website (allbirds.com), the investor relations section of our website (ir.allbirds.com), our Instagram account (@allbirds), our Twitter account (@allbirds), our LinkedIn account (linkedin.com/company/allbirds), our Facebook page (@weareallbirds) and our blog on Medium

#### Table of Contents

(allbirdsblog.medium.com). We use these channels to communicate with investors and the public about our company, our products, and other matters. Therefore, we encourage investors, the media and others interested in our company to review the information we make public in these locations, as such information could be deemed to be material information.

#### RISK FACTORS SUMMARY

Investing in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk because our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, as more fully described in "Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors" of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Below are some of these risks, any one of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects:

- Economic uncertainty in our key markets may affect consumer purchases of discretionary items, which has affected and may continue to adversely affect demand for our products.
- The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and may in the future continue to have, a material adverse impact on our business.
- If we are unable to maintain and enhance the value and reputation of our brand and/or counter any negative publicity, we may be unable to sell our products, which would harm our business and could materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
- We have incurred significant net losses since inception and anticipate that we will continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future.
- We operate in a highly competitive market and the size and resources of some of our competitors may allow them to compete more effectively than we can, which could result in a loss of our market share and a decrease in our net revenue and profitability.
- Our focus on using sustainable materials and environmentally friendly manufacturing processes and supply chain practices may increase our cost of revenue and hinder our growth.
- Climate change and increased focus by governments, organizations, customers, and investors on sustainability issues, including those related to climate change and socially responsible activities, may adversely affect our reputation, business, and financial results.
- If we are unable to anticipate product trends and consumer preferences, or we fail in our technical and materials innovation to successfully develop and introduce new high-quality products, we may not be able to maintain or increase our revenue and profits.
- We utilize a range of marketing, advertising, and other initiatives to increase existing customers' spend and to acquire new customers; if the costs of advertising or marketing increase, or if our initiatives fail to achieve their desired impact, we may be unable to grow the business profitably.
- As a company that operates retail stores, we are subject to various risks, including commercial real estate and labor and employment risks; additionally, we may be unable to successfully open new store locations in existing or new geographies in a timely manner, if at all, or successfully implement and expand our retail partnerships, which could harm our results of operations.
- Our business depends on our ability to maintain a strong community of engaged customers and Allgood Collective Ambassadors, including through the use of social media. We may be unable to maintain and enhance our brand if we experience negative publicity related to our marketing efforts or use of social media, we fail to maintain and grow our community of Allgood Collective Ambassadors, or otherwise fail to meet our customers' expectations.
- We are subject to risks related to our ESG activities and disclosures, and our reputation and brand could be harmed if we fail to meet our public sustainability targets and goals.
- We are subject to risks related to our commitment to certain ESG criteria, which we call the SPO Framework.

- We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to predict our future results of operations, particularly in newer geographies.
- Our reliance on suppliers and manufacturers to provide materials for and to produce our products could cause problems in our supply chain.
- Failure of our contractors or our licensees' contractors to comply with our supplier code of conduct, contractual obligations, local laws, and other standards could harm our business.
- The fluctuating cost of raw materials could increase our cost of revenue and cause our results of operations and financial condition to suffer.
- We may fail to protect our intellectual property rights, our trademark and other proprietary rights may conflict with the rights of others, and we
  may not be able to acquire, use, or maintain our marks and domain names, any of which could harm our brand, business, financial condition, and
  results of operations.
- If the technology-based systems that give our customers the ability to shop with us online do not function effectively, or we fail to comply with government regulations relating to the internet and eCommerce, our results of operations, as well as our ability to grow our digital business globally, could be materially adversely affected.
- Our international operations expose us to various risks from foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, tariffs or global trade wars, trade restrictions, and changing tax laws in the United States and elsewhere, among others.
- We are subject to several unique risks as a result of our status as a Delaware public benefit corporation, or PBC, and certified B Corporation, or B Corp, including that our board of directors' duty to balance various interests and our public benefit purpose may result in actions that do not maximize stockholder value.
- The dual class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with our co-founders and co-Chief Executive Officers, Timothy Brown and Joseph Zwillinger, our other executive officers and directors, our principal stockholders, and their respective affiliates, which limits or precludes the ability of our other stockholders to influence corporate matters, including the election of directors and the approval of any change of control transaction.

If we are unable to adequately address these and other risks we face, our business may be harmed.

#### PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

#### ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

#### ALLBIRDS, INC.

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (in thousands, except share and per share amounts) (unaudited)

| (unaudicu)   | June 30,<br>2022 |    | December 31,<br>2021 |
|--|------------------|----|----------------------|
| Assets   |                  |    |                      |
| Current assets:  |                  |    |                      |
| Cash and cash equivalents  | \$<br>207,294    | \$ | 288,576              |
| Accounts receivable  | 5,100            |    | 10,978               |
| Inventory  | 122,297          |    | 106,876              |
| Prepaid expenses and other current assets  | <br>35,923       | _  | 37,938               |
| Total current assets   | 370,614          |    | 444,368              |
| Property and equipment—net   | 47,860           |    | 37,955               |
| Other assets   | 10,059           |    | 6,106                |
| Total assets   | \$<br>428,533    | \$ | 488,429              |
| Liabilities and stockholders' equity   |                  |    |                      |
| Current liabilities:   |                  |    |                      |
| Accounts payable   | \$<br>15,096     | \$ | 30,726               |
| Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   | 40,162           |    | 46,243               |
| Deferred revenue   | 3,212            |    | 4,187                |
| Total current liabilities  | 58,470           |    | 81,156               |
| Noncurrent liabilities:  |                  |    |                      |
| Other long-term liabilities  | 15,743           |    | 10,269               |
| Total noncurrent liabilities   | 15,743           |    | 10,269               |
| Total liabilities  | \$<br>74,213     | \$ | 91,425               |
| Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)  |                  |    |                      |
| Stockholders' equity:  |                  |    |                      |
| Preferred Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 20,000,000 shares authorized as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021; zero shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021  | _                |    | _                    |
| Class A Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 2,000,000,000 shares authorized as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021; 94,389,961 and 49,016,511 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively | 9                |    | 5                    |
| Class B Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value; 200,000,000 shares authorized as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021; 54,467,089 and 98,036,009 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively   | 6                |    | 10                   |
| Additional paid-in capital   | 546,346          |    | 533,709              |
| Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income  | (3,407)          |    | 666                  |
| Accumulated deficit  | (188,634)        |    | (137,386)            |
| Total stockholders' equity   | 354,320          |    | 397,004              |
| Total liabilities and stockholders' equity   | \$<br>428,533    | \$ | 488,429              |

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) (unaudited)

|   |     | Three Months | End | ed June 30, | Six Months Ended June 30, |             |    |            |  |
|---|-----|--------------|-----|-------------|---------------------------|-------------|----|------------|--|
|   |     | 2022         |     | 2021        |                           | 2022        |    | 2021       |  |
| Net revenue   | \$  | 78,174       | \$  | 67,905      | \$                        | 140,937     | \$ | 117,542    |  |
| Cost of revenue   |     | 49,983       |     | 29,783      |                           | 80,143      |    | 53,594     |  |
| Gross profit  |     | 28,191       |     | 38,122      |                           | 60,794      |    | 63,948     |  |
| Operating expense:  |     |              |     |             |                           |             |    |            |  |
| Selling, general, and administrative expense  |     | 41,707       |     | 28,996      |                           | 80,462      |    | 52,532     |  |
| Marketing expense   |     | 15,813       |     | 13,295      |                           | 29,640      |    | 26,013     |  |
| Total operating expense   |     | 57,520       |     | 42,291      |                           | 110,102     |    | 78,545     |  |
| Loss from operations  |     | (29,329)     |     | (4,169)     |                           | (49,308)    |    | (14,597)   |  |
| Interest expense  |     | (35)         |     | (36)        |                           | (72)        |    | (87)       |  |
| Other income (expense)  |     | 338          |     | (3,289)     |                           | 238         |    | (5,980)    |  |
| Loss before provision for income taxes  |     | (29,026)     |     | (7,494)     |                           | (49,142)    |    | (20,664)   |  |
| Income tax provision  |     | (342)        |     | (112)       |                           | (2,105)     |    | (464)      |  |
| Net loss  | \$  | (29,368)     | \$  | (7,606)     | \$                        | (51,247)    | \$ | (21,128)   |  |
| Other comprehensive (loss) income:  |     |              |     |             |                           |             |    |            |  |
| Foreign currency translation (loss) gain  |     | (3,398)      |     | 1,601       |                           | (4,072)     |    | (330)      |  |
| Total comprehensive loss  | \$  | (32,766)     | \$  | (6,005)     | \$                        | (55,319)    | \$ | (21,458)   |  |
| Per share data:   |     |              |     |             |                           |             |    |            |  |
| Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted   | \$  | (0.20)       | \$  | (0.14)      | \$                        | (0.35)      | \$ | (0.39)     |  |
| Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted | === | 148,646,906  |     | 54,408,308  |                           | 148,088,555 |    | 54,152,022 |  |

 $See\ accompanying\ notes\ to\ condensed\ consolidated\ financial\ statements.$ 

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(in thousands, except share amounts) (unaudited)

|                                   | Class A Co | mmon Stock | Class B Co   | mmon | Stock | dditional<br>Paid-In |    | occumulated<br>Other<br>Other | Accumulated  | Sta     | Total<br>ockholders' | Convertible P | refe | rred Stock |
|-----------------------------------|------------|------------|--------------|------|-------|----------------------|----|-------------------------------|--------------|---------|----------------------|---------------|------|------------|
|                                   | Shares     | Amount     | Shares       | A    | mount | Capital              |    | Income                        | Deficit      | Deficit |                      | Shares        |      | Amount     |
| BALANCE - March 31,<br>2021       | _          | \$ -       | - 54,177,021 | \$   | 5     | \$<br>66,820         | \$ | 25                            | \$ (105,538) | \$      | (38,688)             | 70,990,919    | \$   | 204,049    |
| Exercise of stock options         | _          | _          | - 471,583    |      | _     | 1,212                |    | _                             | _            |         | 1,212                | _             |      | _          |
| Exercise of common stock warrants | _          | _          | - 245,468    |      | _     | 315                  |    | _                             | _            |         | 315                  |               |      |            |
| Stock-based compensation          | _          | _          |              |      | _     | 2,241                |    | _                             | _            |         | 2,241                | _             |      | _          |
| Comprehensive loss                | _          | _          | - —          |      | _     | _                    |    | 1,601                         | _            |         | 1,601                | _             |      | _          |
| Net loss                          | _          | _          | - —          |      | _     | _                    |    | _                             | (7,606)      |         | (7,606)              | _             |      | _          |
| BALANCE - June 30, 2021           | _          | \$ -       | - 54,894,072 | \$   | 5     | \$<br>70,588         | \$ | 1,626                         | \$ (113,144) | \$      | (40,925)             | 70,990,919    | \$   | 204,049    |

|   | Class A Cor | nmon Stock | Class B Con | nmon Stock | Additional<br>Paid-In | Accumulated<br>Other<br>Comprehensive | Assumulated  | Total<br>Stockholders' |        | e Preferred<br>ock                           |
|---|-------------|------------|-------------|------------|-----------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------|------------------------|--------|--|
|   | Shares      | Amount     | Shares      | Amount     | Capital               | Income (Loss)                         | Deficit      | Equity                 | Shares | Amount                                       |
| BALANCE - March 31, 2022  | 92,267,681  | \$ 9       | 56,155,776  | \$ 6       | \$ 539,578            | \$ (8)                                | \$ (159,265) | \$ 380,320             | _      | \$ —   |
| Exercise of stock options   | _           | _          | 266,902     | _          | 809                   | _                                     | _            | 809                    | _      | _  |
| Vesting of common stock warrants                                  | _           | _          | _           | _          | 249                   | _                                     | _            | 249                    | _      | _  |
| Vesting of restricted stock units                                 | 2,500       | _          | _           | _          | _                     | _                                     | _            | _                      | _      | _  |
| Issuance of common<br>stock under employee<br>stock purchase plan | 171,926     | _          | _           | _          | 823                   | _                                     | _            | 823                    | _      | _  |
| Conversion of Class B<br>shares into Class A<br>common stock      | 1,955,589   | _          | (1,955,589) | _          | _                     | _                                     | _            | _                      | _      | _  |
| Stock-based compensation  | _           | _          | _           | _          | 4,887                 | _                                     | _            | 4,887                  | _      | _  |
| Comprehensive loss  | _           | _          | _           | _          | _                     | (3,398)                               | _            | (3,398)                | _      | _  |
| Net loss  | _           | _          | _           | _          | _                     | _                                     | (29,368)     | (29,368)               | _      | _  |
| BALANCE - June 30,<br>2022  | 94,397,696  | \$ 9       | 54,467,089  | \$ 6       | \$ 546,346            | \$ (3,407)                            | \$ (188,634) | \$ 354,320             |        | <u>s                                    </u> |

 $See\ accompanying\ notes\ to\ condensed\ consolidated\ financial\ statements.$ 

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(in thousands, except share amounts) (unaudited)

|                                   | Class A Co | mmon Stoc | k Class B Co | mmon St | ock |         | ditional<br>aid-In |        | occumulated<br>Other<br>Other | <b>A</b> | cumulated | Sta     | Total<br>ockholders' | Convertible P | refe | rred Stock |
|-----------------------------------|------------|-----------|--------------|---------|-----|---------|--------------------|--------|-------------------------------|----------|-----------|---------|----------------------|---------------|------|------------|
|                                   | Shares     | Amount    | Shares       | Amo     | unt | Capital |                    | Income |                               | Deficit  |           | Deficit |                      | Shares        |      | Amount     |
| BALANCE - December 31, 2020       | _          | \$ -      | - 53,683,269 | \$      | 5   | \$      | 64,548             | \$     | 1,956                         | \$       | (92,016)  | \$      | (25,507)             | 70,990,919    | \$   | 204,049    |
| Exercise of stock options         | _          | -         | - 965,335    |         | _   |         | 1,799              |        | _                             |          | _         |         | 1,799                | _             |      | _          |
| Exercise of common stock warrants | _          | _         | - 245,468    |         | _   |         | 315                |        | _                             |          | _         |         | 315                  | _             |      | _          |
| Stock-based compensation          | _          | _         |              |         | _   |         | 3,926              |        | _                             |          | _         |         | 3,926                | _             |      | _          |
| Comprehensive loss                | _          | -         |              |         | _   |         | _                  |        | (330)                         |          | _         |         | (330)                | _             |      | _          |
| Net loss                          | _          | -         |              |         | _   |         | _                  |        | _                             |          | (21,128)  |         | (21,128)             | _             |      | _          |
| BALANCE - June 30, 2021           | _          | \$ -      | - 54,894,072 | \$      | 5   | \$      | 70,588             | \$     | 1,626                         | \$       | (113,144) | \$      | (40,925)             | 70,990,919    | \$   | 204,049    |

|   | Class A Con | nmon Stock | Class B Common Stock |        | Additional<br>Paid-In | Accumulated<br>Other           | A 1 - 4 - 4            | Total                   |        | e Preferred<br>ock |
|---|-------------|------------|----------------------|--------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|------------------------|-------------------------|--------|--------------------|
|   | Shares      | Amount     | Shares               | Amount | Paid-in<br>Capital    | Comprehensive<br>Income (Loss) | Accumulated<br>Deficit | Stockholders'<br>Equity | Shares | Amount             |
| BALANCE - December 31, 2021   | 49,016,511  | \$ 5       | 98,038,941           | \$ 10  | \$ 533,709            | \$ 666                         | \$ (137,386)           | \$ 397,004              |        | \$ —               |
| Exercise of stock options   | _           | _          | 1,612,240            |        | 2,263                 | _                              | _                      | 2,263                   | _      | _                  |
| Exercise of common<br>stock warrants, net of<br>shares withheld for<br>exercise | _           | _          | 21,967               | _      | _                     | _                              | _                      | _                       | _      | _                  |
| Vesting of common stock warrants  | _           | _          | _                    | _      | 843                   |                                |                        | 843                     | _      | _                  |
| Vesting of restricted stock units   | 2,500       | _          | _                    | _      | _                     | _                              | _                      | _                       | _      | _                  |
| Issuance of common<br>stock under employee<br>stock purchase plan               | 171,926     | _          | _                    | _      | 823                   | _                              | _                      | 823                     | _      | _                  |
| Conversion of Class B<br>shares into Class A<br>common stock                    | 45,206,759  | 4          | (45,206,059)         | (4)    | _                     | _                              | _                      | _                       | _      | _                  |
| Stock-based compensation  | _           | _          | _                    | _      | 8,708                 | _                              | _                      | 8,708                   | _      | _                  |
| Comprehensive loss  | _           | _          | _                    | _      | _                     | (4,072)                        | _                      | (4,072)                 | _      | _                  |
| Net loss  | _           | _          | _                    | _      | _                     | _                              | (51,247)               | (51,247)                | _      | _                  |
| BALANCE - June 30, 2022   | 94,397,696  | \$ 9       | 54,467,089           | \$ 6   | \$ 546,346            | \$ (3,407)                     | \$ (188,634)           | \$ 354,320              |        | <u>\$</u>          |

See accompanying notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (in thousands) (unaudited)

|  | Six Months Ended June 3 |          |  |
|--|-------------------------|----------|--|
|  | <br>2022                | 2021     |  |
| Cash flows from operating activities:  |                         |          |  |
| Net loss   | \$<br>(51,247) \$       | (21,128) |  |
| Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:            |                         |          |  |
| Depreciation and amortization  | 7,069                   | 4,120    |  |
| Amortization of debt issuance costs  | 25                      | 25       |  |
| Stock-based compensation   | 8,993                   | 3,926    |  |
| Inventory write-down   | 11,641                  | _        |  |
| Change in fair value of preferred stock warrant liability                              | _                       | 5,398    |  |
| Changes in assets and liabilities:   |                         |          |  |
| Accounts receivable  | 5,695                   | (83)     |  |
| Inventory  | (27,468)                | (13,847) |  |
| Prepaid expenses and other current assets  | (2,124)                 | (2,886)  |  |
| Other assets   | (3,839)                 | _        |  |
| Accounts payable and accrued expenses  | (18,010)                | (1,229)  |  |
| Other long-term liabilities  | 5,615                   | 2,920    |  |
| Deferred revenue   | <br>(982)               | 278      |  |
| Net cash used in operating activities  | <br>(64,632)            | (22,506) |  |
| Cash flows from investing activities:  |                         |          |  |
| Purchase of property and equipment   | (16,594)                | (11,290) |  |
| Changes in security deposits   | <br>(339)               | (638)    |  |
| Net cash used in investing activities  | <br>(16,933)            | (11,928) |  |
| Cash flows from financing activities:  |                         |          |  |
| Proceeds from the exercise of stock options  | 2,263                   | 1,799    |  |
| Proceeds from issuance of common stock under the employee stock purchase plan          | 823                     | _        |  |
| Proceeds from the exercise of common stock warrants                                    | _                       | 315      |  |
| Payments of deferred offering costs  | <br>(744)               | _        |  |
| Net cash provided by financing activities  | 2,342                   | 2,114    |  |
| Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash | <br>(1,429)             | (69)     |  |
| Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash                            | (80,652)                | (32,389) |  |
| Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash—beginning of period                        | 288,576                 | 127,251  |  |
| Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash—end of period                              | \$<br>207,924 \$        | 94,862   |  |
| Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:                                     |                         |          |  |
| Cash paid for interest   | \$<br>42 \$             | 60       |  |
| Cash paid for taxes  | \$<br>1,122 \$          | 261      |  |
| Noncash investing and financing activities:  |                         |          |  |
| Purchase of property and equipment included in accounts payable                        | \$<br>825 \$            | 1,721    |  |
| Non-cash exercise of common stock warrants   | \$<br>28 \$             | _        |  |
| Stock-based compensation included in capitalized internal-use software                 | \$<br>558 \$            | _        |  |
| Deferred offering costs included in accrued liabilities                                | \$<br>— \$              | 842      |  |

Table of Contents

#### ALLBIRDS, INC.

# CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (in thousands)

(unaudited)

|   | Six Months E  | nded J | une 30, |
|---|---------------|--------|---------|
|   | <br>2022      |        | 2021    |
| Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash:        |               |        |         |
| Cash and cash equivalents   | \$<br>207,294 | \$     | 94,862  |
| Restricted cash included in prepaid expenses and other current assets | 630           |        | _       |
| Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash                     | \$<br>207,924 | \$     | 94,862  |

 $See\ accompanying\ notes\ to\ condensed\ consolidated\ financial\ statements.$ 

#### 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Allbirds, Inc. ("Allbirds" and, together with its wholly owned subsidiaries, the "Company," "we," or "our") was incorporated in the state of Delaware on May 6, 2015. Allbirds is a global lifestyle brand that innovates with naturally derived materials to make better footwear and apparel products in a better way, while treading lighter on our planet. The majority of our revenue is from sales directly to consumers via our digital and store channels.

#### Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

In September 2021, we filed our Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, which established a dual class common stock structure and authorized a total of 2,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, 200,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, and 75,812,755 shares of convertible preferred stock. Upon the filing of the Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, 127,735,199 shares of our then-outstanding common stock were reclassified into an equivalent number of shares of Class B common stock, which includes our convertible preferred stock on an asconverted basis and warrants being exercised or exchanged in connection with our initial public offering ("IPO"), described below, on an as-exercised or as-exchanged basis, as applicable.

#### Initial Public Offering

On November 2, 2021, we priced our IPO and our Class A common stock began trading on The Nasdaq Global Select Market on November 3, 2021 under the symbol "BIRD." In connection with the closing of the IPO on November 5, 2021, 23,221,152 shares of our Class A common stock were issued and sold at a public offering price of \$15.00 per share, which consisted of 16,850,799 shares we offered and 6,370,353 shares offered by certain existing stockholders. We received aggregate proceeds of \$237.0 million from the IPO, net of the underwriting discounts and commissions of \$15.8 million and before offering costs of approximately \$5.4 million. We did not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares of our Class A common stock by the selling stockholders.

In November 2021, immediately prior to the closing of the IPO, all 70,990,919 shares of our convertible preferred stock then outstanding were converted into an equivalent number of shares of Class B common stock and we reclassified \$204.0 million of convertible preferred stock to additional paid-in capital. 1,104,560 shares of Class B common stock were automatically issued pursuant to the terms of outstanding convertible preferred stock warrants, and 714,965 shares of Class B common stock were issued upon the exercise by the holder of an outstanding Class B common stock warrant.

In connection with the closing of the IPO, we also filed our Ninth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, which authorized a total of 2,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, 200,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, and 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock.

#### 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Preparation—The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been presented in U.S. dollars and prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") for interim financial information and applicable rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") regarding interim financial information. Certain information and disclosures normally included in consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted. These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes contained in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on March 16, 2022 (the "Form 10-K").

In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited condensed interim financial statements include all adjustments, consisting of a normal recurring nature, which are necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position, operating results and cash flows for the periods presented. The condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021 has been derived from the audited financial statements at that date, but does not include all of the disclosures required by GAAP.

# NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited)

**Principles of Consolidation**—The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Allbirds, Inc. and our wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

*Use of Estimates*—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Impacts of the Coronavirus ("COVID-19") Pandemic

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus ("COVID-19") was reported, and during 2020 and 2021 expanded into a worldwide pandemic, leading to significant business and supply chain disruptions. The outbreak was declared a global pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 2020 and has caused governments and public health officials to impose restrictions and to recommend precautions to mitigate the spread of the virus.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, aspects of our business continued to be affected by COVID-19. During these periods, the vast majority of our retail stores around the world remained open. To date, we have not permanently closed any of our retail stores due to COVID-19. Our distribution centers and retail stores continue to operate with restrictive and precautionary measures in place, subject to national, state, and local rules and regulations. At times, our suppliers and logistical service providers have experienced disruptions that have affected our operations worldwide. Similar impacts or other disruptions could occur in the future.

Given the uncertainty regarding the length, severity, and ability to combat the COVID-19 pandemic, we cannot reasonably estimate the future impact on our results of operations, cash flows, or financial condition. These estimates may change as new events occur and additional information is obtained, and are recognized in the condensed consolidated financial statements as soon as they become known. We have been and will continue to actively monitor the impact of COVID-19 on the Company.

**Segments**—Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is available and that is regularly reviewed by our chief operating decision maker ("CODM"), in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance. Our CODMs are the co-Chief Executive Officers. We operate in one operating segment and one reportable segment, as the CODMs review financial information presented on an aggregate basis for purposes of making operating decisions, allocating resources, and evaluating financial performance.

Accounts Receivable—Accounts receivable results from sales to customers, including credit card deposits in transit at the balance sheet date, the majority of which are settled within two to three business days. Credit card receivables were \$2.2 million as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

During the fourth quarter of 2021, we made an accounting policy change to present customer accounts receivables that are not credit card receivables, within the accounts receivable line on the condensed consolidated balance sheet to align with management's reporting. These types of receivables were historically immaterial and are included in prepaid and other current assets within the condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying footnotes for periods presented prior to the fourth quarter of 2021.

*Inventory*—Inventory consists of finished goods, stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. We value our inventory using the weighted-average cost method and include product costs from our suppliers, freight, import duties and other landing costs.

We periodically review inventory and make provisions as necessary to appropriately value end of life, slow-moving, damaged, and excess inventory. To determine if the value of inventory requires a write-down, we estimate the net realizable value of inventory by considering current and anticipated demand, customer preferences and buying trends, and the age of the merchandise. Inventory write-downs are recognized in cost of revenue in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. In addition to this ongoing provision process, during the three months ended June 30, 2022, we recorded a specific reserve to write-down approximately

\$9.8 million of inventory primarily related to certain first-generation apparel products, as a result of a change in apparel strategy, demand for these products, and age of merchandise.

**Revenue Recognition**—For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, we recognized \$1.0 million and \$2.1 million, respectively, of revenue that was deferred as of December 31, 2021, and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, we recognized \$1.1 million and \$1.8 million, respectively, of revenue that was deferred as of December 31, 2020. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we had \$0.2 million and \$0.7 million, respectively, in cash collections of purchases via our digital channel which had not yet shipped, and \$3.1 million and \$3.5 million, respectively, in gift card liabilities included in deferred revenue in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The deferred revenue balance of \$3.2 million at June 30, 2022 is expected to be recognized over the next 12 months.

We record a reserve for estimated product returns, based upon historical return trends, in each reporting period against revenue, as a component of net revenue, with an offsetting increase to accrued expenses. We recorded a sales refund reserve of \$3.5 million and \$5.5 million as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. We have also recorded a related inventory returns receivable, with an offsetting decrease to cost of revenue, for product returns of \$0.8 million and \$1.4 million as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. The inventory returns receivable is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.

We recognized the following net revenue by geographic area based on the primary shipping address of the customer where the sale was made in our digital channel, and based on the physical store location where the sale was at a retail store. The following table disaggregates our net revenue by geographic area, where no individual foreign country contributed in excess of 10% of net revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:

|                   | Three Months Ended June 30, |        |    |        |    | Six Months E | ed June 30, |         |  |
|-------------------|-----------------------------|--------|----|--------|----|--------------|-------------|---------|--|
| (in thousands)    | 2                           | 022    |    | 2021   |    | 2022         |             | 2021    |  |
| United States     | \$                          | 59,251 | \$ | 48,848 | \$ | 108,195      | \$          | 85,105  |  |
| International     |                             | 18,923 |    | 19,057 |    | 32,742       |             | 32,437  |  |
| Total net revenue | \$                          | 78,174 | \$ | 67,905 | \$ | 140,937      | \$          | 117,542 |  |

Comprehensive (Loss) Income—Comprehensive (loss) income represents net loss for the period plus the results of certain other changes in stockholders' equity. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, we recorded other comprehensive loss of \$3.4 million and \$4.1 million, respectively, and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, we recorded other comprehensive income of \$1.6 million and other comprehensive loss of \$0.3 million, respectively, as a result of foreign currency translation adjustments, particularly changes in the Chinese yuan, British pound, Japanese yen, euro, Korean won, Vietnamese dong, and Canadian dollar.

**Restricted Cash**—Restricted cash serves as collateral for a bond with the United States Customs and Border Protection ("CBP"), which allows us to take possession of our inventory before all formalities with the CBP are completed for imported products. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we had \$0.6 million and \$0.0 million of restricted cash, respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions—Adjustments resulting from translating foreign functional currency financial statements of our global subsidiaries into U.S. dollars are included in the foreign currency translation adjustment in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The remeasurement of our global subsidiaries' assets and liabilities, which are denominated in a foreign currency, are recorded in other income (expense), within the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Fair Value Measurements—Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 820, Fair Value Measurements, defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value under GAAP, and enhances disclosures about fair value measurements. It clarifies that fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be

determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering such assumptions, ASC 820 establishes a three-tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

- Level 1—Observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets
- Level 2—Inputs other than the quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly or indirectly
- Level 3—Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which requires us to develop our own assumptions.

This hierarchy requires us to use observable market data, when available, and to minimize the use of unobservable inputs when determining fair value. Refer to Note 8, Fair Value Measurements, for further details.

**Recent Accounting Pronouncements**—As an "emerging growth company," the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or the JOBS Act, allows us to delay adoption of new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public companies until such pronouncements are made applicable to private companies. For certain pronouncements, we have elected to use the adoption dates applicable to private companies. As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to the financial statements of issuers who are required to comply with the effective date for new or revised accounting standards that are applicable to public companies.

#### Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2019, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2019-12, *Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes* ("ASU 2019-12"), which is intended to simplify various aspects related to accounting for income taxes. ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and also clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application. ASU 2019-12 is effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted. We adopted this update as of January 1, 2022, and noted no effect on the condensed consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In October 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2020-10, *Codification Improvements*, which updated various codification topics by clarifying or improving disclosure requirements to align with the SEC's regulations. We adopted this update as of January 1, 2022, and noted no effect on the condensed consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

#### Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2016-02, *Leases (Topic 842)* ("ASU 2016-02"), which requires recognition of lease assets and lease liabilities in the balance sheet by the lessees for lease contracts with a lease term of more than 12 months. ASU 2016-02 can be applied on a modified retrospective basis, in which entities can present all prior periods under previous lease accounting guidance while recognizing the cumulative effect of applying the new standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the year of adoption. In June 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2020-05, Effective Dates for Certain Entities, which deferred the effective date for nonpublic entities, including emerging growth companies, that had not yet adopted ASU 2016-02. Under the amended guidance, the leasing standard will be effective for our fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted. We intend to adopt the standards and related disclosures for our fiscal year ending December 31, 2022, and interim periods within our fiscal year ending December 31, 2023. While we continue to finalize the financial impact of adoption, we expect to record a material right-of-use asset and liability on the consolidated balance sheet related to our operating leases and do not expect a material impact on our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

In June 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2016-13, Credit Losses (Topic 326) - Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments ("ASU 2016-13"). ASU 2016-13 requires entities to use a forward-looking approach based on current expected credit losses to estimate credit losses on certain types of

financial instruments, including trade and account receivables, which may result in the earlier recognition of allowance for losses. In November 2019, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2019-10, which deferred the effective date for nonpublic entities, including emerging growth companies, that had not yet adopted ASU 2016-13. Under the amended guidance, the standard will be effective for our fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, and interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The adoption of ASU 2016-13 is not expected to have a material impact on our condensed consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

#### 3. INVENTORY

Inventory consisted of the following as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

| (in thousands)  | June 30,<br>2022 | December 31,<br>2021 |
|---|------------------|----------------------|
| Finished goods  | \$<br>133,869    | \$<br>108,585        |
| Reserve to reduce inventories to net realizable value | (11,572)         | (1,709)              |
| Total inventory                                       | \$<br>122,297    | \$<br>106,876        |

#### 4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT - NET

Property and equipment consisted of the following as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

| (in thousands)                                  | June 30,<br>2022 | December 31,<br>2021 |
|---|------------------|----------------------|
| Leasehold improvements                          | \$<br>34,198     | \$<br>27,137         |
| Furniture and fixtures                          | 19,835           | 15,276               |
| Internal-use software                           | 18,717           | 14,453               |
| Machinery and equipment                         | 879              | 780                  |
| Computers and equipment                         | <br>1,523        | 1,236                |
| Total property and equipment - gross            | 75,152           | 58,882               |
| Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization | <br>(27,292)     | (20,927)             |
| Total property and equipment - net              | \$<br>47,860     | \$<br>37,955         |

Depreciation and amortization expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 was \$3.7 million and \$7.1 million, respectively, and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 was \$2.5 million and \$4.3 million, respectively, recognized in selling, general, and administrative expense in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. There were no assets disposed of in the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and \$0.0 and \$0.2 million assets were disposed of for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, unamortized capitalized internal-use software costs were \$13.4 million and \$10.6 million, respectively.

#### Geographic Information

The following table summarizes our long-lived assets by geographic area, which consist of property and equipment, net. No individual foreign country represented in excess of 10% of total long-lived assets balance as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

| (in thousands)          | June 30,<br>2022 | December 31,<br>2021 |
|-------------------------|------------------|----------------------|
| United States           | \$<br>43,588     | \$<br>33,384         |
| International           | 4,272            | 4,571                |
| Total long-lived assets | \$<br>47,860     | \$<br>37,955         |

As of June 30, 2022, the vast majority of our retail stores around the world remained open. To date, we have not permanently closed any of our retail stores due to COVID-19. Temporary closures of stores as a result of COVID-19 were considered to be a qualitative indicator of impairment and we performed an assessment of recoverability by asset group for long-lived assets. As a result of the analysis, no impairment charge was considered necessary.

#### 5. PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

| (in thousands)                                  | June 30,<br>2022 | December 31,<br>2021 |
|---|------------------|----------------------|
| Prepaid expenses                                | \$<br>8,219      | \$<br>7,865          |
| Inventory returns receivable                    | 835              | 1,351                |
| Security deposits                               | 859              | 1,106                |
| Tax receivable                                  | 20,723           | 22,594               |
| Other receivables                               | 4,657            | 5,022                |
| Restricted cash                                 | 630              | _                    |
| Total prepaid expenses and other current assets | \$<br>35,923     | \$<br>37,938         |

Based on current facts and circumstances, we believe that the receipt of a refund associated with a tax loss carryback will extend past 12 months. Therefore, we have reclassified \$3.8 million of tax receivable from prepaid expenses and other current assets, where it was recorded in periods prior to June 30, 2022, to other assets on the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2022,

#### 6. OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consisted of the following as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

| (in thousands)                  | June 30,<br>2022 |                 | December 31,<br>2021 |
|---------------------------------|------------------|-----------------|----------------------|
| Investment in equity securities | \$ 2,25          | <del>0</del> \$ | 2,250                |
| Tax receivable                  | 3,83             | 9               | _                    |
| Security deposits               | 3,40             | 8               | 3,025                |
| Intangible assets               | 37               | 8               | 622                  |
| Debt issuance costs             | 8                | 2               | 107                  |
| Deferred tax assets             | 10               | 2               | 102                  |
| Total other assets              | \$ 10,05         | 9 \$            | 6,106                |

#### Investment in Equity Securities

On November 20, 2020, we entered into an agreement to make a minority equity investment of \$2 million in Natural Fiber Welding, Inc. ("NFW") in exchange for 201,207 shares of Series A-3 Preferred Stock. Our investment is carried at cost, less any impairment, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for an identical or similar investment of the same issuer. Throughout the year, we assess whether impairment indicators exist to trigger the performance of an impairment analysis. There were no impairment charges or observable price changes for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.

On November 22, 2021, we made a \$0.3 million investment in NoHo ESG, Inc. ("NoHo ESG") via a simple agreement for future equity ("SAFE"). The SAFE provides that we will automatically receive shares of the entity based on the conversion rate of future equity rounds up to a valuation cap. If there is a liquidity event, such as a change in control or initial public offering, we will have the option of receiving a cash payment equal to the purchase amount or receiving a number of shares of common stock based on the purchase amount divided by the

liquidity price, assuming we fail to select the cash option. Our investment is carried at cost, less any impairment, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions for an identical or similar investment of the same issuer. Throughout the year, we assess whether impairment indicators exist to trigger the performance of an impairment analysis. There were no impairment charges or observable price changes for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.

#### Definite-lived Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include intellectual property purchased from West Harbor Technologies, LLC for \$1.3 million, including transaction costs of \$0.1 million, in January 2020. The intangible asset has an estimated useful life of 3 years, and we recorded amortization charges of \$0.1 million and \$0.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, and \$0.1 million and \$0.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively, which are recognized as selling, general, and administrative expense in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

#### 7. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses consisted of the following as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:

| (in thousands)                                       | J  | une 30,<br>2022 | December 31,<br>2021 |
|--|----|-----------------|----------------------|
| Sales-refund reserve                                 | \$ | 3,521           | \$<br>5,452          |
| Taxes payable  |    | 19,990          | 17,930               |
| Employee-related liabilities                         |    | 3,614           | 5,021                |
| Accrued expenses                                     |    | 13,037          | 17,840               |
| Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities | \$ | 40,162          | \$<br>46,243         |

#### 8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We record cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued expenses at cost. The carrying values of these instruments approximate their fair value due to their short-term maturities. Refer to Note 2, Significant Accounting Policies, for additional detail regarding our fair value measurement methodology.

#### Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Warrant Liability—The fair value of our preferred stock warrant liability was based on significant unobservable inputs, which represent Level 3 measurements within the fair value hierarchy. In determining the fair value of the convertible preferred stock warrant liability, we used the probability weighted average values from (i) a Black-Scholes calculation and (ii) an option pricing model. We measure and report our preferred stock warrant liability at the estimated fair value on a recurring basis. As discussed further in Note 11, Warrants, the preferred stock warrant liability was estimated using assumptions related to the remaining contractual term of the warrants, the risk-free interest rate and volatility of comparable public companies over the remaining term, and the fair value of underlying shares. The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement of the preferred stock warrant liability were the fair value of the underlying stock at the valuation date and the estimated term of the warrants. The value from the Black-Scholes calculation reflects the value in an initial public offering at the applicable valuation date. The value from the option pricing model reflects the value in an alternative exit scenario at which point the warrants were expected to be exercised. Generally, increases or decreases in the fair value of the underlying stock and estimated term would result in a directionally similar impact to the fair value measurement.

In November 2021, immediately prior to the completion of the IPO and pursuant to the terms of the convertible preferred stock warrants, there was an automatic exchange of the outstanding convertible preferred stock warrants for shares of Class B common stock on a one-to-one basis. As a result, the final remeasurement date of the preferred stock warrant liability was on November 3, 2021, and the preferred stock warrant liability was reclassified to

additional paid-in capital. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, there was no preferred stock warrant liability remaining on our condensed consolidated balance sheets; therefore, there was no impact to other income (expense) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.

The following tables present a summary of the changes in fair value of our Level 3 liabilities for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, included within other income (expense) in our condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss:

| (in thousands)  | Warrants     |
|---|--------------|
| Balance at March 31, 2021                                 | \$<br>8,275  |
| Increase in fair value included in other income (expense) | <br>2,968    |
| Balance at June 30, 2021                                  | \$<br>11,243 |
|   |              |
| (in thousands)  | Warrants     |
| Balance at December 31, 2020                              | \$<br>5,845  |
| Increase in fair value included in other income (expense) | <br>5,398    |
| Balance at June 30, 2021                                  | \$<br>11,243 |
|   |              |

#### Items Measured at Fair Value on a Non-Recurring Basis

Equity Investments—Our equity investments in NFW and Noho ESG represent non-marketable equity securities in privately held companies that do not have a readily determinable fair value and are accounted for under the measurement alternative in ASC 321. The investments are accounted for at cost and adjusted based on observable price changes from orderly transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer or impairment. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, there were no observable price changes or impairments. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the carrying value of our investments was \$2.3 million.

#### 9. LONG-TERM DEBT

On February 20, 2019, we entered into a credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (the "Credit Agreement"). The Credit Agreement is an asset-based loan with a revolving line of credit of up to \$40.0 million and an optional accordion, which, if exercised, would allow us to increase the aggregate commitment by up to \$35.0 million, subject to obtaining additional lender commitments and satisfying certain conditions. Pursuant to the terms of the revolving credit facility, we may reduce the total amount available for borrowing under such facility, subject to certain conditions. The Credit Agreement has a maturity date of February 20, 2024.

Borrowings under our revolving credit facility use the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") as a reference rate. Interest on borrowings under the revolving credit facility accrues at a variable rate equal to (i) the one-month LIBOR (adjusted LIBOR Rate for a one month interest period on a given day) plus 2.50%, plus (ii) a specified spread of 1.25% or 1.5% dependent on the average quarterly loan balance, calculated on the last day of each fiscal quarter being less than \$32.0 million or greater than or equal to \$32.0 million, respectively. The commitment fee under the Credit Agreement is 0.20% per annum on the average daily unused portion of each lender's commitment. In addition, we are required to pay a fronting fee of 0.125% per annum on the average daily aggregate face amount of issued and outstanding letters of credit. Interest, commitment fees and fronting fees are payable monthly, in arrears.

In July 2017, the United Kingdom's Financial Conduct Authority announced its intention to stop compelling banks to submit LIBOR rates after 2021. While the potential impacts of these actions cannot be fully predicted and may result in additional exposure to interest rate risk, our borrowings under the revolving credit facility use the one-month LIBOR as a reference rate, which would not be affected until after June 30, 2023.

The Credit Agreement contains customary events of default and financial covenants. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with these covenants.

As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, there were no amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement.

#### 10. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we were authorized to issue 2,220,000,000 shares of capital stock, comprised of 2,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, 200,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, and 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock. Each class had a par value of \$0.0001.

#### Preferred Stock

In November 2021, immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, all 70,990,919 shares of convertible preferred stock converted into an equivalent number of shares of Class B common stock, and we reclassified \$204.0 million of convertible preferred stock to additional paid-in capital. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, there were no shares of convertible preferred stock issued and outstanding.

#### Common Stock

As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we had two classes of common stock: Class A common stock and Class B common stock. Each class had a par value of \$0.0001.

In September 2021, prior to the completion of the IPO, we filed our Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and implemented a dual class common stock structure where all existing shares of common stock were reclassified into Class B common stock on a one-to-one basis and we also authorized a new class of common stock, the Class A common stock. Authorized capital stock was 2,275,812,755 shares, of which 2,000,000,000 shares was Class A common stock, 200,000,000 shares was Class B common stock, and 75,812,755 shares was preferred stock. The common stock and the preferred stock each had a par value of \$0.0001 per share.

Voting—Holders of Class A common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted upon by the stockholders, and holders of Class B common stock are entitled to 10 votes per share on all matters to be voted upon by the stockholders. The holders of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock generally vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders, unless otherwise required by Delaware law or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. Delaware law could require either holders of our Class A common stock or Class B common stock to vote separately as a single class in the following circumstances: (i) if we were to seek to amend our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to increase or decrease the number of authorized shares of a class of our capital stock, then that class would be required to vote separately to approve the proposed amendment; (ii) if we were to seek to amend our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to increase or decrease the par value of a class of our capital stock, then that class would be required to vote separately to approve the proposed amendment; and (iii) if we were to seek to amend our amended and restated certificate of incorporation in a manner that alters or changes the powers, preferences or special rights of a class of our capital stock in a manner that affected its holders adversely, then that class would be required to vote separately to approve the proposed amendment. As a result, in these limited instances, the holders of a majority of the Class A common stock could defeat an amendment to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting for the election of directors.

**Dividends**—Holders of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are entitled to ratably receive dividends if, as and when declared from time to time by our board of directors at its own discretion out of funds legally available for that purpose, after payment of dividends required to be paid on outstanding preferred stock, if any. Under Delaware law, we can only pay dividends either out of "surplus" or out of the current or the immediately preceding year's net profits. Surplus is defined as the excess, if any, at any given time, of the total assets of a corporation over its total liabilities and statutory capital. The value of a corporation's assets can be measured in a number of ways and may not necessarily equal their book value.

**Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions**—Upon our dissolution, liquidation or winding-up, the assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders are distributable ratably among the holders of our Class A common

stock and Class B common stock, subject to prior satisfaction of all outstanding debt and liabilities and the preferential rights and payment of liquidation preferences, if any, on any outstanding shares of preferred stock.

Conversion—Each share of our Class B common stock is convertible at any time at the option of the holder into one share of our Class A common stock. Each share of our Class B common stock will convert automatically into one share of our Class A common stock upon any transfer, whether or not for value, except for (i) certain permitted transfers to entities, to the extent the transferor retains sole dispositive power and exclusive voting control with respect to the shares of Class B common stock, and (ii) certain other permitted transfers described in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. In addition, if held by a natural person (including a natural person serving in a sole trustee capacity), each share of our Class B common stock will convert automatically into one share of our Class A common stock upon the death or incapacity of such natural person as described in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. All outstanding shares of our Class B common stock will convert automatically into an equivalent number of shares of our Class A common stock upon the final conversion date, defined as the later of (a) the last trading day of the fiscal quarter immediately following the tenth anniversary of September 21, 2021 and (b) the date fixed by our board of directors that is no less than 61 days and no more than 180 days following the date on which the outstanding shares of Class B common stock first represent less than 10% of the aggregate number of the then outstanding shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock (except if the final conversion date determined according to (a) or (b) would otherwise occur on or after the record date of any meeting of stockholders and before or at the time the vote at such meeting is taken, then the final conversion date shall instead be the last trading day of the fiscal quarter during which such vote was taken).

**Other Matters**—The Class A common stock and Class B common stock have no preemptive rights pursuant to the terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the Class A common stock and Class B common stock. All outstanding shares of our Class A common stock are fully paid and non-assessable.

Shares of common stock reserved for future issuance as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 consist of the following:

|   | June 30,<br>2022 | December 31,<br>2021 |
|---|------------------|----------------------|
| Shares reserved for convertible preferred stock outstanding |                  | _                    |
| 2015 Equity Incentive Plan:                                 |                  |                      |
| Options issued and outstanding                              | 13,684,092       | 16,181,331           |
| Shares available for future option grants                   | _                | _                    |
| 2021 Equity Incentive Plan:                                 |                  |                      |
| Options issued and outstanding                              | 2,350,756        | 189,342              |
| Restricted stock units outstanding                          | 5,977,505        | 160,227              |
| Shares available for future grants                          | 13,186,859       | 14,306,487           |
| 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan:                          |                  |                      |
| Shares available for future grants                          | 4,230,831        | 2,932,232            |
| Total shares of common stock reserved for future issuance   | 39,430,043       | 33,769,619           |

Our board of directors may, without further action by our stockholders, fix the rights, preferences, privileges, and restrictions of up to an aggregate of 20,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more series and authorize their issuance. The voting, dividend, and liquidation rights of the holders of common stock are subject to and qualified by the rights, powers, and preferences of the holders of preferred stock. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, there were no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding.

#### 11. WARRANTS

**Preferred Stock Warrants** 

In connection with a 2015 agreement with Venture Lending and Leasing VII and Venture Lending and Leasing VIII (the "VLL Agreement"), we issued warrants to purchase 1,104,560 shares of our Preferred Stock at an exercise price of \$0.10 that would have expired on September 30, 2026 with an initial fair value of \$0.8 million. The preferred stock warrants contained a down round and anti-dilution adjustment provision on the exercise price. We would have recognized, on a prospective basis, the value of the effect of the down round feature in the warrant when it was triggered (i.e., when the exercise price is adjusted downward). This value is measured as the difference between (1) the financial instrument's fair value (without the down round feature) using the pre-trigger exercise price and (2) the financial instrument's fair value (with the down round feature) using the reduced exercise price. The value of the effect of the down round feature would have been reflected in the change in fair value of the warrant liability. The preferred stock warrants could have been exercised in whole or in part at any time and included a cashless exercise option which would have allowed the holder to receive fewer shares of stock in exchange for the warrants rather than paying cash to exercise. The preferred stock warrants could have been exercised for either Series Seed Preferred Stock or Series A Preferred Stock. In November 2021, immediately prior to the completion of the IPO and per the terms of the preferred stock warrant agreement, the convertible preferred stock warrants then outstanding were automatically exchanged for 1,104,560 shares of Class B common stock on a one-to-one basis and we reclassified the preferred stock warrant liability to additional paid-in capital upon the conversion. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, no preferred stock warrants were outstanding.

The preferred stock warrants were classified as a liability and initially recorded at fair value upon entering the VLL Agreement. The value of our Preferred Stock warrants were estimated using the probability weighted-average values from (i) a Black-Scholes calculation and (ii) an option pricing model. It was subsequently remeasured to fair value at each reporting date and the changes in the fair value of the warrant liability were recognized in other income (expense) in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we had no preferred stock warrant liability recorded on our condensed consolidated balance sheets.

#### Common Stock Warrants

Through 2019, we issued warrants to purchase common stock to various third parties. We determined the fair value of these warrants using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The following tables are summaries of the terms of the warrants and warrant activity as well as warrants outstanding at June 30, 2022:

| Date of issuance                                    | Octo | ober 2015/ March<br>2016 |    | October 2016                | Jul | ly 2018 - Allotment 1 | Ju | ly 2018 - Allotment 2 |
|---|------|--------------------------|----|-----------------------------|-----|-----------------------|----|-----------------------|
| Number of warrants                                  |      | 2,103,930                |    | 157,580                     |     | 122,735               |    | 184,100               |
| Exercise Price                                      | \$   | 0.10                     | \$ | 0.07                        | \$  | 1.28                  | \$ | 1.28                  |
| Status  |      | Vested                   |    | Vested                      |     | Vested                |    | Vested                |
| Expiration  |      | October 2024             |    | October 2026                |     | July 2028             |    | July 2028             |
| Date of issuance                                    |      |                          | o  | October 2015/ March<br>2016 |     | October 2016          |    | July 2018             |
| Outstanding at December 31, 2020                    |      |                          |    | 717,225                     |     | 157,580               |    | 306,835               |
| Exercised during the six months ended June 30, 2021 |      |                          |    |                             |     |                       |    | 245,568               |
| Outstanding at June 30, 2021                        |      |                          |    | 717,225                     |     | 157,580               |    | 61,267                |
| Outstanding at December 31, 2021                    |      |                          |    | _                           |     | _                     |    | 30,684                |
| Exercised during the six months ended June 30, 2022 |      |                          |    | _                           |     | _                     |    | 25,570                |
| Outstanding at June 30, 2022                        |      |                          | =  | _                           |     | _                     | _  | 5,114                 |
| Fair value at June 30, 2022 (in thousands)          |      |                          | \$ | _                           | \$  | _                     | \$ | 3                     |

2018 Common Stock Warrants—In July 2018, as part of an agreement with West Investments V, LLC for various marketing services, we issued 122,735 warrants to purchase common stock to a third party with an exercise price of \$1.28. Fifty percent of the warrants vested immediately upon issuance and the remainder of the warrants vest ratably over 24 months. An additional 184,100 warrants to purchase common stock were also issued in July 2018 to the same third-party with an exercise price of \$1.28, and vested ratably over 36 months beginning in 2019 when services were first rendered. In accordance with the agreement, expenses are recognized in the period services are received. We recorded \$0.2 million and \$1.0 million in common stock warrant expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, and \$0.5 million and \$0.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively.

#### 12. STOCK TRANSACTIONS

On September 5, 2018, we received a promissory note from an employee in consideration for the early exercise of 825,000 shares of common stock options. In June 2020, the employee resigned from the company and the promissory note was amended and restated to reflect the loan amount related to the vested shares, and the cancellation of indebtedness and our repurchase of the employee's unvested shares. The promissory note is secured by the underlying shares of common stock and bears interest at the lesser of 2.86% per annum or the maximum rate permissible by law (which under the laws of the State of California shall be deemed to be the laws relating to permissible rates of interest on commercial loans).

On November 19, 2018, we received a promissory note from an employee in consideration for the early exercise of 220,000 shares of common stock options. The promissory note is secured by the underlying shares of common stock and bears interest at 2.86% per annum.

Since the notes are limited recourse notes, the note receivables are not reflected in our condensed consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

#### 13. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

#### 2015 Equity Incentive Plan

In 2015, we adopted the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2015 Plan") that authorized the granting of options for shares of common stock. Our 2015 Plan provided for the grant of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit ("RSU") awards, and other stock awards. The 2015 Plan was terminated in connection with the adoption of the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2021 Plan") in November 2021 in connection with the IPO, and we will not grant any additional awards under the 2015 Plan. However, the 2015 Plan will continue to govern the terms and conditions of the outstanding awards previously granted thereunder.

#### 2021 Equity Incentive Plan

In September 2021, our board of directors adopted, and our stockholders approved, the 2021 Plan, which became effective in connection with the IPO in November 2021. The 2021 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, RSU awards, performance awards, and other forms of equity compensation. A total of 21,062,853 shares of our Class A common stock have been reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan. In addition, the number of shares of our Class A common stock reserved for issuance under the 2021 Plan will automatically increase on January 1 of each year for a period of 10 years, beginning on January 1, 2022 and continuing through (and including) January 1, 2031, in an amount equal to 4% of the total number of share of our common stock (both Class A and Class B) outstanding on December 31 of the immediately preceding year, except that, before the date of any such increase, our board of directors may determine that the increase for such year will be the lesser number of shares. Additionally, to the extent that any stock options outstanding under the 2015 Plan expire, terminate prior to exercise, are not issued because the award is settled in cash, are forfeited because of the failure to vest, or are reacquired or withheld (or not issued) to satisfy a tax withholding obligation or the purchase or exercise price, if any, the shares of Class B common stock reserved for issuance pursuant to such equity awards will become available for issuance as shares of

Class A common stock under the 2021 Plan. The maximum number of shares of our Class A common stock that may be issued on the exercise of incentive stock options under the 2021 Plan will be 100,000,000 shares.

#### 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In September 2021, our board of directors adopted, and our stockholders approved, the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "2021 ESPP"), which became effective in connection with the IPO in November 2021. The 2021 ESPP authorizes the issuance of shares of Class A common stock pursuant to purchase rights granted to employees. A total of 4,402,757 shares of our Class A common stock have been reserved for issuance under the 2021 ESPP. The number of shares of our Class A common stock reserved for issuance will automatically increase on January 1 of each year for a period of 10 years, beginning on January 1, 2022 and continuing through (and including) January 1, 2031, by the lesser of (1) 1% of the total number of shares of our common stock (both Class A and Class B) outstanding on December 31 of the immediately preceding year and (2) 2,850,000 shares, except that, before the date of any such increase, our board of directors may determine that such increase will be less than the amount set forth in clauses (1) and (2). The price at which Class A common stock is purchased under the 2021 ESPP is equal to 85% of the fair market value of a share of our Class A common stock on the first day of the offering period, or the date of purchase, whichever is lower. Offering periods are six months long and begin on November 3 and May 3 of each year. The initial offering period began on November 3, 2021 and ended on May 2, 2022. The second offering period began on May 3, 2022 and will end on November 2, 2022.

#### Stock Options

A summary of the status of the 2015 Plan and 2021 Plan as of December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2022, and changes during the six month period ended June 30, 2022, is presented below:

|   | Options Outstanding |    |                                    |   |    |  |  |
|---|---------------------|----|------------------------------------|---|----|--|--|
|   | Number of Options   |    | Weighted-Average<br>Exercise Price | Weighted-Average<br>Remaining Contractual<br>Term<br>(in years) |    | Aggregate Intrinsic<br>Value<br>(in thousands) |  |
| Outstanding at December 31, 2021        | 16,370,673          | \$ | 4.23                               | 7.70  | \$ | 177,593  |  |
| Granted                                 | 2,202,251           |    | 4.64                               |   |    |  |  |
| Exercised                               | (1,612,940)         |    | 1.40                               |   |    | 9,255  |  |
| Forfeited                               | (810,779)           |    | 5.48                               |   |    |  |  |
| Cancelled                               | (114,357)           |    | 4.38                               |   |    |  |  |
| Outstanding at June 30, 2022            | 16,034,848          |    | 3.75                               | 7.04  |    | 10,578   |  |
| Vested and exercisable at June 30, 2022 | 8,152,130           |    | 3.04                               | 5.48  |    | 10,564   |  |
| Unvested at June 30, 2022               | 7,882,718           | \$ | 4.49                               | 7.97  | \$ | 14   |  |

The weighted-average fair value of options granted during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 was \$2.26 and \$2.73 per share, respectively, and \$4.12 and \$3.69 for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively. We calculated the fair value of each option using an expected volatility over the expected life of the option, which was estimated using the average volatility of comparable publicly traded companies. The expected life of options granted is based on the simplified method to estimate the expected life of the stock options, giving consideration to the contractual terms and vesting schedules. The following weighted average assumptions were used for issuances during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, for employees:

|                            | Three Months Ended | June 30, | Six Months Ended June 30, |         |  |  |
|----------------------------|--------------------|----------|---------------------------|---------|--|--|
|                            | 2022               | 2021     | 2022                      | 2021    |  |  |
| Risk-free interest rate    | <br>2.90 %         | 1.08 %   | 2.78 %                    | 1.01 %  |  |  |
| Dividend yield             | _                  | _        | _                         | _       |  |  |
| Volatility                 | 47.49 %            | 51.50 %  | 47.44 %                   | 51.70 % |  |  |
| Expected lives (years)     | 5.88               | 6.05     | 5.91                      | 6.01    |  |  |
| Fair value of common stock | \$<br>4.68 \$      | 4.12 \$  | 4.64 \$                   | 3.44    |  |  |

Option Repricing—In May 2022, the compensation and leadership management committee of our board of directors approved a repricing of certain stock options held by employees (the "Repricing"), whereby certain previously granted and still outstanding vested and unvested stock options were repriced on a one-for-one basis to \$4.39 per share, which represented the closing market price of our Class A common stock on May 20, 2022 (the "Repricing Date"). No other terms of the repriced stock options were modified, and the repriced stock options will continue to vest according to their original vesting schedules and will retain their original expiration dates. As a result of the Repricing, vested and unvested stock options outstanding as of the Repricing Date, with original exercise prices ranging from \$4.70 to \$14.45, were repriced. The repricing resulted in one-time incremental stock-based compensation expense of \$1.6 million, of which \$0.1 million was related to vested stock options and was recognized on the Repricing Date, and \$1.5 million was related to unvested stock options, which will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the remaining requisite service period of the repriced stock options.

#### 2021 ESPP

The following table summarizes the weighted-average assumptions used in estimating the fair value of the 2021 ESPP grants for the offering period beginning on November 3, 2021 and ending on May 2, 2022, and the offering period beginning on May 3, 2022 and ending on November 2, 2022, using the Black Scholes option-pricing model:

|                            | Offering Period -<br>November 3, 2021 to May<br>2, 2022 | Offering Period - May 3,<br>2022 to November 2, 2022 |
|----------------------------|---|--|
| Risk-free interest rate    | 1.63 %  | 2.97 %   |
| Dividend yield             | <del>-</del>  | _  |
| Volatility                 | 63.00 %   | 47.15 %  |
| Expected lives (years)     | 0.6   | 0.5  |
| Fair value of common stock | \$ 21.04  | \$ 5.46  |

#### **RSUs**

After completion of the IPO in November 2021, we began granting RSUs to certain employees. The RSUs granted have service-based vesting conditions. The service-based vesting condition for awards to new employees is typically satisfied over four years, with a cliff vesting period of one year and continued vesting quarterly thereafter. The service-based vesting condition for refresh grants of RSUs to existing employees is typically satisfied over three years with vesting occurring quarterly, subject to the employees' continued service to us. RSUs and the related stock-based compensation are recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

RSU activity during the six months ended June 30, 2022 was as follows:

|                               | Number of Shares | Weighted-Average<br>Grant Date Fair Value<br>per Share |
|-------------------------------|------------------|--|
| Unvested at December 31, 2021 | 160,227          | \$ 22.33   |
| Granted                       | 5,908,793        | 4.76   |
| Vested                        | (2,500)          | 4.39   |
| Forfeited                     | (89,015)         | 9.16   |
| Cancelled                     | _                | _  |
| Unvested at June 30, 2022     | 5,977,505        | \$ 5.17  |

Market-Based Awards—In May 2022, we granted a target amount of 0.8 million RSUs with market-based and service-based vesting conditions to certain executives. The market vesting criteria is based on achievement of certain total shareholder return ("TSR") results relative to the S&P Total Market Consumer Discretionary Index (the "Index") during a one-year, two-year, and three-year performance period, respectively, beginning on June 1, 2022, and ending on May 31, 2025. The market condition allows for a range of vesting from 0% to 150% of the target amount, depending on the relative TSR achieved by us against the Index. In addition to the market condition, these RSUs are subject to the continuing service of the executives and vest in three equal annual installments. The fair value of RSUs with market-based vesting conditions is measured on the grant date using a Monte Carlo simulation model.

|           | Number of Shares | Gr | ant Date Fair Value<br>per Share | Requisite Service Period    |
|-----------|------------------|----|----------------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Tranche 1 | 262,553          | \$ | 4.77                             | June 1, 2022 - May 31, 2023 |
| Tranche 2 | 262,553          | \$ | 5.16                             | June 1, 2022 - May 31, 2024 |
| Tranche 3 | 262,554          | \$ | 5.41                             | June 1, 2022 - May 31, 2025 |

The total grant date fair value of the awards was determined to be \$4.0 million, with each tranche of the awards representing \$1.3 million, \$1.4 million, and \$1.4 million of the total expense, respectively. Stock-based compensation expense related to awards with a market-based condition is recognized on a straight-line basis over their requisite service periods, regardless of whether the market condition is ultimately satisfied. Stock-based compensation expense is not reversed if the achievement of the market condition does not occur. We recognized stock-based compensation expense of \$0.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 as selling, general and administrative expense in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss related to these awards. We recognized no stock-based compensation expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 related to these awards.

#### Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense, included in selling, general, and administrative expense in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, was comprised of the following:

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |       |      | Six Months Ended June 30, |      |       |      |       |
|--|-----------------------------|-------|------|---------------------------|------|-------|------|-------|
| (in thousands)   | 2022                        |       | 2021 |                           | 2022 |       | 2021 |       |
| Stock-based compensation expense, net of amounts capitalized | \$                          | 4,589 | \$   | 2,241                     | \$   | 8,150 | \$   | 3,926 |
| Capitalized stock-based compensation expense                 |                             | 298   |      | _                         |      | 558   |      | _     |
| Total stock-based compensation expense                       | \$                          | 4,887 | \$   | 2,241                     | \$   | 8,708 | \$   | 3,926 |

As of June 30, 2022, there was approximately \$24.8 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options granted under both equity incentive plans, and approximately \$25.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding unvested RSUs under the 2021 Plan, respectively. The

remaining unrecognized compensation cost for unvested stock options is expected to be recognized over the weighted-average remaining vesting period of approximately 2.48 years, and the remaining unrecognized compensation cost for outstanding unvested RSUs is expected to be recognized over the weighted-average remaining vesting period of approximately 2.90 years, respectively.

#### 14. INCOME TAXES

Income tax provision was \$0.3 million and \$2.1 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, and \$0.1 million and \$0.5 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively. The effective tax rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 was 1.2% and 4.4%, respectively, compared to 1.5% and 2.2% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively. The increase in provision for income taxes and effective tax rate is primarily due to withholding tax obligations in the United States on royalties from foreign jurisdictions.

Our tax provision for income taxes for interim periods is determined using an estimate of our annual effective tax rate, adjusted for discrete items, if any. Each quarter, we update our estimate of the annual effective tax rate and make a year-to-date adjustment to the provision.

As of June 30, 2022, we are subject to examination by various tax authorities for 2016 through 2021. During the six months ended June 30, 2022, there was no material change to our uncertain tax positions. We do not expect our unrecognized tax positions to change significantly over the next twelve months.

#### 15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

**Legal Proceedings**—We are subject to various claims and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business activities. Although the outcome of any legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, as of June 30, 2022, the ultimate liability of the Company, if any, is not expected to have a material effect on our financial position or operations.

#### 16. NET LOSS PER SHARE

We compute net loss per share using the two-class method required for participating securities and multiple classes of common stock. The two-class method requires net income or loss be allocated between common stock and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income or loss for the period had been distributed. The rights, including the liquidation and dividend rights and sharing of losses of the Class A common stock and Class B common stock are identical, other than voting, transfer, and conversion rights. As the liquidation and dividend rights and sharing of losses are identical, the undistributed earnings are allocated on a proportionate basis and the resulting net loss per share attributed to common stockholders will, therefore, be the same for both Class A and Class B common stock on an individual or combined basis.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:

|   | Three Months Ended June 30, |             |      |            | Six Months Ended June 30, |             |    |            |
|---|-----------------------------|-------------|------|------------|---------------------------|-------------|----|------------|
| (in thousands, except share and per share data)   |                             | 2022        | 2021 |            | 2022                      |             |    | 2021       |
| Numerator:  |                             |             |      |            |                           |             |    |            |
| Net loss attributable to common stockholders  | \$                          | (29,368)    | \$   | (7,606)    | \$                        | (51,247)    | \$ | (21,128)   |
| Denominator:  |                             |             |      |            |                           |             |    |            |
| Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted |                             | 148,646,906 |      | 54,408,308 |                           | 148,088,555 |    | 54,152,022 |
| Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted   | \$                          | (0.20)      | \$   | (0.14)     | \$                        | (0.35)      | \$ | (0.39)     |

The following shares of preferred stock and common stock were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders for the periods presented, because including them would have been anti-dilutive:

|                                      | June 30,<br>2022 | June 30,<br>2021 |
|--------------------------------------|------------------|------------------|
| Outstanding stock options            | 16,034,848       | 17,957,111       |
| Convertible preferred stock          | _                | 70,990,919       |
| Convertible preferred stock warrants | _                | 1,104,560        |
| Common stock warrants                | 5,114            | 936,172          |
| 2021 ESPP                            | 20,665           | _                |
| RSUs                                 | 5,977,505        | _                |
| Total anti-dilutive securities       | 22,038,132       | 90,988,762       |

#### 17. BENEFIT PLAN

We sponsor a 401(k) defined contribution plan covering eligible employees who elect to participate. We are allowed to make discretionary profit sharing and matching contributions as defined in the plan and as approved by our board of directors. No discretionary profit-sharing contributions were made for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021. We made \$0.3 million and \$0.7 million in matching contributions for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, and \$0.3 million and \$0.6 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively. We have no intention to terminate the plan.

#### 18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In the third quarter of 2022, prior to the issuance of these financial statements, we announced plans to reduce our global corporate workforce. As of the date of issuance of these financial statements, we have terminated 23 individuals and expect to complete remaining reductions by the end of 2022. We expect the estimated expenses related to severance and other employee termination-related costs, including the impact of stock-based compensation, to be immaterial and substantially recognized during the third and fourth quarters of 2022.

In addition, we ceased the use of one of our corporate office leases in the United States and expect expenses incurred as a result of the cease use to be immaterial and substantially recognized by the end of the third quarter of 2022. We plan to cease the use of an additional corporate office lease in the United States in the third or fourth quarter of 2022, and until the cease use date is known, the timing and fair value of expenses incurred as a result of the cease use cannot be reasonably estimated.

#### ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. As discussed in the section titled "Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements," the following discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, as well as assumptions that, if they never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below, and those discussed in the section titled "Risk Factors" included under Part II, Item 1A below.

#### Overview

Allbirds is a global lifestyle brand that innovates with naturally derived materials to make better footwear and apparel products in a better way, while treading lighter on our planet.

We began our journey in 2015 with three fundamental beliefs about the emerging generation of consumers: first, these consumers recognize that climate change is an existential threat to the human race; second, these consumers connect their purchase decisions with their impact on the planet, demanding more from businesses; and third, these consumers do not want to compromise between looking good, feeling good, and doing good. We became a public benefit corporation, or PBC, under Delaware law and earned our B Corporation, or B Corp, certification in 2016, codifying how we take into account the impact our actions have on all of our stakeholders, including the environment, our flock of employees, communities, consumers, and investors. We have achieved our rapid growth through a digitally-led vertical retail distribution strategy. We market directly to consumers via our localized multilingual digital platform and our physical footprint of 46 stores as of June 30, 2022. By primarily serving consumers directly, we cut out the layers of costs associated with traditional wholesalers, creating a more efficient cost structure and higher gross margin. Our direct distribution model allows us to control our sales channels and build deep relationships with our customers by delivering high-quality products through a seamless and immersive brand experience, whether shopping on our website, on our app, or in one of our Allbirds stores. Designing and creating innovative, sustainable materials is a challenging process for both our internal R&D teams as well as our supply chain partners. We have invested time and resources to train our manufacturers to use our natural materials, which we believe makes it difficult to replicate our novel manufacturing processes at our product quality.

Today, we are a high-growth company with a loyal and expanding customer base that has earned our brand the permission to expand beyond our casual footwear origins and enter adjacent categories, such as performance running shoes and apparel. Our strong brand equity is fueled by our differentiated products created by sustainability-driven innovation. Our purpose and mission, coupled with innovation and a vertically integrated business model, allow us to meet the call of our consumers across the globe.

#### **Recent Financial Performance**

- We grew net revenue approximately 15.1% and 19.9% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, as compared to the same periods in 2021, and 54.5% and 51.9% as compared to the same periods in 2020.
- Gross margin decreased to 36.1% and 43.1% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, as compared to 56.1% and 54.4% for the same periods in 2021. Adjusted gross margin was 51.0% and 51.4% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively.

- We reported a net loss of \$29.4 million and \$51.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, as compared to \$7.6 million and \$21.1 million for the same periods in 2021. Adjusted net loss was \$18.1 million and \$39.1 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively.
- We reported adjusted EBITDA of \$(9.2) million and \$(21.4) million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, as compared to \$1.1 million and \$(5.8) million for the same periods in 2021.

Adjusted gross margin, adjusted net loss, and adjusted EBITDA each exclude a non-cash charge of \$11.6 million incurred in the second quarter of 2022, primarily related to a non-recurring write-down of certain first-generation apparel inventory. Adjusted gross margin, adjusted net loss, and adjusted EBITDA are financial measures that are not calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or GAAP. See the section titled "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below for the definition of adjusted gross margin, adjusted net loss, and adjusted EBITDA, as well as a reconciliation of these adjusted financial measures to their most directly comparable GAAP financial measures.

#### **Recent Developments**

In August 2022, we announced the implementation of simplification initiatives designed to generate cost of revenue savings, streamline workflows, and lower operating costs as a result of external headwinds. These initiatives focus on reducing costs related to our supply chain and selling, general, and administrative expense.

Our supply chain initiatives include reducing logistics costs in the United States by transitioning to automated distribution centers and a dedicated returns processor, optimizing inventory to accelerate logistics cost savings, and accelerating the scaling of our manufacturing base to reduce product carbon footprint and product costs over time.

Our selling, general, and administrative expense initiatives include slowing the pace of corporate new hires and backfills for departing employees, reducing our global corporate workforce, reducing corporate office space to reflect a new hybrid working environment, and other corporate projects.

#### **Key Factors Affecting Our Performance**

Our financial and operating conditions have been, and will continue to be, affected by a number of factors, including the following:

#### Ability to Increase Brand Awareness and Drive Efficient Customer Acquisition

The ability to communicate our mission of making better things in a better way is integral to our success in engaging new customers and introducing them to our products and brand. Allbirds is still relatively unknown, underscoring a large opportunity to scale our customer base and drive future growth. Our continued focus on elevating our product offerings combined with our differentiated brand approach and authenticity is critical to attracting new customers and increasing closet share. Further, we must continue to emphasize our commitment to people, the planet, and our investors in order to further increase our reach and highlight the integrity of our brand.

As we continue to scale and build our global brand awareness, our goal is to acquire new customers in a cost-effective way. We will continue to invest in customer acquisition while the underlying customer unit economics indicate the return on investment is strong. The continued execution of our customer acquisition strategy is key to acquiring more customers and driving growth and profitability for our business. Our ability to acquire more customers depends significantly on a number of factors, including the level and pattern of consumer spending in the product categories in which we operate and our ability to expand our brand awareness. Starting in 2022, we began to selectively enter into retail partnerships with third parties to distribute our products on a limited basis, in an effort to build brand awareness and establish greater customer credibility in the market for our performance products.

#### Continued Growth Within Existing Customer Base and Increasing Closet Share

In addition to seeking to acquire new customers, we continuously seek ways to engage with our large and growing base of existing customers. We aim to grow our closet share within our existing customer base, especially as we expand into new product categories and line extensions. We believe we must continue to innovate with new

products in order to drive consumer engagement and increase our closet share. We also intend to continue expanding beyond the footwear category by moving up the body with apparel, and to do so we must constantly evaluate and improve our apparel strategy to anticipate current and future consumer preferences and demands. At the same time, it is critical that we maintain our long-trusted commitment to offering the most comfortable, high performance, and sustainable products. Our continued growth within our existing customer base will depend in part on our ability to continue to innovate with new products appealing to our existing customers.

#### Execution of Our Vertical Retail Distribution Strategy and Continued Growth of Our Store Fleet

Our long-term growth strategy relies on our ability to grow across various channels, including digitally and in our stores. We believe this seamless consumer buying experience is important to meeting the needs of our growing customer base while also growing revenue.

We believe that growing our store footprint in the United States and internationally will help grow brand awareness, allow us to be in closer proximity to new customers, and generate omni-channel sales growth. We expect net revenue and gross margin to benefit from increased sales through our physical retail channel, due to a lower return rate and decreased shipping costs. We have also seen a corresponding increase in digital traffic and digital sales as a result of store openings in new markets. Furthermore, as we grow our store footprint, we believe we will be able to expand our valuable multi-channel customer base.

We believe our omni-channel growth strategy will continue to utilize investments in store build outs, field infrastructure, and technology to ensure that our model reaches new customers, runs in a cost-efficient manner, and provides continued innovation in the customer buying experience. Our store count by primary geographical market is presented in the table below, as of the dates presented:

|               | Store Count by Primary Geographical Market |                       |                      |                |   |    |                |               |    |
|---------------|--|-----------------------|----------------------|----------------|---|----|----------------|---------------|----|
|               | June 30, 2020                              | September 30,<br>2020 | December 31,<br>2020 | March 31, 2021 | 21 June 30, 2021 September 30, 2021 December 31, 2021 |    | March 31, 2022 | June 30, 2022 |    |
| United States | 10   | 11                    | 12                   | 12             | 15  | 19 | 23             | 27            | 32 |
| International | 10   | 10                    | 10                   | 10             | 12  | 12 | 12             | 12            | 14 |
| Total stores  | 20   | 21                    | 22                   | 22             | 27  | 31 | 35             | 39            | 46 |

#### Growing Our Product Innovation Platform

Innovation has been core to the Allbirds brand since our inception in 2015. Our future innovation and product pipeline will depend, in part, on our ability to apply our expertise in materials science to source and commercialize materials that are sustainable, durable, and comfortable. Our success in leveraging these materials in our products is partially reliant on the ability of our manufacturing and supply chain partners to produce and distribute these materials at scale. It also takes months of testing before we commercialize new materials and products, which could cause delays in our existing growth plans. In addition, these initiatives may require ongoing investments which may lead to additional expenses that could delay our ability to achieve medium to long-term profitability.

#### Ability to Scale Infrastructure for Profitable Growth

To grow our business, we intend to continue to improve our operational efficiency and thoughtfully optimize our infrastructure. Our ability to scale relies upon our supply chain infrastructure. Our investments in direct and meaningful relationships with all of our partners, from raw materials suppliers to Tier 1 manufacturers and logistics providers, helps put us on a path of achieving profitable growth in the future. We will continue to make similar investments in developing partnerships across the full supply chain. Most importantly, we are firmly committed to reducing our carbon footprint and our environmental impact. This commitment may require current and future investments, which may result in higher expenses.

#### Macroeconomic Trends

Consumers' increasing care in the products and brands they trust have contributed to significant demand for our products. Our status as a PBC and a B Corp highlight our commitment to sustainability and our purpose while providing an objective reference point for consumers. As a purpose-native company, we believe we are well-positioned at the intersection of key macro trends impacting our industry. However, changes in macro-level consumer spending trends, including as a result of increases in inflation and interest rates, the strengthening of the U.S. dollar in relation to foreign currencies, the crises in Ukraine, and the COVID-19 pandemic, could result in fluctuations in our results of operations. For example, we implemented price increases in 2021 and 2022, and it is uncertain if we will have to consider additional price increases in our products in response to increasing costs of raw materials and supplies, partially due to the current inflationary environment. If we continue increasing the prices of our products, this may adversely impact demand for our products by our customers.

#### Seasonality

Our business is affected by general seasonal trends common to the retail footwear and apparel industry, with sales peaking during the end-of-year holiday period that typically falls within our fourth quarter. For example, we generated approximately 35.0% and 36.2% of our full year net revenue during the fourth quarters of 2021 and 2020, respectively.

#### **Impact of COVID-19**

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact the global economy and cause disruption and volatility. While the vast majority of our retail stores were open during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, certain locations in China and Europe were temporarily closed based on government and health authority guidance. To date, we have not permanently closed any of our retail stores due to COVID-19. Further, despite volatile sourcing and logistics headwinds, we were able to launch several new product styles during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, including the Sugar Series and Tree Flyer.

We believe we will continue to experience varying levels of disruption and volatility in different markets, based on the possible sustained spread or resurgence of the pandemic. Any government response thereto increases the uncertainty regarding future economic conditions that will impact our business in the future. See the section titled "Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business, Brand, Products, and Industry—The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and may in the future continue to have, a material adverse impact on our business" in Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors, for further details.

#### **Components of Results of Operations**

#### Net Revenue

We generate net revenue primarily through sales of our products in our directly owned digital and physical retail channels. The digital channel includes direct sales to consumers through our websites and mobile app, and the physical retail channel includes sales through our leased stores. As of June 30, 2022, the vast majority of our sales are through directly owned channels. Net revenue consists of sales of our products and shipping revenue, net of allowances for returns, discounts, and any taxes collected from customers.

#### Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of the cost of purchased inventory, inbound and outbound shipping costs, import duties, distribution center and related equipment costs, and inventory write-downs. Shipping costs to receive products from our suppliers are included in the cost of inventory and recognized as cost of revenue upon sale of products to our customers.

#### Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Gross profit represents net revenue less cost of revenue. Gross margin is gross profit expressed as a percentage of net revenue. Our gross margin may in the future fluctuate from period to period based on a number of factors,

including business outcomes, the mix of products we sell, the channels through which we sell our products, price increases, the innovation initiatives we undertake in each product category, cost drivers, such as product promotions, commodity prices, transportation rates, manufacturing costs, and inventory write-downs, among other factors. Our expectation is that the combination of our strategy and growth initiatives will result in both a topline expansion and operational leverage, leading to a strong gross margin profile.

#### **Operating Expense**

Selling, general, and administrative expense

Selling, general, and administrative expense consists of salaries, stock-based compensation, benefits, payroll taxes, bonuses, and other related costs, which we refer to as personnel and related expenses (including for retail employees), as well as third-party consulting and contractor expenses, including non-employee stock-based compensation. Selling, general, and administrative expense also includes rent expense and associated utilities for office and retail locations, depreciation and amortization expense, software costs, third-party professional fees, and costs related to other office functions. We anticipate recurring costs for personnel and related expenses and third-party professional fees will be incurred due to operating as a public company, and we expect our selling, general, and administrative expense to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to expand our business.

Marketing expense

Marketing expense consists of advertising costs incurred to acquire new customers, retain existing customers, and build our brand awareness. We expect marketing expense to continue to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to expand our brand awareness, introduce new product innovations across multiple product categories, and implement new marketing strategies.

#### Interest Expense

Interest expense primarily consists of interest expense associated with our credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., or the Credit Agreement.

#### Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) consists of changes in the fair value of our equity investments, gains or losses on foreign currency, gains or losses on sales of property and equipment, and changes in the fair value of our preferred stock warrant liability.

The change in fair value for our preferred stock warrant liability was related to mark to market accounting and fluctuated as the value of the underlying preferred equity increased or decreased. In November 2021, immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, and upon the issuance of shares of Class B common stock, pursuant to the terms of our outstanding convertible preferred stock warrants, our preferred stock warrants were automatically exchanged for Class B common stock on a one-to-one basis and the preferred stock warrant liability was reclassified to additional paid-in capital on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. Therefore, subsequent to November 2021, there will no longer be an impact to other income (expense) as a result of changes in the fair value of the preferred stock warrant liability.

#### Income Tax Provision

Our provision for income taxes consists of U.S. federal and state income taxes and income taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business. We record deferred tax assets and liabilities based on differences between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated by applying enacted tax rates and laws to taxable years in which such differences are expected to reverse. Because we have a recent history of pre-tax book losses and are expected to be in a pre-tax book loss position in the near term, a valuation allowance was maintained against the deferred tax assets in the United States, China, Hong Kong, and Vietnam as of June 30, 2022.

# **Results of Operations**

The following table sets forth our condensed consolidated statements of operations data for each of the periods presented:

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |          |      | Six Months Ended June 30, |         |          |    |          |
|--|-----------------------------|----------|------|---------------------------|---------|----------|----|----------|
|  |                             | 2022     | 2021 |                           |         | 2022     |    | 2021     |
|  |                             |          |      | (in tho                   | usands) |          |    |          |
| Statements of Operations Data:                                 |                             |          |      |                           |         |          |    |          |
| Net revenue  | \$                          | 78,174   | \$   | 67,905                    | \$      | 140,937  | \$ | 117,542  |
| Cost of revenue  |                             | 49,983   |      | 29,783                    |         | 80,143   |    | 53,594   |
| Gross profit   |                             | 28,191   |      | 38,122                    |         | 60,794   |    | 63,948   |
| Operating expense:   |                             |          |      |                           |         |          |    |          |
| Selling, general, and administrative expense <sup>(1)(2)</sup> |                             | 41,707   |      | 28,996                    |         | 80,462   |    | 52,532   |
| Marketing expense  |                             | 15,813   |      | 13,295                    |         | 29,640   |    | 26,013   |
| Total operating expense  |                             | 57,520   |      | 42,291                    |         | 110,102  |    | 78,545   |
| Loss from operations   |                             | (29,329) |      | (4,169)                   |         | (49,308) |    | (14,597) |
| Interest expense   |                             | (35)     |      | (36)                      |         | (72)     |    | (87)     |
| Other income (expense)   |                             | 338      |      | (3,289)                   |         | 238      |    | (5,980)  |
| Loss before provision for income taxes                         |                             | (29,026) |      | (7,494)                   |         | (49,142) |    | (20,664) |
| Income tax provision   |                             | (342)    |      | (112)                     |         | (2,105)  |    | (464)    |
| Net loss   | \$                          | (29,368) | \$   | (7,606)                   | \$      | (51,247) | \$ | (21,128) |
| Other comprehensive (loss) income:                             |                             |          |      |                           |         |          |    |          |
| Foreign currency translation (loss) gain                       |                             | (3,398)  |      | 1,601                     |         | (4,072)  |    | (330)    |
| Total comprehensive loss                                       | \$                          | (32,766) | \$   | (6,005)                   | \$      | (55,319) | \$ | (21,458) |

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes stock-based compensation expense of \$4.6 million and \$8.1 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, and \$2.2 million and \$3.9 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively.

Includes depreciation and amortization expense of \$3.7 million and \$7.1 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, and \$2.5 million and

<sup>\$4.3</sup> million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, respectively.

The following table sets forth our condensed consolidated results of operations as a percentage of net revenue, for each of the periods presented:

|  | Three Months Ende | d June 30, | Six Months Ended June 30, |         |  |
|--|-------------------|------------|---------------------------|---------|--|
|  | 2022              | 2021       | 2022                      | 2021    |  |
| Statements of Operations Data, as a Percentage of Net Revenue: |                   |            |                           |         |  |
| Net revenue  | 100.0 %           | 100.0 %    | 100.0 %                   | 100.0 % |  |
| Cost of revenue  | 63.9 %            | 43.9 %     | 56.9 %                    | 45.6 %  |  |
| Gross profit   | 36.1 %            | 56.1 %     | 43.1 %                    | 54.4 %  |  |
| Operating expense:   |                   |            |                           |         |  |
| Selling, general, and administrative expense                   | 53.4 %            | 42.7 %     | 57.1 %                    | 44.7 %  |  |
| Marketing expense  | 20.2 %            | 19.6 %     | 21.0 %                    | 22.1 %  |  |
| Total operating expense  | 73.6 %            | 62.3 %     | 78.1 %                    | 66.8 %  |  |
| Loss from operations   | (37.5)%           | (6.1)%     | (35.0)%                   | (12.4)% |  |
| Interest expense   | 0.0 %             | (0.1)%     | (0.1)%                    | (0.1)%  |  |
| Other income (expense)   | 0.4 %             | (4.8)%     | 0.2 %                     | (5.1)%  |  |
| Loss before provision for income taxes                         | (37.1)%           | (11.0)%    | (34.9)%                   | (17.6)% |  |
| Income tax provision   | (0.4)%            | (0.2)%     | (1.5)%                    | (0.4)%  |  |
| Net loss   | (37.6)%           | (11.2)%    | (36.4)%                   | (18.0)% |  |
| Other comprehensive (loss) income:                             |                   |            |                           |         |  |
| Foreign currency translation (loss) gain                       | (4.3)%            | 2.4 %      | (2.9)%                    | (0.3)%  |  |
| Total comprehensive loss                                       | (41.9)%           | (8.8)%     | (39.3)%                   | (18.3)% |  |

# Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

## Net Revenue

|    | Three Months |           |          |  |
|----|--------------|-----------|----------|--|
|    | 2022 2021    |           | % Change |  |
|    | (dollars in  |           |          |  |
| \$ | 78,174       | \$ 67,905 | 15.1 %   |  |

Net revenue increased by \$10.3 million, or 15.1%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. Our sales growth was primarily driven by an increase of \$10.4 million in the United States, driven by an increase in the number of orders and an increase in average order value, which was in turn driven by increased average units per order and price increases of existing products. This growth was partially offset by \$0.1 million of lower international net sales as a result of external headwinds, including COVID-19 restrictions in China, the crisis in Ukraine in Europe, and unfavorable foreign exchange rates due to the strengthening U.S. dollar in certain international markets. We expect the impact of these external headwinds to continue throughout 2022.

# Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit, and Gross Margin

|                 |                        | Three Months Ended June 30, |           |          |  |  |  |
|-----------------|------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------|----------|--|--|--|
|                 |                        | 2022 2021                   |           | % Change |  |  |  |
|                 | (dollars in thousands) |                             |           |          |  |  |  |
| Cost of revenue | \$                     | 49,983                      | \$ 29,783 | 67.8 %   |  |  |  |
| Gross profit    |                        | 28,191                      | 38,122    | (26.1)%  |  |  |  |
| Gross margin    |                        | 36.1 %                      | 56.1 %    | (35.7)%  |  |  |  |

Cost of revenue increased by \$20.2 million, or 67.8%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The increase was primarily driven by a \$11.6 million non-cash write-down of inventory primarily related to certain first-generation apparel products, along with an increase in the volume of units sold.

Gross profit decreased by \$9.9 million, or (26.1)%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The decrease in gross profit was driven by a \$15.7 million decrease in gross margin rate, primarily due to the non-cash write-down of inventory recorded in cost of revenue, partially offset by an increase in the volume of units sold.

Our gross margin decreased to 36.1% for the three months ended June 30, 2022 from 56.1% in the same period in 2021, primarily due to the non-cash write-down of inventory recorded in cost of revenue, higher distribution center and logistics costs, a lower mix of gross margin accretive international sales, and unfavorable foreign exchange rates, partially offset by mix shift to physical retail and higher margin products, as well as price increases. We expect these factors to continue to impact gross margin for the remainder of 2022.

# **Operating Expenses**

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |           |    |          |        |  |
|--|-----------------------------|-----------|----|----------|--------|--|
|  | ·                           | 2022 2021 |    | % Change |        |  |
|  | (dollars in thousands)      |           |    |          |        |  |
| Selling, general, and administrative expense | \$                          | 41,707    | \$ | 28,996   | 43.8 % |  |
| Marketing expense                            |                             | 15,813    |    | 13,295   | 18.9 % |  |
| Total operating expense                      | \$                          | 57,520    | \$ | 42,291   | 36.0 % |  |

Selling, general, and administrative expense

Selling, general, and administrative expense increased by \$12.7 million, or 43.8%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The increase was primarily driven by an increase of \$3.6

million in personnel and related expenses as a result of higher headcount, an increase of \$2.0 million in rent expense as a result of an increased number of stores in operation, an increase of \$2.0 million in stock-based compensation as a result of additional stock grants for new and existing employees, and an increase of \$1.6 million of depreciation and amortization expense as a result of a higher number of retail stores operating during the period. The remaining \$3.5 million increase was composed of other miscellaneous operating and third-party expenses and fees, including additional recurring expenses as a result of becoming a public company.

# Marketing expense

Marketing expense increased by \$2.5 million, or 18.9%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The increase was primarily driven by increased digital advertising expense.

#### Interest Expense

|    | Three Months Ended Jun | ne 30, |          |  |
|----|------------------------|--------|----------|--|
|    | 2022 2021              |        | % Change |  |
|    | (dollars in thousands) |        |          |  |
| \$ | (35) \$                | (36)   | (2.8)%   |  |

Interest expense was approximately flat for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021, primarily driven by an increase in interest income, offset by increased interest expense related to our Credit Agreement.

# Other Income (Expense)

|                        | Three Months I    |            |          |
|------------------------|-------------------|------------|----------|
|                        | <br>2022 2021     |            | % Change |
|                        | <br>(dollars in t |            |          |
| Other income (expense) | \$<br>338         | \$ (3,289) | NM       |
| NM = Not meaningful    |                   |            |          |

Other income (expense) increased by \$3.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The increase in other income (expense) was primarily due to a decrease of \$2.9 million of expense relating to the mark to market adjustment to reflect the fair value of our preferred stock warrant liability in the second quarter of 2021 and \$0.7 million related to a gain on foreign currency.

# Income Tax Provision

|    | Three Months En |          |          |
|----|-----------------|----------|----------|
|    | 2022 2021       |          | % Change |
|    | (dollars in the | ousands) |          |
| \$ | (342) \$        | (112)    | 205.4 %  |

Income tax provision increased by \$0.2 million, or 205.4%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The increase was primarily due to withholding tax obligations accrued from 2018 onwards in the United States on royalties from foreign jurisdictions, along with increased state income tax liability.

# Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021

# Net Revenue

|    | Six Months E           |            |          |  |
|----|------------------------|------------|----------|--|
|    | 2022                   | 2021       | % Change |  |
| _  | (dollars in thousands) |            |          |  |
| \$ | 140,937                | \$ 117,542 | 19.9 %   |  |

Net revenue increased by \$23.4 million, or 19.9%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. Our sales growth was primarily driven by an increase of \$23.1 million in the United States, driven by an increase in the number of orders and an increase in average order value, which was in turn driven by increased average units per order and price increases of existing products. The remaining increase of \$0.3 million was driven by a higher volume of units sold internationally as compared to the same period in 2021. The growth of our international net sales was negatively impacted by external headwinds, including COVID-19 restrictions in China, the crisis in Ukraine in Europe, and unfavorable foreign exchange rates due to the strengthening U.S. dollar in certain international markets. We expect the impact of these external headwinds to continue throughout 2022.

# Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit, and Gross Margin

|                 |                        | Six Months Ended June 30, |    |        |          |  |  |
|-----------------|------------------------|---------------------------|----|--------|----------|--|--|
|                 |                        | 2022 2021                 |    | 2021   | % Change |  |  |
|                 | (dollars in thousands) |                           |    |        |          |  |  |
| Cost of revenue | \$                     | 80,143                    | \$ | 53,594 | 49.5 %   |  |  |
| Gross profit    |                        | 60,794                    |    | 63,948 | (4.9)%   |  |  |
| Gross margin    |                        | 43.1 %                    |    | 54.4 % | (20.8)%  |  |  |

Cost of revenue increased by \$26.5 million, or 49.5%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The increase was primarily driven by a \$11.6 million non-cash write-down of inventory primarily related to certain first-generation apparel products, along with an increase in the volume of units sold.

Gross profit decreased by \$3.2 million, or (4.9)%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The decrease in gross profit was driven by a \$15.9 million decrease in gross margin rate, primarily due to the non-cash write-down of inventory recorded in cost of revenue, partially offset by a \$12.7 million increase in the volume of units sold.

Our gross margin decreased to 43.1% for the six months ended June 30, 2022 from 54.4% for the same period in 2021, primarily due to the non-cash write-down of inventory recorded in cost of revenue, higher distribution center and logistics costs, a lower mix of margin accretive international sales, and unfavorable foreign exchange rates, partially offset by mix shift to physical retail and higher margin products, as well as pricing. We expect these factors to continue to impact gross margin for the remainder of 2022.

# **Operating Expenses**

|  | 2022                   |            | 2021   | % Change |  |  |
|--|------------------------|------------|--------|----------|--|--|
|  | (dollars in thousands) |            |        |          |  |  |
| Selling, general, and administrative expense | \$                     | 80,462 \$  | 52,532 | 53.2 %   |  |  |
| Marketing expense                            |                        | 29,640     | 26,013 | 13.9 %   |  |  |
| Total operating expense                      | \$                     | 110,102 \$ | 78,545 | 40.2 %   |  |  |

## Selling, general, and administrative expense

Selling, general, and administrative expense increased by \$27.9 million, or 53.2%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The increase was primarily driven by an increase of \$7.6 million in personnel and related expenses as a result of higher headcount, an increase of \$4.6 million in stock-based compensation as a result of additional stock grants for new and existing employees, an increase of \$4.1 million in rent expense as a result of an increased number of stores in operation, and an increase of \$2.8 million of depreciation and amortization expense as a result of acquiring assets for the build out of new retail stores. The remaining \$8.8 million increase was composed of other miscellaneous operating and third-party expenses and fees, including additional recurring expenses as a result of becoming a public company.

# Marketing expense

Marketing expense increased by \$3.6 million, or 13.9%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The increase was primarily driven by increased digital advertising expense.

## Interest Expense

|                        | Six Months Ended J | ane 30, |          |  |  |
|------------------------|--------------------|---------|----------|--|--|
| <del></del>            | 2022 2021          |         | % Change |  |  |
| (dollars in thousands) |                    |         |          |  |  |
| \$                     | (72) \$            | (87)    | (17.2)%  |  |  |

Interest expense decreased by \$15 thousand, or (17.2)%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The decrease was primarily driven by an increase in interest income, partially offset by increased interest expense related to our Credit Agreement.

#### Other Income (Expense)

|    | Six Months Ended June 30, |            |         |          |  |
|----|---------------------------|------------|---------|----------|--|
|    | 2022                      | 202        | 1       | % Change |  |
|    | (dollars in               | thousands) |         |          |  |
| \$ | 238                       | \$         | (5,980) | NM       |  |
|    |                           |            |         |          |  |

Other income (expense) increased by \$6.2 million, for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The increase in other income (expense) was primarily due to a decrease of \$5.3 million of expense relating to the mark to market adjustment to reflect the fair value of our preferred stock warrant liability in the six months ended June 30, 2021 and \$0.8 million related to a gain on foreign currency.

## Income Tax Provision

|                      | Six Months Ended Jur     |       |          |
|----------------------|--------------------------|-------|----------|
|                      | <br>2022 2021            |       | % Change |
|                      | <br>(dollars in thousand | ls)   |          |
| Income tax provision | \$<br>(2,105) \$         | (464) | 353.7 %  |

Income tax provision increased by \$1.6 million, or 353.7%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The increase was primarily due to withholding tax obligations accrued from 2018 onwards in the United States on royalties from foreign jurisdictions, along with increased state income tax liability.

#### Non-GAAP Financial Measures

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and accompanying financial tables include references to adjusted gross margin, adjusted net loss, adjusted EBITDA, and adjusted EBITDA margin, which are non-GAAP financial measures. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures, when reviewed in conjunction with GAAP financial measures, and not in isolation or as substitutes for analysis of our results of operations under GAAP, are useful to investors as they are widely used measures of performance, and the adjustments we make to these non-GAAP financial measures provide investors further insight into our profitability and additional perspectives in comparing our performance to other companies and in comparing our performance over time on a consistent basis. These non-GAAP financial measures should not be considered as alternatives to any measures of financial performance calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP.

Adjusted gross profit is defined as net revenue minus cost of revenue before the impact of any non-recurring revenue or expenses from end of life inventory liquidation, including the non-recurring inventory write-down recognized in the second quarter of 2022.

Adjusted gross margin is defined as adjusted gross profit divided by net revenue.

Adjusted net loss is defined as net loss before the impact of the non-recurring inventory write-down recognized in the second quarter of 2022 and any non-recurring revenue and costs associated with our newly announced simplification initiatives (e.g., employee-related expenses, reducing office space, and other projects).

Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net loss before stock-based compensation expense, including common stock warrant expense, depreciation and amortization, the impact of the non-recurring inventory write-down recognized in the second quarter of 2022 and any non-recurring revenue and costs associated with our newly announced simplification initiatives (e.g., employee-related expenses, reducing office space, and other projects), other income or expense (consisting of non-cash changes in the fair value of our equity investments, non-cash gains or losses on foreign currency, non-cash gains or losses on sales of property and equipment, and non-cash changes in fair value of our preferred stock warrant liability), interest expense, income tax provision, and other unusual or non-recurring items.

Adjusted EBITDA margin is defined as adjusted EBITDA divided by net revenue.

There are a number of limitations related to the use of adjusted financial measures. Some of these limitations are that:

- adjusted gross profit and adjusted gross margin do not reflect inventory write-off or write-down expense and, although these are non-cash expenses, the inventory being written-off or written-down may be unable to be sold for more than its cost, which reduces cash available to us;
- adjusted net loss does not reflect inventory write-off or write-down expense and reflects an estimated income tax on such adjusted item. Although these are non-cash expenses, the inventory being written-off or written-down may be unable to be sold for more than its cost, which may reduce cash available to us, along with the associated income tax expense;
- adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin do not reflect stock-based compensation expense, including common stock warrant expense, and therefore do not include all of our compensation costs;
- adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin do not reflect depreciation and amortization expense and, although these are a non-cash expense, the assets being depreciated may have to be replaced in the future, increasing our cash requirements;
- adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin do not reflect inventory write-off or write-down expense and, although this is a non-cash
  expense, the inventory being written-off or written-down may be unable to be sold for more than its cost, which may reduce cash available to us;

- adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin do not reflect other income or expense that may reduce cash available to us if the actual cash received is lower than the cash paid;
- adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin do not reflect interest expense, or the cash required to service our debt, which reduces cash
  available to us; and
- adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margin do not reflect income tax expense that may reduce cash available to us.

Further, other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate these non-GAAP financial measures differently, which reduces their usefulness as comparative measures. Because of these limitations, we consider, and investors should consider, these non-GAAP financial measures together with other operating and financial performance measures presented in accordance with GAAP.

The following tables present a reconciliation of our non-GAAP financial measures with their most directly comparable GAAP measures, for each of the periods presented:

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |          |    |                   | Six Months Ended June 30, |              |    |          |
|--|-----------------------------|----------|----|-------------------|---------------------------|--------------|----|----------|
|  |                             | 2022     |    | 2021              |                           | 2022         |    | 2021     |
|  |                             |          |    | (in thousands, ex | cept                      | percentages) |    |          |
| Gross profit                               | \$                          | 28,191   | \$ | 38,122            | \$                        | 60,794       | \$ | 63,948   |
| Inventory write-down expense <sup>1</sup>  |                             | 11,641   |    | _                 |                           | 11,641       |    | _        |
| Adjusted gross profit                      | \$                          | 39,832   | \$ | 38,122            | \$                        | 72,435       | \$ | 63,948   |
|  |                             |          |    |                   |                           |              |    |          |
| Gross margin                               |                             | 36.1 %   |    | 56.1 %            |                           | 43.1 %       |    | 54.4 %   |
| Inventory write-down expense <sup>1</sup>  |                             | 14.9 %   |    | — %               |                           | 8.3 %        |    | — %      |
| Adjusted gross margin                      |                             | 51.0 %   |    | 56.1 %            |                           | 51.4 %       |    | 54.4 %   |
|  |                             |          |    |                   |                           |              |    |          |
| Net loss                                   | \$                          | (29,368) | \$ | (7,606)           | \$                        | (51,247)     | \$ | (21,128) |
| Income tax provision                       |                             | (342)    |    | (112)             |                           | (2,105)      |    | (464)    |
| Loss before provision for income taxes     |                             | (29,026) |    | (7,494)           |                           | (49,142)     |    | (20,664) |
| Inventory write-down expense <sup>1</sup>  |                             | 11,641   |    | _                 |                           | 11,641       |    | _        |
| Adjusted income tax provision <sup>2</sup> |                             | (758)    |    | (112)             |                           | (1,635)      |    | (464)    |
| Adjusted net loss                          | \$                          | (18,143) | \$ | (7,606)           | \$                        | (39,136)     | \$ | (21,128) |

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> During the three months ended June 30, 2022, we recognized a non-cash charge of \$11.6 million in cost of revenue on the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, primarily related to a write-down of certain first-generation apparel products. Approximately \$9.8 million related to finished goods in inventory on our condensed consolidated balance sheet and \$1.9 million related to raw materials in prepaid expenses and other current assets on our condensed consolidated balance sheet.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The adjusted provision for income taxes is based on our estimated annual effective tax rate of 4.36% as of June 30, 2022. We may adjust our adjusted tax rate as additional information becomes available or events occur which may materially affect this rate, including impacts from the global tax environment, significant changes in our geographic mix, new or amended tax legislation, or changes in our business outlook.

|  | Three Months Ended June 30, |          |    | June 30, | Six Months Ended June 30, |             |  |  |
|--|-----------------------------|----------|----|----------|---------------------------|-------------|--|--|
|  |                             | 2022     |    | 2021     | 2022                      | 2021        |  |  |
|  |                             |          |    | (in thou | sands)                    |             |  |  |
| Net loss   | \$                          | (29,368) | \$ | (7,606)  | \$ (51,247)               | \$ (21,128) |  |  |
| Add (deduct):  |                             |          |    |          |                           |             |  |  |
| Stock-based compensation expense, including common stock warrant expense |                             | 4,838    |    | 2,771    | 9,145                     | 4,529       |  |  |
| Depreciation and amortization expense                                    |                             | 3,652    |    | 2,488    | 7,111                     | 4,294       |  |  |
| Inventory write-down expense   |                             | 11,641   |    | _        | 11,641                    | _           |  |  |
| Other (income) expense   |                             | (338)    |    | 3,289    | (238)                     | 5,980       |  |  |
| Interest expense   |                             | 35       |    | 36       | 72                        | 87          |  |  |
| Income tax provision   |                             | 342      |    | 112      | 2,105                     | 464         |  |  |
| Adjusted EBITDA  | \$                          | (9,198)  | \$ | 1,090    | \$ (21,411)               | \$ (5,774)  |  |  |

Adjusted EBITDA decreased by \$10.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021 and decreased by \$15.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 as compared to the same period in 2021. The decrease for both periods was primarily driven by higher selling, general, and administrative expense due to increased headcount, new store openings and the continuing operation of our current stores, miscellaneous third-party professional fees, and recurring operating costs as a result of becoming a public company.

The following table presents net loss and adjusted EBITDA as percentages of net revenue for each of the periods presented:

|                        | Three Months Ended June 30,        |          |      |         | Six Months Ended June 30, |          |    |          |
|------------------------|------------------------------------|----------|------|---------|---------------------------|----------|----|----------|
|                        | 2022                               |          | 2021 |         |                           | 2022     |    | 2021     |
|                        | (in thousands, except percentages) |          |      |         |                           |          |    |          |
| Net revenue            | \$                                 | 78,174   | \$   | 67,905  | \$                        | 140,937  | \$ | 117,542  |
| Net loss               | \$                                 | (29,368) | \$   | (7,606) | \$                        | (51,247) | \$ | (21,128) |
| Net loss margin        |                                    | (37.6)%  |      | (11.2)% |                           | (36.4)%  |    | (18.0)%  |
| Adjusted EBITDA        | \$                                 | (9,198)  | \$   | 1,090   | \$                        | (21,411) | \$ | (5,774)  |
| Adjusted EBITDA margin |                                    | (11.8)%  |      | 1.6 %   |                           | (15.2)%  |    | (4.9)%   |

Adjusted EBITDA margin declined from 1.6% for the three months ended June 30, 2021 to (11.8)% for the same period in 2022, and declined from (4.9)% for the six months ended June 30, 2021 to (15.2)% for the same period in 2022. The changes were primarily driven by the same factors as noted in the adjusted EBITDA discussion above.

# **Liquidity and Capital Resources**

As of June 30, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of \$207.3 million. Our operations have been funded primarily through cash flows from the sale of our products and net proceeds from sales of equity securities. We completed our IPO in November 2021 and received aggregate proceeds of \$237.0 million, net of the underwriting discounts and commissions of \$15.8 million and before offering costs of \$5.4 million.

We believe our existing cash and cash equivalent balances, cash flow from operations, and amounts available for borrowing under our Credit Agreement will be sufficient to meet our cash requirements over the next 12 months. We believe we will meet longer-term expected future cash requirements and obligations through a combination of our existing cash and cash equivalent balances, cash flow from operations, amounts available for borrowing under our Credit Agreement, and issuances of equity securities or debt offerings.

There have been no material changes to our material cash requirements, outside the course of ordinary business, as discussed under the heading "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources" in the Form 10-K.

## Cash Flows

|  | Six Months Ended June 30, |                |          |  |
|--|---------------------------|----------------|----------|--|
|  | 2022                      |                | 2021     |  |
|  |                           | (in thousands) |          |  |
| Net cash used in operating activities  | \$                        | (64,632) \$    | (22,506) |  |
| Net cash used in investing activities  |                           | (16,933)       | (11,928) |  |
| Net cash provided by financing activities  |                           | 2,342          | 2,114    |  |
| Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash |                           | (1,429)        | (69)     |  |
| Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash                            | \$                        | (80,652) \$    | (32,389) |  |

# Net Cash Used In Operating Activities

During the six months ended June 30, 2022, net cash used in operating activities was \$64.6 million, which consisted of a net loss of \$51.2 million and a net change of \$(41.1) million in our operating assets and liabilities, partially offset by non-cash charges of \$27.7 million. The change in operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to an increase of \$27.5 million in inventory to support our growth and product expansion as well as a non-cash write-down primarily related to certain first-generation apparel products, a decrease of \$18.0 million in accounts payable due to the timing of payments made, an increase of \$3.8 million in other assets related to an increase in noncurrent tax receivable, a decrease of \$2.1 million in prepaid and other current assets, largely due to the reclass of a tax receivable into other assets and a write-off of apparel-related raw materials in prepaid expenses and other current assets, and a decrease in deferred revenue of \$1.0 million due to timing of shipments, which were partially offset by a decrease of \$5.7 million in accounts receivable due to timing of cash received and an increase of \$5.6 million in other long-term liabilities primarily due to an increase in deferred rent liabilities.

During the six months ended June 30, 2021, net cash used in operating activities was \$22.5 million, which consisted of a net loss of \$7.6 million, partially offset by non-cash charges of \$13.5 million and a net change of \$(14.8) million in our operating assets and liabilities. The change in operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to an increase of \$13.8 million in inventory to support our growth and product expansion, a decrease of \$2.9 million in prepaid and other current assets largely due to an increase in prepaid taxes and receivables, and a decrease of \$1.2 million in accounts payable due to the timing of payments made, which were partially offset by an increase of \$2.9 million in other long-term liabilities primarily due to an increase in deferred rent liabilities. The remaining \$0.2 million was due to a minor increase in accounts receivable and a minor decrease in deferred revenue.

# Net Cash Used In Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 was \$16.9 million and \$11.9 million, respectively, and consisted primarily of cash outflows for the purchases of property and equipment, largely to support the opening of retail stores.

# Net Cash Provided By Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2022 was \$2.3 million, primarily due to \$2.3 million in net proceeds from exercises of stock options and \$0.8 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock under the employee stock purchase plan, partially offset by \$0.7 million of payments of deferred offering costs. Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2021 was \$2.1 million, due to \$1.8 million in net proceeds from exercises of stock options and \$0.3 million from the exercises of common stock warrants.

## **Critical Accounting Estimates**

Our condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses, and related disclosures. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ significantly from the estimates made by management. To the extent that there are differences between our estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows will be affected.

There have been no material changes to our critical accounting estimates as discussed under the heading "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Estimates" in the Form 10-K.

## **Recent Accounting Pronouncements**

For information on new accounting pronouncements adopted and not yet adopted as of the date of this report, see Note 2 to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

## **Emerging Growth Company Status**

We are currently an "emerging growth company," as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or JOBS Act, and we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. We may take advantage of these exemptions until we are no longer an emerging growth company. Section 107 of the JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of the extended transition period afforded by the JOBS Act for the implementation of new or revised accounting standards. We have elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards and, as a result of this election, our financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with public company effective dates. We may take advantage of these exemptions up until December 31, 2026, the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of our initial public offering or such earlier time that we are no longer an emerging growth company. We would cease to be an emerging growth company if we have more than \$1.07 billion in annual gross revenue, we have more than \$700.0 million in market value of our Class A stock held by non-affiliates (and we have been a public company for at least 12 months and have filed one annual report on Form 10-K) or we issue more than \$1.0 billion of non-convertible debt securities over a three-year period.

## ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. These risks include the following:

## Interest Rate Risk

As of June 30, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of \$207.3 million and a revolving line of credit of up to \$40.0 million with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., under which we had no amounts outstanding. Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash held in financial institutions within the United States and internationally and cash in transit from third-party credit card providers. Borrowings under the revolving line of credit bear interest at variable rates. We are exposed to market risk relating to changes in interest rates as they can affect the amount of interest income we earn on our cash and cash equivalents and the amount of interest payments we make on our debt borrowings. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes and have not used any derivative financial instruments to manage our interest rate risk exposure. As of June 30, 2022, a hypothetical 10% change in interest rates would not have resulted in a material impact to our condensed consolidated financial statements.

# Foreign Currency Risk

Our condensed consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars and the functional currency of our international subsidiaries is generally the applicable local currency. Accordingly, our results of operations are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the Chinese yuan, British pound, Japanese yen, euro, Korean won, and Vietnamese dong. Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may cause us to recognize transaction gains and losses in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. As the impact of foreign currency exchange rates has not been material to our historical results of operations, we have not entered into derivative or hedging transactions, but we may do so in the future if our exposure to foreign currency becomes more significant. As of June 30, 2022, a hypothetical 10% change in the relative value of the U.S. dollar to other currencies would not have had a material effect on our results of operations.

Foreign currency exchange differences which arise on translation of our international subsidiaries' balance sheets into U.S. dollars are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders' equity on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, we recorded other comprehensive loss of \$3.4 million and \$4.1 million, respectively, and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021, we recorded other comprehensive income of \$1.6 million and other comprehensive loss of \$0.3 million, respectively, as a result of foreign currency translation adjustments.

## Inflation Risk

Inflationary factors such as increases in the cost of our products and overhead costs may adversely affect our results of operations. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, our gross margin was impacted by higher freight costs compared to the same periods in 2021 which we believe was as a result of inflation due, in part, to global supply chain disruptions. We continue to monitor the impact of inflation on raw materials, freight, labor, rent, and other costs in order to minimize its effects through price increases and cost reductions. A high rate of inflation in the future may have an adverse effect on our ability to maintain current levels of gross margin and selling, general, and administrative expenses as a percentage of net revenue if the selling prices of our products do not increase in proportion with these increased costs.

# ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

## Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain "disclosure controls and procedures," as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and (2) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated, as of the period ended June 30, 2022, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

# Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2022 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting.

# Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company have been detected. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of

# Table of Contents

future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

#### PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

# ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings, claims, and government investigations in the ordinary course of business. We have received, and may in the future continue to receive, claims arising from: our products, such as consumer claims and personal injury claims; our workforce, our technology, and business processes, such as worker classification and patent claims; our sustainability and ESG practices, statements, and goals; and our intellectual property, such as trademarks and copyright infringement claims. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, harm to our brand and reputation, and other factors.

## ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

A description of the risks and uncertainties associated with our business is set forth below. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including our condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Part I, Item 1, and the section titled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" included in Part I, Item 2. The occurrence of any of the events or developments described below could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects. In such an event, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe are not material may also impair our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.

# Risks Related to Our Business, Brand, Products, and Industry

Economic uncertainty in our key markets may affect consumer purchases of discretionary items, which has affected and may continue to adversely affect demand for our products.

Our products may be considered discretionary items for consumers. Factors affecting the level of consumer spending for such discretionary items include general economic conditions and other factors such as interest rates, consumer confidence in future economic conditions, fears of recession and trade wars, the availability and cost of consumer credit, the availability and timing of government stimulus programs, levels of unemployment, and tax rates. As global economic conditions continue to be volatile or economic uncertainty remains, particularly in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, and with increasing inflation and interest rates, trends in consumer discretionary spending also remain unpredictable and subject to reductions as a result of significant increases in unemployment, financial market instability, uncertainties about the future, and other factors. Unfavorable economic conditions have led and in the future may lead consumers to delay or reduce purchases of our products. Consumer demand for our products may also decline as a result of store closures, an economic downturn, or economic uncertainty in our key markets, particularly in North America, Europe, and Asia. For example, Russia's invasion of Ukraine in 2022 and the resulting humanitarian crisis has had an indirect impact on our business via the impact of inflation on European consumer spending. As the adverse effects of this conflict continue to develop, both in Europe and throughout the rest of the world, consumer spending may continue to be negatively impacted. Our sensitivity to economic cycles and any related fluctuation in consumer demand may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

# The COVID-19 pandemic has had, and may in the future continue to have, a material adverse impact on our business.

The COVID-19 pandemic and the travel restrictions, quarantines, and other related public health measures and actions taken by governments and the private sector have adversely affected global economies, financial markets, and the overall environment for our business, and the extent to which it may continue to impact our results of operations and overall financial performance remains uncertain. The global macroeconomic effects of the pandemic may persist indefinitely, even after the pandemic has subsided.

The pandemic created significant disruptions for our physical stores, with the majority of our stores closed between late March 2020 through July 2020 (with the exception of a limited number of locations in the Asia Pacific region), as well as reduced operating hours and restricted guest occupancy levels. Across all of 2020, our stores were closed for approximately 20% of the total number of days we expected to operate. In 2021, a majority of our stores were open throughout the year, with certain regions experiencing closures on a periodic basis, such as Europe, where some of our stores were closed for a portion of the quarter ended March 31, 2021, and New Zealand, where our store was closed for a portion of the quarter ended December 31, 2021. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, COVID-19 restrictions in China also created a challenging environment for our operations in the country. As of June 30, 2022, the vast majority of our retail stores around the world remained open. In locations where there are local restrictions, our stores have continued to operate where possible, subject to staffing considerations, guest occupancy levels, and government orders related to operating hours.

In March 2020, we also closed the majority of our corporate offices and other facilities, including our corporate headquarters in San Francisco, and implemented a work from home policy for many of our corporate employees. This policy may negatively impact productivity and cause other disruptions to our business. We gradually reopened our closed corporate offices in a phased approach over the course of 2020 and into 2021, and are continuing to evaluate and update our "return to office" policies in light of our concern for the health and safety of our team members and the recommendations of government and health authorities. As of April 2022, however, our U.S. corporate employees have returned to the office on a hybrid schedule.

COVID-19 and related governmental reactions have had and may continue to have a negative impact on our financial condition, business, and results of operations due to the occurrence of some or all of the following events or circumstances, among others:

- our and our third-party suppliers', contract manufacturers', logistics providers', and other business partners' inability to operate worksites at full capacity or at all, including manufacturing facilities and shipping and fulfillment centers as well as our retail stores, whether due to employee illness, reluctance to appear at work, or "stay-at-home" regulations;
- our inability to meet consumer demand and delays in the delivery of our products to our customers, resulting in reputational harm and damaged customer relationships;
- inventory shortages caused by a combination of increased demand that has been difficult to predict with accuracy, and longer lead-times and materials shortages in the manufacturing of our products, due to work restrictions related to COVID-19, shut-down or disruption of international suppliers, import/export conditions such as port congestion, and local government orders;
- interruptions in manufacturing (including the sourcing of key materials) and shipment and delivery of our products (including due to material delays with the U.S. Postal Service, FedEx, UPS, and other shipping and delivery providers);
- our inability to manage our business effectively due to employees (including key employees and retail staff) becoming ill;
- increased hiring challenges with respect to recruiting retail employees due to the risks posed by COVID-19 (including increased potential exposure to the virus);
- limitations preventing our executives and other key personnel from traveling for business purposes;
- disruptions of the operations of our third-party suppliers, which could impact our ability to purchase materials at favorable prices and in sufficient
  amounts;
- increases in administrative and compliance costs resulting from dynamic and rapidly changing governmental rules, regulations, and guidance regarding workplace health and safety;
- longer wait times and delayed responses to customer support inquiries and requests;

- increased rates of post-purchase order cancellation as a result of longer delivery lead times and delivery reschedules;
- decreased revenue and increased return rates due to a decrease in consumer discretionary spending;
- our commitment to our employees, or our "flock," which led us to continue employing and paying wages and providing benefits to our retail store
  employees during the COVID-19 pandemic, even when our retail stores were closed;
- increases in shipping, logistics, freight, labor, and/or storage costs; and
- significant increases to employee health care and benefits costs.

The scope and duration of the pandemic, including resurgences in various regions in the United States and globally due to new variants of the virus, the pace at which government restrictions are lifted, the pace, availability, and effectiveness of vaccinations in various regions in the United States and globally, or whether additional actions may be taken to contain the virus, the impact on our customers and suppliers, the speed and extent to which markets fully recover from the disruptions caused by the pandemic, and the impact of these factors on our business will depend on future developments that are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence. It is possible that changes in economic conditions and steps taken by the federal government and the Federal Reserve in response to the COVID-19 pandemic could lead to higher inflation than we had anticipated, which could in turn lead to an increase in our cost of revenue and other operating expenses. In addition, to the extent COVID-19 adversely affects our operations and global economic conditions more generally, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described herein.

While we believe that the long-term fundamentals of our business are largely unchanged and anticipate that our results of operations in future years will begin to reflect a more normal operating environment, the current economic and public health climate has created a high degree of uncertainty. As such, we continue to closely monitor this global health crisis and will continue to reassess our strategy and operational structure on a regular, ongoing basis as the situation evolves. See Part I, Item 2. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Position and Results of Operations" for more details on the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and associated economic disruptions, and the actual operational and financial impacts that we have experienced to date.

One factor in our success is the strength of our brand; if we are unable to maintain and enhance the value and reputation of our brand and/or counter any negative publicity, we may be unable to sell our products, which would harm our business and could materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

The Allbirds brand is integral to our business strategy and our ability to attract and engage customers. As a result, our success depends on our ability to maintain and enhance the value and reputation of the Allbirds brand. Maintaining, promoting, and positioning our brand will depend largely on the success of our design and marketing efforts, including advertising and consumer campaigns, as well as our product innovation, product quality, and sustainability initiatives. Our commitment to product innovation, quality, and sustainability and our continuing investment in design (including materials) and marketing efforts may not have the desired impact on our brand image and reputation.

We rely on social media, as one of our marketing strategies, to have a positive impact on both our brand value and reputation. Our brand also depends on our ability to maintain a positive consumer perception of our corporate integrity, culture, mission, vision, and values, including our status as a Delaware public benefit corporation, or PBC, and our commitment to environmental conservation and sustainability. Any actions or any public statements or social media posts about Allbirds or our products by our customers, consumers who have not yet bought our products, our current or former employees, current or former Allgood Collective Ambassadors (which is what we call the community of influencers whom we engage to help promote our brand), celebrities, or other public figures, whether authorized or not, that are contrary to our values may negatively affect consumer perception of our brand. Any incidents involving our company, our suppliers or manufacturers, our Allgood Collective Ambassadors or others, or the products we sell, could erode the trust and confidence of our customers, and damage the strength of

our brand, especially if such incidents result in adverse publicity, governmental investigations, product recalls, or litigation.

Our brand and reputation could be adversely affected by any number of factors or events, including if our public image is tarnished by negative publicity due to our actions or those of persons associated with us or formerly associated with us (including employees, Allgood Collective Ambassadors, celebrities, or others who speak publicly or post on social media about our brand or our products, whether authorized or not), if it becomes difficult for us to maintain control of our brand with our retail partners, if we fail to deliver innovative and high quality products, if we face or mishandle a product recall, or if we are subject to claims of "greenwashing" (e.g., if the carbon footprint of one or more of our products is alleged to be greater than what we claim, or if we fail or are alleged to have failed to achieve our sustainability goals). Our brand and reputation could also be negatively impacted by adverse publicity, whether or not valid, regarding allegations that we, or persons associated with us or formerly associated with us, have violated applicable laws or regulations, including but not limited to those related to product labeling and safety, marketing, employment, discrimination, harassment, whistle-blowing, privacy, corporate citizenship, improper business practices, or cybersecurity. Negative publicity regarding our suppliers or manufacturers could adversely affect our reputation and sales and could force us to identify and engage alternative suppliers or manufacturers. Additionally, while we devote considerable efforts and resources to protecting our intellectual property, if these efforts are not successful, the value of our brand may be harmed. Any harm to our brand and reputation could adversely affect our ability to attract and engage customers and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, the importance of our brand may increase to the extent we experience increased competition, which could require additional expenditures on our brand promotion activities. Maintaining and enhancing our brand image also may require us to make additional investments in areas such as merchandising, marketing, and online operations. These investments may be substantial and may not ultimately be successful.

# We have incurred significant net losses since inception and anticipate that we will continue to incur losses for the foreseeable future.

We incurred net losses of \$45.4 million and \$25.9 million in 2021 and 2020, respectively, and had an accumulated deficit of \$188.6 million as of June 30, 2022. We expect to continue to incur significant losses in the future. We will need to generate and sustain increased revenue levels in future periods to achieve profitability, and even if we achieve profitability, we may not be able to maintain or increase our level of profitability. We anticipate that our operating expenses will increase substantially for the foreseeable future as we continue to, among other things:

- expand our product and style mix;
- invest in new materials innovation and technology;
- focus on sustainable and environmentally friendly practices in our supply chain (which are often more expensive than traditional alternatives);
- invest in advertising and marketing initiatives to engage existing and new customers, enhance awareness of our brand, and grow market share;
- extend our retail store fleet;
- invest in the overall health and well-being of our employees;
- address increased competition;
- · recruit and retain talent; and
- incur significant accounting, legal, and other expenses as a public company that we did not incur as a private company.

These expenditures will make it more difficult for us to achieve and maintain profitability. Our efforts to grow our business may be more costly than we expect or may not result in the returns we anticipate, and we may not be able to increase our revenue enough to offset our higher operating expenses. If we are forced to reduce our expenses, it could negatively impact our growth and growth strategy. As a result, we can provide no assurance as to whether or when we will achieve profitability. If we are not able to achieve and maintain profitability, the value of our company and our Class A common stock could decline significantly.

We operate in a highly competitive market and the size and resources of some of our competitors may allow them to compete more effectively than we can, which could result in a loss of our market share and a decrease in our net revenue and profitability.

The market for footwear and apparel is highly competitive. Our competitors include athletic and leisure footwear companies, as well as athletic and leisure apparel companies. We also compete directly against wholesalers and direct retailers of footwear and apparel, including large, diversified apparel companies with substantial market share and established companies expanding their production and marketing of technical footwear, as well as against retailers specifically focused on footwear. Competition may result in pricing pressures, reduced profit margins, lost market share, or a failure to grow or maintain our market share, any of which could substantially harm our business and results of operations. Many of our competitors are large apparel companies with strong worldwide brand recognition, while others are new market participants with low barriers to entry. Because of the fragmented nature of the industry, we also compete with other apparel sellers, including those specializing in athletic footwear and other casual footwear. Many of our competitors have significant competitive advantages, including longer operating histories, larger and broader customer bases, more established relationships with a broader set of suppliers, greater brand recognition, and greater financial, research and development, store development, marketing, distribution, and other resources than we do.

# We rely on technical and materials innovation to offer high-quality products.

Technical and materials innovation and quality control in the design and manufacturing process of our footwear and apparel is essential to the commercial success of our products. Research and development play a key role in technical innovation. We rely upon specialists in the fields of materials sciences, sustainability, and related fields. While we strive to produce products that are comfortable and environmentally sustainable, if we fail to introduce technical and materials innovation in our products, then consumer demand for our products could decline and we may be unable to meet our sustainability goals, which could harm our brand and reputation, and if we experience problems with the quality of our products, we may incur substantial expense to remedy the problems.

Our focus on using sustainable materials and environmentally friendly manufacturing processes and supply chain practices may increase our cost of revenue and hinder our growth.

We are dedicated to prioritizing sustainable materials, an environmentally friendly supply chain, and manufacturing processes that collectively limit our carbon footprint. As our business expands, it may be increasingly challenging to cost-effectively secure enough sustainably sourced materials to support our growth and achieve our sustainability goals while also achieving and maintaining profitability. In addition, our ability to expand into new product categories depends in part on our ability to identify new sustainable materials that are suitable for our products. Our inability to source materials that meet our sustainability requirements in sufficient volumes could result in slower growth, increased costs, and/or lower net profits. Additionally, as our business expands, we may not be able to identify suppliers and manufacturers with business practices that reflect our commitment to sustainability, which may harm our ability to expand our supply chain to meet the expected growth of our business. If any of these factors prevent us from meeting our sustainability goals or increase the carbon footprint of any our products, then it could have an adverse effect on our brand, reputation, results of operations, and financial condition.

If we fail to attract new customers, retain existing customers, or maintain or increase sales to customers, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects will be harmed.

Our success depends in large part upon widespread adoption of our products by our customers. In order to attract new customers and continue to expand our customer base, we must appeal to and attract customers who identify with our sustainable footwear and apparel products. If the number of people who are willing to purchase our

products does not continue to increase, if we fail to deliver a high quality shopping experience, if our retail partnerships are not successful, if we make products that our customers do not buy in sufficient quantities, or if our current or potential future customers are not convinced that our products are superior to alternatives, then our ability to retain existing customers, acquire new customers, and grow our business may be harmed. For example, since the launch of our first generation of apparel products, our customers have not purchased certain of these products in sufficient quantities, and, in the second quarter of 2022, we determined that we needed to adjust our overall apparel strategy. As a result, we recognized an \$11.6 million non-cash inventory writedown in our condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss, primarily related to these certain first-generation apparel products.

We have made significant investments in enhancing our brand and attracting new customers, and we expect to continue to make significant investments to promote our products. Such campaigns can be expensive and may not result in new customers or increased sales of our products. Further, as our brand becomes more widely known, we may not attract new customers or increase our net revenue at the same rates as we have in the past. If we are unable to acquire new customers who purchase products in numbers sufficient to grow our business, we may not be able to generate the scale necessary to drive beneficial network effects with our suppliers, our net revenue may decrease, and our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.

In addition, our future success depends in part on our ability to increase sales to our existing customers over time, as a significant portion of our net revenue is generated from sales to existing customers, particularly those existing customers who are highly engaged and make frequent and/or large purchases of the products we offer. If existing customers no longer find our products appealing or are not satisfied with our customer service, or if we are unable to timely update our products to meet current trends and customer demands, our existing customers may not make purchases, or if they do, they may make fewer or smaller purchases in the future.

If we are unable to continue to attract new customers or our existing customers decrease their spending on the products we offer or fail to make repeat purchases of our products, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects will be harmed.

Climate change and increased focus by governments, organizations, customers, and investors on sustainability issues, including those related to climate change and socially responsible activities, may adversely affect our reputation, business, and financial results.

Climate change is occurring around the world and may impact our business in numerous ways. Such change could lead to an increase in prices of raw materials, commodities, and/or packaging, as well as reduced availability of key manufacturing components. Increased frequency of extreme weather, such as storms, hurricanes, and floods, could cause increased disruption to the production and distribution of our products and have an adverse impact on consumer demand and spending.

Investor advocacy groups, certain institutional investors, investment funds, other market participants, stockholders, and stakeholders have focused increasingly on the environmental, social, and governance, or ESG, and related sustainability practices of companies. These parties have placed increased importance on the implications of the social cost of their investments. In addition to our status as a PBC and certified B Corporation, or B Corp, we are focused on being an ESG leader in our industry. If our ESG practices do not meet investor or other stakeholder expectations and standards (which are continually evolving and may emphasize different priorities than the ones we choose to focus on), or if our ESG practices do not live up to our own values or ESG- and sustainability-related goals, then our brand, reputation, and employee retention may be negatively impacted. It is possible that stakeholders may not be satisfied with our ESG practices or the speed of their adoption. We could also incur additional costs and require additional resources to monitor, report, and comply with various ESG practices and regulations and to achieve our sustainability goals. Also, our failure, or perceived failure, to manage reputational threats and meet expectations with respect to socially responsible activities and sustainability commitments could negatively impact our brand credibility, employee retention, and the willingness of our customers and suppliers to do business with us.

If we are unable to anticipate product trends and consumer preferences and successfully develop and introduce new products, we may not be able to maintain or increase our revenue and profits.

Our success depends on our ability to identify, originate, and define product trends within the footwear and apparel industry, as well as to anticipate, gauge, and react to changing consumer preferences in a timely manner. However, lead times for many of our products, including due to global supply chain interruptions, may make it more difficult for us to respond rapidly to new or changing product trends or consumer preferences. For example, our lead times may be longer due to our preference for ocean shipping and other more sustainable supply chain practices to reduce carbon emissions, which may take longer and be more expensive than less sustainable alternatives. If we are unable to introduce new products in a timely manner, or our new products are not accepted by our customers, our competitors may introduce similar products in a more timely fashion, which could hurt our goal to be viewed as a leader in comfortable and sustainable footwear and apparel. All of our products are subject to changing consumer preferences regarding footwear and apparel, generally, and sustainable footwear and apparel, specifically, that cannot be predicted with certainty. Our new products may not receive consumer acceptance as consumer preferences could shift rapidly to different types of styles and our future success depends in part on our ability to anticipate and respond to these changes. For example, during the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been a shift of consumer preferences to more casual and informal apparel and footwear as greater numbers of consumers have shifted to working remotely from home. In addition, our experience in anticipating consumer preferences in one category, such as footwear, may not help us predict or anticipate consumer preferences in other new categories, such as apparel. For example, we did not successfully anticipate customer demand and preferences in designing and launching certain of our first-generation apparel products. As a result, demand for such products has failed to meet our expectations and, in the second quarter of 2022, we determined that we needed to adjust our overall apparel strategy and recognized an \$11.6 million non-cash inventory write-down in our condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, primarily related to these certain first-generation apparel products. If we fail to anticipate accurately and respond to trends and shifts in consumer preferences, we could experience lower sales, excess inventories, inventory write-offs or write-downs, or lower profit margins, any of which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

We utilize a range of marketing, advertising, and other initiatives to increase existing customers' spend and to acquire new customers; if the costs of advertising or marketing increase, or if our initiatives fail to achieve their desired impact, we may be unable to grow the business profitably.

We create differentiated brand marketing content and utilize performance marketing to drive customers from awareness to consideration to conversion, and promoting awareness of our brand and products is important to our ability to grow our business, drive customer engagement, and attract new customers. Our marketing strategy includes brand marketing campaigns across platforms, including email, digital, display, site, direct-mail, streaming audio, television, social media, and our Allgood Collective, as well as performance marketing efforts, including retargeting, paid search and product listing advertisements, paid social media advertisements, search engine optimization, personalized emails, and mobile push notifications through our app. In addition, our marketing strategy is global in scale, reaching consumers in the 36 countries where we sell our products.

We seek to engage with our customers and build awareness of our brands through sponsoring unique events and experiences. If our marketing efforts and messaging are not appropriately tailored to and accepted by our target customers, we may fail to attract customers, and our brand and reputation may be harmed. In addition, our marketing initiatives may become increasingly expensive as competition increases, and generating a meaningful return on those initiatives may be difficult. Our future growth and profitability and the success of our brand will depend in part upon the effectiveness and efficiency of these marketing efforts.

We receive a significant amount of visits to our digital platform via social media or other channels used by our existing and prospective customers. As eCommerce and social media continue to rapidly evolve, we must continue to establish relationships with these channels and may be unable to develop or maintain these relationships on acceptable economic and other terms. In addition, we currently receive a significant number of visits to our website and mobile app via search engine results. Search engines frequently change the algorithms that determine the ranking and display of results of a user's search, which could reduce the number of visits to our website, in turn reducing new customer acquisition and adversely affecting our results of operations. If we are unable to cost-

effectively drive traffic to our digital platform, our ability to acquire new customers and our financial condition would suffer. Email marketing efforts are also important to our marketing efforts. If we are unable to successfully deliver emails to our customers or if customers do not engage with our emails, whether out of choice, because those emails are marked as low priority or spam, or for other reasons, our business could be adversely affected. Our marketing initiatives may become increasingly expensive, and generating a meaningful return on those initiatives may be difficult or unpredictable. Even if we successfully increase net revenue as a result of our marketing efforts, it may not offset the additional marketing expenses we incur.

If our marketing efforts are not successful in promoting awareness of our products, driving customer engagement, or attracting new customers, or if we are not able to cost-effectively manage our marketing expenses, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

# Failure to accurately forecast consumer demand could lead to excess inventories or inventory shortages, which could result in decreased operating margins, reduced cash flows, and harm to our business.

To meet anticipated demand for our products, we must forecast inventory needs and place orders with our manufacturers based on our estimates of future demand for particular products. Our ability to accurately forecast demand for our products could be affected by many factors, including an increase or decrease in customer demand for our products or for products of our competitors, changing consumer preferences, changing product trends, our failure to accurately forecast consumer acceptance of new products, product introductions by competitors, unanticipated changes in general market conditions, store closures (including, for example, due to the COVID-19 pandemic), and weakening of economic conditions or consumer confidence in future economic conditions. If we fail to accurately forecast consumer demand, we may experience excess inventory levels or a shortage of products available for sale in our stores or for delivery to customers.

Inventory levels in excess of customer demand may result in inventory write-downs, inventory write-offs, donations by us of our unsold products, and/or the sale of excess inventory at discounted prices, any of which could cause our gross margin to suffer, impair the strength and exclusivity of our brand, and have an adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows. For example, we have in the past donated excess unsold products to third parties and sold certain of our products at discounted prices through our own channels and certain third-party retailers. Additionally, for the three months ended June 30, 2022, we recognized a non-cash inventory write-down, primarily for certain first-generation apparel products.

Conversely, if we underestimate customer demand for our products and fail to place sufficient orders with our manufacturers in advance, then our manufacturers may not be able to deliver products to meet our requirements and we may experience inventory shortages. Inventory shortages in our stores or third-party distribution centers could result in delayed shipments to customers, lost sales, a negative customer experience, lower brand loyalty, and damage to our reputation and customer relationships, any of which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows.

## As a company that operates retail stores, we are subject to various risks, including commercial real estate and labor and employment risks.

As of June 30, 2022, we operated approximately 46 retail store locations across nine countries. We lease our stores under operating leases. We expect to significantly increase the total number of stores we operate over the next few years, domestically and internationally.

Our ability to effectively obtain real estate to open new retail stores, both domestically and internationally, depends on the availability of real estate that meets our criteria for traffic, square footage, co-tenancies, lease economics, demographics, and other factors. We also must be able to effectively renew our existing real estate leases. In addition, from time to time, we seek to downsize, consolidate, reposition, or close some of our real estate locations, which may require modification of an existing lease. We generally cannot cancel these leases at our option. For example, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, across all of 2020, our stores were closed for approximately 20% of the total number of days we expected to operate. During this period, our stores were not generating any revenue, but we were generally required to continue paying rent. Similarly, if an existing or new store is not profitable, and we decide to close it, we may nonetheless be committed to perform our obligations under the

applicable lease including, among other things, paying the base rent for the balance of the lease term. Similarly, we may be committed to perform our obligations under the applicable leases even if current locations of our stores become unattractive as demographic patterns change. Failure to secure adequate new locations or successfully modify leases for existing locations, or failure to effectively manage the profitability of our existing fleet of retail stores, could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Additionally, the economic environment may make it difficult to determine the fair market rent of real estate properties domestically and internationally. This could impact the quality of our decisions to exercise lease options at previously negotiated rents and to renew expiring leases at negotiated rents. Any adverse effect on the quality of these decisions could impact our ability to retain real estate locations adequate to meet our targets or efficiently manage the profitability of our existing fleet of stores, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

As of June 30, 2022, we had approximately 633 employees in our retail store operations. As a result, we are subject to costs and risks related to compliance with labor and employment laws and regulations, which could cause our business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows to suffer.

We have significant exposure to changes in domestic and foreign laws governing our relationships with our workforce, including wage and hour laws and regulations, fair labor standards, minimum wage requirements, overtime pay, unemployment tax rates, workers' compensation rates, pension contributions, citizenship requirements, and payroll taxes, which could have a direct impact on our operating costs. These laws change frequently, exist at multiple levels with respect to a single physical location (e.g., federal, state, and local) and may be difficult to interpret and apply.

A significant increase in minimum wage or overtime rates in countries where we have employees could have a significant impact on our operating costs and may require that we take steps to mitigate such increases, all of which may cause us to incur additional costs. There is also a risk of potential claims related to discrimination and harassment, health and safety, wage and hour laws, criminal activity, personal injury, and other claims. In addition, if a large portion of our workforce were to become members of labor organizations or parties to collective bargaining agreements, we could be vulnerable to a strike, work stoppage, or other labor action, which could have an adverse effect on our business. Our business operations and financial performance could be adversely affected by changes in our relationship with our workforce or changes to U.S. or foreign labor and employment laws and regulations.

# We may be unable to successfully open new store locations in existing or new geographies in a timely manner, if at all, which could harm our results of operations.

Our growth will largely depend on our ability to successfully open and operate new stores, which depends on many factors, including, among others, our ability to:

- identify suitable store locations, the availability of which is outside of our control and may require expensive and long-term lease obligations;
- gain brand recognition and acceptance, particularly in geographies or regions that are new to us;
- negotiate acceptable lease terms;
- hire, train, and retain store personnel and field management who possess the required customer service and other skills and who share our commitment to sustainability;
- invest sufficient capital in store build-out and opening;
- immerse new store personnel and field management into our corporate culture and shared values;
- · source sufficient inventory levels; and
- successfully integrate new stores into our existing operations and information technology systems.

We may be unsuccessful in identifying new markets where our sustainable footwear and apparel products and brand image will be accepted. In addition, we may not be able to open or profitably operate new stores in existing, adjacent, or new locations due to market saturation and/or other macro conditions (e.g., the impact of COVID-19).

# Our growth strategy involves expansion of our retail partnerships, which presents risks and challenges to our business.

In 2022, we began entering into broad-based partnerships with third-party retailers, and we have limited operating experience executing this channel distribution strategy at scale. This strategy has required, and will continue to require, investment in cross-functional operations and management focus, along with investment in logistics, channel management, supporting technologies, and headcount.

If our retail partners do not satisfy their obligations to us, if we are unable to meet our retail partners' expectations and demands, or if we decide to enter into additional partnerships and are unable to identify suitable retail partners or reach agreements with them, we may fail to meet our business objectives with respect to our partnership strategy. In addition, the terms of any additional retail partnerships that we establish may not be favorable to us. Our inability to successfully implement retail partnerships may lead consumers to negatively perceive our brand and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Also, in most cases, our agreements with such third-party retailers allow for significant variability in the amount of product purchased from us, and there are risks that eventual order volumes may be lower than initially projected. There can be no assurance that we will be able to continue our relationships with our retail partners on the same or more favorable terms in future periods or that these relationships will continue beyond the terms of our existing contracts with our retail partners.

Further, our retail partners may reduce their number of stores or operations or consolidate, undergo restructurings or reorganizations, realign their affiliations, or promote products of our competitors over ours or liquidate. These events may result in a decrease in the number of stores or e-commerce platforms that carry our products or cause us to lose customers, decreasing our revenues and earnings growth.

Our business depends on our ability to maintain a strong community of engaged customers and Allgood Collective Ambassadors, including through the use of social media. We may be unable to maintain and enhance our brand if we experience negative publicity related to our marketing efforts or use of social media, we fail to maintain and grow our network of Allgood Collective Ambassadors, or otherwise fail to meet our customers' expectations.

As of June 30, 2022, we partnered with over 200 Ambassadors who were members of our Allgood Collective, which is intended to help raise awareness of our brand and engage with our community. Our ability to maintain relationships with our existing Allgood Collective Ambassadors and to identify new Ambassadors is critical to expanding and maintaining our customer base. As our market becomes increasingly competitive or as we expand internationally, recruiting, and maintaining new Ambassadors to join our Allgood Collective may become increasingly difficult. If we are not able to develop and maintain strong relationships with our Ambassador network, our ability to promote and maintain awareness of our brand may be adversely affected. Further, if we incur excessive expenses in this effort, our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely affected.

We and our Allgood Collective Ambassadors use third-party social media platforms to raise awareness of our brand and engage with our community. As existing social media platforms evolve and new platforms develop, we and our Allgood Collective Ambassadors must continue to maintain a presence on these platforms and establish a presence on emerging popular social media platforms. If we are unable to cost-effectively use social media platforms as marketing tools, our ability to acquire new customers and our financial condition may suffer. Furthermore, as laws and regulations governing the use of these platforms evolve, any failure by us, our Allgood Collective Ambassadors, or third parties acting at our direction to abide by applicable laws and regulations in the use of these platforms could subject us to regulatory investigations, class action lawsuits, liability, fines, or other penalties and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, an increase in the use of social media for product promotion and marketing may cause an increase in the burden on us to monitor compliance

of such content and increase the risk that such content could contain problematic product or marketing claims in violation of applicable regulations.

Allgood Collective Ambassadors may engage in behavior or use their online presence or personal image in a manner that reflects poorly on our brand or is in violation of applicable regulations or platform terms of service, and that may be attributed to us. Negative commentary regarding us, our products, or Allgood Collective Ambassadors and other third parties who are affiliated with us, whether accurate or not, may be posted on social media platforms at any time and may adversely affect our reputation, brand, and business. The harm may be immediate, without affording us an opportunity for redress or correction, and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

In addition, customer complaints or negative publicity related to our website, mobile app, products, product delivery times, customer data handling, marketing efforts, security practices, or customer support, especially on blogs and social media websites, could diminish customer loyalty and community engagement and harm our brand and business.

If we continue to grow at a rapid pace, we may be unable to effectively manage our growth and the increased complexity of our business and, as a result, our brand, business, and financial performance may suffer.

We have expanded our operations rapidly since our inception in 2015, and our net revenue has increased from \$92.8 million in the six months ended June 30, 2020 to \$140.9 million in the six months ended June 30, 2022. If our operations continue to grow at a rapid pace, we may experience difficulties in obtaining sufficient raw materials and manufacturing capacity to produce our products, as well as delays in production and shipments, as our products are subject to risks associated with overseas sourcing and manufacturing. We could be required to continue to expand our sales and marketing, product development, and distribution functions, invest in opening and operating a greater number of retail stores in our existing jurisdictions and/or in new jurisdictions, upgrade our management information systems and other processes and technology, and obtain more space for our expanding workforce. This expansion could increase the strain on our resources, expose us to legal and compliance risk across new jurisdictions, and cause us to experience operating difficulties, including difficulties in hiring, training, and managing an increasing number of employees, especially to the extent the growth in our "flock" exposes us to a greater number of jurisdictions' employment, health, and safety and other regulatory and compliance requirements. Any of these or other difficulties in effectively managing our growth and the increased complexity of our business could result in the erosion of our brand image which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

# Our financial results may be adversely affected if substantial investments in businesses and operations, including in our retail stores, fail to produce expected returns.

From time to time, we may invest in technology, business infrastructure, new businesses, product offerings, and manufacturing innovation and expansion of existing businesses, such as our recent expansion of sales outside of the United States, which require substantial cash investments and management attention. We expect to invest substantially in expanding the number and geographic reach of our retail stores in the short- and mid-term. We believe cost-effective investments are essential to business growth and profitability; however, significant investments are subject to typical risks and uncertainties inherent in developing a new business or expanding an existing business. The failure of any significant investment to provide expected returns or profitability could have a material adverse effect on our financial results and divert management attention from more profitable business operations.

# We are subject to risks related to our ESG activities and disclosures, and our reputation and brand could be harmed if we fail to meet our public sustainability targets and goals.

In 2020, we began making our carbon footprint calculations available for our products. In 2021, we announced a highly ambitious sustainability strategy in service of our aim to help to reverse climate change through better business. Our sustainability strategy has three strategic priorities: (1) Regenerative Agriculture, (2) Renewable Materials, and (3) Responsible Energy. These priorities are underpinned by 10 targets, which we intend to achieve by the end of 2025, or the 2025 Targets. In addition, we have announced a goal to reduce our per-unit carbon emissions to less than 1 kg of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions by 2030, or the 2030 Goal. We are aligning our

ESG disclosures with the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board and Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosure frameworks, and we anticipate continuing to make ESG disclosures and expanding the number of disclosures we make over time.

While our sustainability strategy and practices and the level of transparency with which we are approaching them are foundational to our business, they expose us to several risks, including:

- that we may fail or be unable to fully achieve one or more of the 2025 Targets or the 2030 Goal due to a range of factors within or beyond our control (including a failure for governments and other third parties to make the investments that are required to make infrastructure improvements, such as greater availability of cleaner energy grids), or that we may adjust or modify our stated goals in light of new information, adjusted projections, or a change in business strategy, any of which could negatively impact our brand, reputation, and business;
- that achieving the 2025 Targets and/or 2030 Goal may require us to expend significant resources, which could divert the attention of our senior management and key personnel, delay the time by which we can achieve profitability, harm us competitively, or otherwise limit our ability to make investments in our growth;
- that our disclosures related to ESG may result in heightened scrutiny from stakeholders or other third parties of our ESG performance, activities, and decisions;
- that a failure to or perception of a failure to disclose metrics and set goals that are rigorous enough or in an acceptable format, a failure to appropriately manage selection of goals, a failure to or perception of a failure to make appropriate disclosures, stakeholder perception of a failure to prioritize the "correct" ESG goals, or an unfavorable ESG-related rating by a third party could negatively impact our brand, reputation, and business;
- that certain metrics we utilize receive limited assurance from and/or verification by third parties, may involve a less rigorous review process than assurance sought in connection with more traditional audits, such a review process may not identify errors and may not protect us from potential liability under the securities laws, and, if we were to seek more extensive assurance or attestation with respect to such ESG metrics, we may be unable to obtain such assurance or attestation or may face increased costs related to obtaining and/or maintaining such assurance or attestation;
- that the third-party data used in our carbon footprint calculations are determined to be wrong or become unavailable to us for whatever reason, which would require us to find a new source of quality third-party data or develop our own, either of which could require significant resources, a temporary suspension of sharing a carbon footprint for each product, or an adjustment to carbon footprint numbers because of variations in the underlying data, and if our stakeholders react unfavorably to any such situation or we fail to adequately manage any transition, it could negatively impact our brand, reputation, and business;
- that the ESG or sustainability standards, norms, or metrics, which are constantly evolving, change in a manner that impacts us negatively or requires us to change the content or manner of our disclosures, and our stakeholders or third parties view such change(s) negatively, we are unable to adequately explain such changes, or we are required to expend significant resources to update our disclosures, any of which could negatively impact our brand, reputation, and business; and
- that our brand, reputation, and business could be negatively impacted if any of our disclosures, including our carbon footprint numbers, reporting
  to third-party ESG standards, or reporting against our 2025 Targets, 2030 Goal, or other goals, are inaccurate, perceived to be inaccurate, or
  alleged to be inaccurate.

# We are subject to risks related to our commitment to certain ESG criteria, which we call the Sustainability Principles and Objectives Framework, or the SPO Framework.

The SPO Framework, which consists of ESG criteria that we have satisfied or that we intend to satisfy, is described more fully in the section titled "The Sustainability Principles and Objectives Framework" in our final prospectus filed with the SEC on November 4, 2021 pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4). This is a new and untested framework, which was not developed solely by disinterested third parties but was developed with input from Allbirds and other partners. There is no basis for investors to, or track record by which investors can, assess the impact of the SPO Framework on our operations, financial condition, and the market price of our Class A common stock. Our adherence to the SPO Framework has resulted and may continue to result in additional costs to us in operating our business, including, for example, costs of the third-party ESG assessment, costs related to meeting the carbon emissions reduction target, etc. We may not meet all of the SPO Framework (or any part thereof) in the future. Further, any or all elements of the SPO Framework may be considered insufficient and/or unsatisfactory and/or the credibility of the SPO Framework may be disregarded entirely. Because we are committing publicly to the SPO Framework, if we fail to make meaningful progress on ESG practices and matters or to continue to report transparently across ESG practices and matters relating to the SPO Framework, our reputation could be harmed. We could also damage our reputation and the value of our brand if we fail to act responsibly in the areas in which we report or fail to demonstrate that our commitment to ESG principles enhances our overall financial performance. Any harm to our reputation resulting from our failure or perceived failure to meet the SPO Framework could also impact employee engagement and retention, the willingness of our supplier or manufacturers to do business with us, or investors' willingness to purchase or hold shares of our common stock, any of which could have a material and adverse effect on our business, res

# We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to predict our future results of operations, particularly in newer geographies.

We were founded in May 2015 and first sold our products in 2016. As a result of our limited operating history, our ability to accurately forecast our future results of operations is limited and subject to a number of uncertainties, including our ability to plan for and model future growth. Our historical revenue growth has been inconsistent, was derived from a more concentrated number of geographies, and should not be considered indicative of our future performance. Further, in future periods, our revenue growth could slow or our revenue could decline for a number of reasons, including a decline in demand for our products as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic or for other reasons, an increase in competition, a decrease in the growth of our overall market, our entry into new geographies where our prior operating history is less relevant or predictive, or our failure, for any reason, to continue to capitalize on growth opportunities. In addition, we regularly release new products and it is difficult to predict the commercial success of newly released products. We have also encountered, and will continue to encounter, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies in rapidly changing industries, such as the risks and uncertainties described herein. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties (which we use to plan our business) are incorrect or change due to changes in our market or the geographies where we operate and where we sell our products, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our operating and financial results could differ materially from our expectations, and our business could suffer.

# Our future success is substantially dependent on the continued service of our co-founders and co-Chief Executive Officers, as well as other senior management, and our ability to attract and retain talent.

We depend on the continued services and performance of our senior management and other key personnel, including Timothy Brown and Joseph Zwillinger, our co-founders and Co-Chief Executive Officers. Mr. Brown's and Mr. Zwillinger's employment with us is at-will, which means that they may resign or could be terminated for any reason at any time. Should either of them stop working for us for any reason, it is unlikely that the other co-founder would be able to fulfill the responsibilities of the departing co-founder, nor is it likely that we would be able to immediately find a suitable replacement. Our other senior management and key employees are also employed on an at-will basis. We currently do not have "key person" insurance on any of our employees. The loss of key personnel, including members of management, supply chain, innovation and sustainability, product development, marketing, and sales personnel, could disrupt our operations and seriously harm our business.

To successfully grow and operate our business and execute our strategic plans, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel. Competition for executives and highly skilled personnel is often intense, especially in Northern California, where our headquarters is located. In addition, starting in 2021 there has been a dramatic increase in workers leaving their positions throughout the U.S. economy that is being referred to as the "great resignation," and the market to build, retain, and replace talent has become even more highly competitive. As we become a more mature company, we may find our recruiting efforts more challenging. Many of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we have. The incentives to attract, retain, and motivate employees provided by our equity awards or by future arrangements, such as through cash bonuses, may not be as effective as our past incentives or as the current incentives offered by our competitors. We may not be successful in attracting, integrating, or retaining qualified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs. We may experience difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled employees with appropriate qualifications. Our recruiting efforts may also be limited or delayed by laws and regulations, such as restrictive immigration laws, and restrictions on travel or availability of visas (particularly during the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic). For example, as we expand into new geographies, we must navigate the recruiting and employment-related aspects of local rules and requirements in each such jurisdiction as part of our hiring plans. Similarly, our rate of employee attrition could be impacted by the pace and recovery of businesses and the job market once the COVID-19 pandemic subsides, the general health of the economy, the rate of unemployment, the perceived or actual mobility of our highly skilled employees who may be recruited away by our competitors, or our existing employees' preferences with respect to remote or "hybrid" working arrangements based on their experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic, which preferences may diverge from the nature and conditions of the roles we believe are most appropriate for our business once the COVID-19 pandemic subsides. If our employee attrition is higher than expected, we may find it difficult to fill our hiring needs without substantial

Failure to manage our employee base and hiring needs effectively, including successfully recruiting and integrating our new hires, or to retain and motivate our current personnel may adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Implementation of the simplification initiatives we announced in August 2022 may not be successful, which could negatively affect our ability to reduce our costs and increase our revenues or otherwise harm our financial performance.

In August 2022, we announced certain simplification initiatives designed to generate cost of revenue savings, streamline workflows, and lower operating costs as a result of external headwinds. These initiatives focus on reducing costs related to our supply chain and selling, general, and administrative expense. Our supply chain initiatives include reducing logistics costs in the United States by transitioning to automated distribution centers and a dedicated returns processor, optimizing inventory to accelerate logistics cost savings, and accelerating the scaling of our manufacturing base to reduce product carbon footprint and product costs over time. Our selling, general, and administrative expense initiatives include plans to reduce corporate office space and reduce corporate headcount. In addition, we have slowed the pace of corporate new hires and backfills for departing employees, and in July 2022 we reduced our global corporate workforce by approximately 8%. Although we believe that these initiatives will reduce overhead costs, enhance operational simplicity, and result in improved financial performance, we cannot guarantee that we will successfully implement these initiatives or that they will achieve or sustain the expected benefits, or that the benefits, even if achieved, will be adequate to meet our medium- or long-term financial and operational expectations.

Risks associated with the implementation of and continuing impact of these simplification initiatives also include additional unexpected costs and negative impacts on our cash flows from operations and liquidity, employee attrition and adverse effects on employee morale, diversion of management attention, adverse effects to our reputation as an employer, which could make it more difficult for us to hire new employees in the future, and potential failure or delays to meet operational and growth targets due to the loss of qualified employees. If we do not realize the expected benefits of these simplification initiatives, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows could be negatively impacted.

## If we cannot maintain our culture and values as we grow, our business could be harmed.

We believe that a critical component of our success has been our corporate culture and values. We have invested substantial time and resources in building our culture, which is rooted in innovation, teamwork, and achieving profit with purpose. Relatedly, we believe that our status as a PBC, our commitment to environmental conservation and sustainability, and our certified B Corp status, all of which are foundational aspects of our culture and values, distinguish us from our competitors and promote a relationship among our customers, partners, and employees founded on trust.

However, as we continue to grow, including geographically expanding our presence outside of our headquarters in San Francisco, California, and developing the infrastructure associated with being a public company, we face a number of challenges that may affect our ability to sustain our corporate culture and shared values, including:

- a need to identify, attract, reward, and retain people in key leadership positions in our organization who share and further our culture, values, mission, and public benefit objective;
- the increasing size and geographic diversity of our workforce, which may limit our ability to promote a uniform and consistent culture and set of shared values across all of our offices and employees globally;
- the wider array of alternative working arrangements we now permit or may in the future permit, including part-time or flexible roles, fully remote roles, or "hybrid" roles (where a mix of in-person and remote work is permitted);
- the costs of our employee health and well-being initiatives and other ESG investments, which are required to maintain our corporate culture and
  live up to our values, but which may be more expensive than our historical costs for these initiatives and investments or the costs of our
  competitors;
- the loss of our certified B Corp status;
- competitive pressures that may divert us from our mission, vision, and values, and may cause us to take actions that are contrary to, or that our workforce views as contrary to, our culture or values;
- our rapidly evolving industry; and
- the increasing need to develop expertise in new areas of business that affect us.

Any failure to preserve our corporate culture (or localize it authentically) or any failure to live up to our values as a company, particularly those related to environmental conservation and sustainability, could negatively affect our brand and reputation, harm our business, and limit our future success, including our ability to retain and recruit personnel and to effectively focus on and pursue our corporate objectives.

# Merchandise returns could harm our business.

We allow customers to return products under a return policy that we believe is more generous than the industry standard. For example, for footwear, we generally accept merchandise returns for full refund or exchange if returned within 30 days of the original purchase date. Our revenue is reported net of returns, discounts, and any taxes collected from customers and remitted to government authorities. We estimate an allowance for expected product returns based on historical return trends. Revenue is presented net of the sales return allowance, and the expected inventory right of recovery is presented as a reduction of cost of revenue. The introduction of new products, changes in customer confidence or shopping habits or other competitive and general economic conditions could cause actual returns to exceed our estimates. If actual return costs differ from previous estimates, the amount of the liability and corresponding revenue are adjusted in the period in which such costs occur. In addition, from time to time, our products may be damaged in transit, which can also increase return rates. Returned goods may also be damaged in transit as part of the return process which can impede our ability to resell the returned goods. From time to time, customers have abused our return policy by, for example, returning shoes that have been worn repeatedly for all or most of the 30-day return window and cannot be resold. Competitive pressures could cause us to alter our return policies or our shipping policies, which could result in an increase in damaged products and an increase in product

returns. If the rate of product returns increases significantly or if product return economics become less efficient, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be harmed.

Counterfeit or "knock-off" products, as well as products that are "inspired-by-Allbirds," may siphon off demand we have created for sustainable footwear and apparel, and may result in customer confusion, harm to our brand, a loss of our market share, and/or a decrease in our results of operations.

We face competition from counterfeit or "knock-off" products manufactured and sold by third parties in violation of our intellectual property rights, as well as from products that are inspired by our footwear in terms of sustainability, design, and style, including private label offerings by digital retailers. In the past, third parties have established websites to target users on Facebook or other social media platforms with "look alike" websites intended to trick users into believing that they were purchasing Allbirds shoes at a steep discount. Some individuals who actually made purchases from such "look alike" websites believed they had purchased from our actual website and subsequently submitted complaints to us.

These activities of third parties may result in customer confusion, require us to incur additional administrative costs to manage customer complaints related to counterfeit goods, divert customers from us, cause us to miss out on sales opportunities, and result in a loss of our market share. We could also be required to increase our marketing and advertising spend. If consumers are confused by these other products and believe them to be actual Allbirds, we could be forced to deal with dissatisfied customers who mistakenly blame us for poor service or poor-quality goods.

In addressing these or similar issues in the future, we may also be required to incur substantial expense to protect our brand and enforce our intellectual property rights, including through legal action in the United States or in foreign countries, which could negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition.

These and similar "counterfeit" or "inspired-by-Allbirds" issues could reoccur and could again result in customer confusion, harm to our brand, a loss of our market share, and/or a decrease in our results of operations.

We may seek to grow our business through acquisitions of, or investments in, new or complementary businesses, facilities, technologies, or products, or through strategic alliances; the failure to adequately manage these acquisitions, investments, or alliances, to integrate them with our existing business, or to realize anticipated returns, could adversely affect us.

From time to time, we may consider opportunities to acquire or make investments in new or complementary businesses, facilities, technologies, offerings, or products, or enter into strategic alliances, that may enhance our capabilities, expand our outsourcing and supplier network, complement our current products, or expand the breadth of our markets. Acquisitions, investments and other strategic alliances involve numerous risks, including:

- problems integrating the acquired business, facilities, technologies, or products, including issues maintaining uniform standards, procedures, controls, policies, and culture;
- unanticipated costs associated with acquisitions, investments, or strategic alliances;
- diversion of management's attention from our existing business;
- adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers, outsourced manufacturing partners, and other third parties;
- risks associated with entering new markets in which we may have limited or no experience;
- · potential loss of key employees of acquired businesses; and
- increased legal and accounting compliance costs.

We may be unable to identify acquisitions or strategic relationships we deem suitable. Even if we do, we may be unable to successfully complete any such transactions on favorable terms or at all, or to successfully integrate any acquired business, facilities, technologies, or products into our business or retain any key personnel, suppliers, or

customers. Furthermore, even if we complete such transactions and effectively integrate the newly acquired business or strategic alliance into our existing operations, we may fail to realize the anticipated returns and/or fail to capture the expected benefits, such as strategic or operational synergies or cost savings. The efforts required to complete and integrate these transactions could be expensive and time-consuming and may disrupt our ongoing business and prevent management from focusing on our operations. If we are unable to identify suitable acquisitions or strategic relationships, or if we are unable to integrate any acquired businesses, facilities, technologies, and products effectively, or if we fail to realize anticipated returns or capture expected benefits, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Certain of our key operating metrics are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and any real or perceived inaccuracies in such metrics or the underlying data may cause a loss of investor confidence in such metrics, and the market price of our Class A common stock may decline.

We track certain key operating metrics using internal and/or external data analytics tools, which have certain limitations, including, but not limited to, imperfect data collection (e.g., lack of emails and/or other identifiers for certain customers who purchase via our retail channels and do not supply such information). In addition, we rely on data received from third parties, including third-party platforms, to track certain performance indicators, and we may be limited in our ability to verify such data. In addition, our methodologies for tracking metrics may change over time, which could result in changes to the metrics we report. If we undercount or overcount performance due to the internal data analytics tools we use or issues with the data received from third parties, if our internal data analytics tools contain algorithmic or other technical errors, or if changes in access to third party data or external reporting standards require modifications to how we calculate certain operating metrics, the data we report may not be accurate or comparable with prior periods. In addition, limitations, changes, or errors with respect to how we measure data may affect our understanding of certain details of our business, which could affect our longer-term strategies. If our performance metrics are not, or are not perceived to be, accurate representations of our business, if we discover material inaccuracies in our metrics or the data on which such metrics are based, or if we can no longer calculate any of our key performance metrics with a sufficient degree of accuracy, investors could lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of such metrics, which could cause the price of our Class A common stock to decline.

# Our business is affected by seasonality.

Our business is affected by the general seasonal trends common to the retail footwear and apparel industry. As a result, historically, we have generated a higher proportion of net revenue, and incurred higher selling and marketing expenses, during the holiday season in the fourth quarter of the year compared to other quarters, and we expect these trends to continue. This seasonality may adversely affect our business and cause our results of operations to fluctuate.

# Risks Related to Our Supply Chain

## Our reliance on suppliers and manufacturers to provide materials for and to produce our products could cause problems in our supply chain.

We do not manufacture our products or the raw materials for them and rely instead on suppliers. Many of the materials used in our products are developed and manufactured by third parties and may be available, in the short-term, from only one or a very limited number of sources, some of whom have been or may be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Our contracts with some suppliers and manufacturers may not adequately meet our production requirements, and we compete with other companies for raw materials and production.

We have experienced, and may in the future experience, a significant disruption in the supply of raw materials from current sources and we may be unable to locate alternative materials suppliers of comparable quality at an acceptable price in time, or at all. These issues and risks have been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic, which has resulted in travel limitations and stay-at-home orders in most or all parts of the world for much of 2020 and the early part of 2021. In addition, if we experience significant increased demand, or if we need to replace an existing supplier or manufacturer, we may be unable to locate additional supplies of raw materials or additional manufacturing capacity on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all, or we may be unable to locate any supplier or

manufacturer with sufficient capacity to meet our requirements or to fill our orders in a timely manner. These issues and risks are increased as a result of our commitments to sustainability, including our use of specific materials and manufacturing processes and the sustainability and ESG-related requirements we impose on our suppliers, which generally limit the number of suppliers who could potentially satisfy our requirements. Identifying a suitable supplier is an involved process that requires us to become satisfied with its quality control, responsiveness and service, financial stability, environmental impact, and labor and other ethical practices. Even if we are able to expand existing or find new manufacturing or materials sources, we may encounter delays in production and added costs as a result of the time it takes to train our suppliers and manufacturers in our methods, products, and quality control standards. Delays related to supplier changes could also arise due to an increase in shipping times if new suppliers are located farther away from our markets or from other participants in our supply chain or if an alternative shipping and transportation route is required, any of which could increase our overall environmental impact and which could also negatively impact our reputation and the carbon footprint scoring of our products. Any delays, interruption, or increased costs in the supply of materials or manufacture of our products could have an adverse effect on our ability to meet customer demand for our products and result in lower net revenue and income from operations both in the short and long term.

# Our business is subject to the risk of manufacturer concentration.

We depend significantly on a limited number of third-party contract manufacturers for the sourcing of the vast majority of our products. As a result of this concentration in our supply chain, our business and operations would be negatively affected if any of our key manufacturers were to experience significant disruption affecting the price, quality, availability, or timely delivery of products. The partial or complete loss of these key manufacturers, or a significant adverse change in our relationship with any of these manufacturers, could result in lost sales, added costs, and distribution delays that could harm our business and customer relationships. In addition, as a result of our commitments to sustainability, including our use of specific materials and manufacturing processes and the sustainability and ESG-related requirements we impose on our contract manufacturers, there are generally fewer manufacturers who could potentially satisfy our requirements without substantial lead time or without requiring us to incur much higher costs, so we may be unable to replace a key manufacturer without substantial time and expense.

# Failure of our contractors or our licensees' contractors to comply with our supplier code of conduct, contractual obligations, local laws, and other standards could harm our business.

We work with contractors, most of which are located outside of the United States, to manufacture our products. We require the contractors that directly manufacture our products as well as those that manufacture the materials used to manufacture our products to comply with our supplier code of conduct and other social, environmental, health, and safety standards for the benefit of workers. We also require these contractors to comply with applicable standards for product safety. Notwithstanding their contractual obligations to comply with our policies and applicable standards, from time to time, contractors may not comply with such standards or applicable local law or our licensees may fail to enforce such standards or applicable local law on their contractors. Significant or continuing noncompliance with such standards and laws by one or more contractors could harm our reputation or result in a product recall and, as a result, could have an adverse effect on our sales and financial condition. Similarly, agreements that we enter into with these contractors generally do not require blanket exclusivity with us; as a result, some contractors may be permitted to work with parties who could be deemed competitive, which could harm our business.

In addition, failure of one or more contractors to comply with applicable laws and regulations and contractual obligations could lead to litigation against us or require us to initiate litigation to enforce our contracts, resulting in increased legal expenses and costs. Furthermore, the failure of any such contractors to provide safe and humane factory conditions and oversight at their facilities could damage our reputation with customers or result in legal claims against us. Furthermore, any such noncompliance by our contractors, product recalls, or negative publicity regarding production methods, alleged practices, or workplace or related conditions of any of our suppliers, manufacturers, or licensees could adversely affect our brand image, result in lost sales, require us to divert resources to address and remediate these issues, expose us to legal claims, and force us to locate alternative suppliers, manufacturers or licensees, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and

results of operations. Any of these issues with our contractors could have a greater negative impact on us, due to the importance of ESG and sustainability practices to our brand and business.

Failure of our suppliers or manufacturers to consistently provide high-quality materials and products could adversely affect our brand and reputation and cause our business and results of operations to suffer.

Our success depends on our ability to provide our customers with the sustainable footwear and apparel they seek, which in turn depends on the quantity and quality of the finished products provided by our manufacturing partners, which depends on the quantity and quality of the raw materials they receive from our supply partners. We may be unable to provide customers with the high-quality sustainable footwear and apparel they seek if our supply chain partners do not consistently produce high-quality products for us to sell.

We believe that many of our new customers find us by word of mouth and other non-paid referrals from existing customers. If existing customers are dissatisfied with their product experience due to defects in the materials or manufacturing of our products or other quality related concerns, then they may stop buying our products and may stop referring others to us, and we could experience an increase in the rate of product returns. If we are unable to retain existing customers and attract new customers due to quality issues that we fail to identify and remedy, our growth prospects would be harmed and our business could be adversely affected. If product quality issues are widespread or result in product recalls, our brand and reputation could be harmed, we could incur substantial costs, and our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

## The fluctuating cost of raw materials could increase our cost of revenue and cause our results of operations and financial condition to suffer.

The raw materials and commodities used by our suppliers and manufacturers include tree fiber, merino wool, sugarcane, castor bean oil, natural rubber, recycled plastic bottles, and paper products. Our suppliers and manufacturers' costs for raw materials and commodities are affected by, among other things, weather, consumer demand, rising interest rates, inflation, speculation on the commodities market, the relative valuations and fluctuations of the currencies of producer versus consumer countries, and other factors that are generally unpredictable and beyond our control. In addition, if key suppliers, the footwear and apparel industry, or a group of countries adopt and enforce carbon pricing, then the price of raw materials and commodities could increase. Increases in the cost of raw materials could have a material adverse effect on our cost of revenue, results of operations, financial condition, and cash flows. As a result, this may have an impact on pricing of our products. For example, in August 2021, we implemented a slight price increase in certain of our products, and we had further price increases in March 2022. It is uncertain if we will have to consider additional future price increases in our products as a result of increases in the cost of raw materials and supplies, partially due to the current inflationary environment. If we continue increasing the prices of our products, this may adversely impact demand for our products by our customers.

The operations of our suppliers, most of which are located outside of the United States, are subject to additional risks that are beyond our control and that could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Currently, most of our suppliers are located outside of the United States. As a result of our global suppliers, we are subject to risks associated with doing business abroad, including:

- political unrest, terrorism, labor disputes, and economic instability resulting in the disruption of trade from foreign countries in which our products are manufactured, including China;
- the imposition of new laws and regulations, including those relating to labor conditions, quality, and safety standards, imports, duties, taxes, and other charges on imports, as well as trade restrictions and restrictions on currency exchange or the transfer of funds, particularly new or increased tariffs imposed by the United States on imports from countries where our products are manufactured, including, for example, South Korea, Vietnam, China, and Peru;

- greater challenges and increased costs with enforcing and periodically auditing or reviewing our suppliers and manufacturers' compliance with our supplier code of conduct, including their labor and sustainability practices, given that their facilities are located outside of the United States and, in many cases, far away from our offices and management;
- reduced protection for intellectual property rights, including trademark protection, in some countries, particularly China;
- disruptions in operations due to global, regional, or local public health crises or other emergencies or natural disasters, including, for example, disruptions due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic given the emergence of new variants and disparities in availability of vaccines in different parts of the world;
- disruptions or delays in shipments and transportation across our supply chain; and
- changes in local economic conditions in countries where our manufacturers, suppliers, or customers are located.

These and other factors beyond our control, particularly in light of the COVID-19 pandemic, could interrupt our suppliers' production, influence the ability of our suppliers to export our products cost-effectively or at all, and inhibit our suppliers' ability to procure certain materials, any of which could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

# Shipping and delivery are critical parts of our business and any changes in, or disruptions to, our shipping and delivery arrangements could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We rely on several ocean, air parcel, and "less than truckload" carriers to deliver the products we sell. If we are not able to negotiate acceptable pricing and other terms with these providers, or if these providers experience performance problems or other difficulties in processing our orders or delivering our products to customers, it could negatively impact our results of operations, financial condition, and our customers' experience. For example, changes to the terms of our shipping arrangements or the imposition of surcharges or surge pricing may adversely impact our margins and profitability. In addition, our ability to receive inbound inventory efficiently and ship merchandise to customers may be negatively affected by factors beyond our and these providers' control, including pandemic, weather, fire, flood, power loss, earthquakes, acts of war or terrorism, geopolitical instability, or other events specifically impacting other shipping partners, such as labor disputes, financial difficulties, system failures, and other disruptions to the operations of the shipping companies on which we rely. We have in the past experienced, and may in the future experience, shipping delays for reasons outside of our control. We are also subject to risks of damage or loss during delivery by our shipping vendors. If the products ordered by our customers are not delivered in a timely fashion, including to international customers, or are damaged or lost during the delivery process, our customers could become dissatisfied and cease buying products from us, which would adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

# If we do not successfully optimize, operate, and manage our global network of third-party owned and operated logistics and distribution centers, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be harmed.

Our success depends on our global logistics and distribution network. Currently, we rely predominantly on a few third-party logistics providers to store our finished products in, and distribute our products to customers from, their warehouse locations in the United States, Canada, United Kingdom, the Netherlands, China, Japan, South Korea, and New Zealand. Our ability to meet customer expectations, manage inventory, complete sales, and achieve objectives for operating efficiencies and growth, particularly in emerging markets, depends on the proper operation of these third parties' distribution facilities, the development or expansion of additional distribution capabilities, and the timely performance of services by third parties (including those involved in shipping product to and from our distribution facilities). If we continue to add third-party logistics providers, require them to expand their fulfillment, distribution, and warehouse capabilities, including adding additional locations in new countries, add products categories with different fulfillment requirements, or change the mix of products that we sell, our global logistics and distribution network will become increasingly complex and operating it will become more challenging for us and our third-party logistics providers. The expansion and growth of our logistics and distribution center network

may put pressure on our managerial, financial, operational, and other resources. In addition, we may be required to expand our capacity sooner than we anticipate. If we are unable to secure new or expand existing third-party logistics providers to meet our future needs, our order fulfillment and shipping times may be delayed and our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. The third-party owned and operated logistics and distribution centers we rely on could be interrupted by issues beyond our control, including information technology problems, disasters such as earthquakes or fires, or outbreaks of disease or government actions taken to mitigate their spread. For example, during the COVID-19 pandemic, several logistics providers we rely on faced staffing shortages, which impacted their businesses and resulted in delayed shipping and delivery times. Any significant failure in our distribution facilities could result in an adverse effect on our business. We maintain business interruption insurance, but it may not adequately protect us from adverse effects caused by significant disruptions in our third-party logistics and distribution centers.

# Risks Related to Intellectual Property, Information Technology, and Data Security and Privacy

# Our failure or inability to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights could diminish the value of our brand and weaken our competitive position.

We currently rely on a combination of trademark, trade dress, copyright, patent, and unfair competition laws, as well as confidentiality procedures and licensing arrangements, to establish and protect our intellectual property rights. The steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights may not be adequate to prevent infringement of these rights by others. We regularly face the imitation of our products, the manufacture and distribution of "knock-off" and counterfeit products, and the misappropriation of our brand and product names. For instance, we have had to litigate against a third party misappropriating our WOOL RUNNERS trademark and have had to enforce against third parties manufacturing and selling products that violate our design patents.

In addition, intellectual property protection may be unavailable or limited in some foreign countries where laws or law enforcement practices may not protect our intellectual property rights as fully as in the United States, and it may be more difficult for us to successfully challenge the use of our intellectual property rights by other parties in these countries. For instance, some of our trademark or trade dress applications may not be approved by the applicable governmental authorities because they are determined to lack sufficient distinctiveness, and, even if approved, may be challenged by third parties for this same reason. If we fail to protect and maintain our intellectual property rights, the value of our brand could be diminished, and our competitive position may suffer.

# Our trademarks and other proprietary rights could potentially conflict with the rights of others, and we may be prevented from selling some of our products.

Our success depends in large part on our brand image. We believe that our trademarks and other proprietary rights have significant value and are important to identifying and differentiating our products from those of our competitors and creating and sustaining demand for our products. We have applied for and obtained some U.S., E.U., and foreign trademark registrations, and will continue to evaluate the registration of additional trademarks as appropriate. However, some or all of these pending trademark applications may be refused due to prior conflicting trademarks or for other reasons. We may also encounter "squatters" or bad actors that either apply to register or "squat" on previously acquired trademarks that are identical or related to our trademarks. In such scenarios, third parties hope to use their prior rights as leverage to extract a favorable monetary settlement or acquisition of their rights; in some instances, we are required to expend both financial and internal resources to address such filings.

Moreover, even if our applications are approved, third parties may seek to oppose, invalidate, or otherwise challenge these registrations for these same reasons, particularly as we expand our business and the number of products we offer. For example, currently, we are defending invalidation actions in China against a number of our granted registrations.

Our defense of any claim, regardless of its merit, could be expensive and time consuming and could divert management resources. Successful infringement claims against us could result in significant monetary liability or prevent us from selling some of our products. In addition, resolution of claims may require us to redesign our products, license rights from third parties, or cease using those rights altogether. Any of these events could harm our business and cause our results of operations, liquidity, and financial condition to suffer.

# The inability to acquire, use, or maintain our marks and domain names for our websites could substantially harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We currently are the registrant of marks for our products in numerous jurisdictions and are the registrant of the internet domain name for the website allbirds.com, as well as various related domain names. However, we have not registered our marks represented by our domain names in all international jurisdictions. Domain names generally are regulated by internet regulatory bodies and may not be generally protectable as trademarks in and of themselves. We have incurred, and as our business grows, may continue to incur material costs in connection with the registration, maintenance, and protection of our marks. If we do not have or cannot obtain on reasonable terms the ability to use our marks in a particular country, or to use or register our domain name, we could be forced either to incur significant additional expenses to market our products within that country, including the development of a new brand and the creation of new promotional materials and packaging, or to elect not to sell products in that country. Either result could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Furthermore, the regulations governing domain names and laws protecting marks and similar proprietary rights could change in ways that block or interfere with our ability to use relevant domains or the Allbirds brand. Also, we might not be able to prevent third parties from registering, using, or retaining domain names that interfere with our customer communications or infringe or otherwise decrease the value of our marks, domain names, and other proprietary rights. Regulatory bodies also may establish additional generic or country-code top-level domains or may allow modifications of the requirements for registering, holding, or using domain names. As a result, we might not be able to register, use, or maintain the domain names that use the name Allbirds in all of the countries and territories in which we currently or intend to conduct business.

# Any material disruption of our information technology systems or unexpected network interruption could disrupt our business and reduce our sales.

We are increasingly dependent on information technology networks and systems, our website, and various third parties to market and sell our products and to manage a variety of business processes and activities and to comply with regulatory, legal, and tax requirements. For example, we depend on information technology systems and third parties to operate our websites, process transactions online and in our stores, respond to customer inquiries, manage inventory, purchase, sell, and ship goods on a timely basis, and maintain cost-efficient operations. We also depend on our information technology infrastructure for digital marketing activities and for electronic communications among our personnel, customers, manufacturers, and suppliers around the world. Our website, portions of which are run through Shopify, and information technology systems, some of which are managed by third parties, may be susceptible to damage, disruptions, or shutdowns due to failures during the process of upgrading or replacing software, databases, or components, fire, flood, power outages, hardware failures, terrorist attacks, acts of war, break-ins, earthquakes, or catastrophic events.

Our website serves as an effective extension of our marketing strategies by exposing potential new customers to our brand, product offerings, and enhanced content. Due to the importance of our website and internet-related operations, we are vulnerable to website downtime and other technical failures, which may be outside of our control. Further, any slowdown or material disruption of our systems, or the systems of our third-party service providers, or our website could disrupt our ability to track, record, and analyze the products that we sell and could negatively impact our operations, shipment of goods, ability to process financial information and transactions, and our ability to receive and process customer orders or engage in normal business activities. Our third-party technology providers may also change their policies, terms, or offerings from time to time, may fail to introduce new features and offerings that meet our needs as we expand, or may cease to provide services to us on favorable terms, or at all, which could require us to adjust how we use our information technology systems, including our website, or switch to alternative third-party service providers which could be costly, cause interruptions, and could ultimately adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects.

If our website or information technology systems, including those run by or those of our third-party providers, suffer damage, disruption, or shutdown and we or our third-party providers do not effectively resolve the issues in a timely manner, our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely affected, we may lose customer data or miss order fulfillment deadlines, and we could experience delays in reporting our financial results.

We use complex custom-built proprietary software in our technology infrastructure. Our proprietary software may contain undetected errors or vulnerabilities, some of which may only be discovered after the software has been implemented in our production environment or released to end users. In addition, we seek to continually update and improve our software, and we may not always be successful in executing these upgrades and improvements, and the operation of our systems may be subject to failure. We may experience slowdowns or interruptions in our website when we are updating it. For example, in the past we have experienced minor slowdowns and/or impaired functionality while updating our website. Moreover, new technologies or infrastructures may not be fully integrated with existing systems on a timely basis, or at all. Any errors or vulnerabilities discovered in our software after commercial implementation or release could result in damage to our reputation, loss of customers, exploitation by bad actors resulting in data breaches or unauthorized modification of our software, disruption to our digital channels, loss of revenue, or liability for damages, any of which could adversely affect our growth prospects and our business.

Additionally, if we expand our use of third-party services, including cloud-based services, our technology infrastructure may be subject to increased risk of slowdown or interruption as a result of integration with or subsequent dependence on such services and/or failures by such third parties, which are out of our control. Our net revenue depends on the number of visitors who shop on our website and the volume of orders we can handle. Unavailability of our website or mobile app or reduced order fulfillment performance would reduce the volume of goods sold and could also adversely affect customer perception of our brand. We may experience periodic system interruptions from time to time. In addition, continued growth in our transaction volume, as well as surges in online traffic and orders associated with promotional activities or seasonal trends in our business, place additional demands on our technology platform, and could cause or exacerbate slowdowns or interruptions. If there is a substantial increase in the volume of traffic on our website or the number of orders placed by customers, we will be required to further expand, scale, and upgrade our technology, transaction processing systems, and network infrastructure. There can be no assurance that we will be able to accurately project the rate or timing of increases, if any, in the use of our website or mobile app or expand, scale, and upgrade our technology, systems, and infrastructure to accommodate such increases on a timely basis. In order to remain competitive, we must continue to enhance and improve the responsiveness, functionality, and features of our website, which is particularly challenging given the rapid rate at which new technologies, customer preferences and expectations, and industry standards and practices are evolving in the eCommerce industry. Our or our third-party vendors' inability to continue to update, improve, and scale our website or mobile app and the underlying technology infrastructure could harm our reputation and our ability to

Further, we endeavor to continually upgrade existing technologies and business applications, and we may be required to implement new technologies or business applications in the future. The implementation of upgrades and changes requires significant investments. Our results of operations may be affected by the timing, effectiveness, and costs associated with the successful implementation of any upgrades or changes to our systems and infrastructure. In the event that it is more difficult for our customers to buy products from us on their mobile devices, or if our customers choose not to buy products from us on their mobile devices or to use mobile products that do not offer access to our websites, our customer growth could be harmed and our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely affected.

If the technology-based systems that give our customers the ability to shop with us online do not function effectively, our results of operations, as well as our ability to grow our digital business globally, could be materially adversely affected.

Many of our customers shop with us through our digital websites and mobile apps. Increasingly, customers are using tablets and smart phones to shop online with us and with our competitors and to do comparison shopping. We are increasingly using social media to interact with our customers and as a means to enhance their shopping experience. Any failure on our part to provide attractive, effective, reliable, user-friendly digital platforms that offer a wide assortment of merchandise with rapid delivery options and that continually meet the changing expectations of online shoppers could place us at a competitive disadvantage, result in the loss of digital and other sales, harm our reputation with customers, have a material adverse impact on the growth of our digital business globally, and could have a material adverse impact on our business and results of operations.

Risks specific to our digital business also include diversion of sales from our company-operated stores, difficulty in recreating the in-store experience through direct channels and liability for online content. Our failure to successfully respond to these risks might adversely affect sales in our digital business, as well as damage our reputation and brand.

#### We are subject to risks related to online payment methods.

We currently accept payments using a variety of methods, including credit cards and debit cards. As we offer new payment options to consumers, we may be subject to additional regulations, compliance requirements, fraud and other risks. For certain payment methods, we pay interchange and other fees, which may increase over time and raise our operating costs and lower profitability. We are also subject to payment card association operating rules and certification requirements, including the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard, or PCI DSS, and rules governing electronic funds transfers, which could change or be reinterpreted to make it difficult or impossible for us to comply. Failure to comply with PCI DSS (including as a result of a data breach or other security failure) or to meet other payment card standards may result in the imposition of financial penalties or the allocation by the card brands of the costs of fraudulent charges to us.

We must continue to expand and scale our information technology systems, and our failure to do so could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We will need to continue to expand and scale our information technology systems and personnel to support recent and expected future growth. As such, we will continue to invest in and implement modifications and upgrades to our information technology systems and procedures, including replacing legacy systems with successor systems, making changes to legacy systems or acquiring new systems with new functionality, hiring employees with information technology and cybersecurity expertise, and building new policies, procedures, training programs, and monitoring tools. These types of activities subject us to inherent costs and risks associated with replacing and changing these systems, including impairment of our ability to fulfill customer orders, potential disruption of our internal control structure, capital expenditures, additional administration, and operating expenses, acquisition, and retention of sufficiently skilled personnel to implement and operate the new systems, demands on management time, the introduction of errors or vulnerabilities, and other risks and costs of delays or difficulties in transitioning to or integrating new systems into our current systems. These implementations, modifications, and upgrades may not result in productivity improvements at a level that outweighs the costs of implementation, or at all. Additionally, difficulties with implementing new technology systems, delays in our timeline for planned improvements, significant system failures or our inability to successfully modify our information systems to respond to changes in our business needs may cause disruptions in our business operations and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

If sensitive information about our customers is actually or alleged to have been disclosed, or if we or our third-party providers are subject to real or perceived cyberattacks or misuse, our customers may curtail use of our website or mobile app, we may be exposed to liability, and our reputation could suffer.

Operating our business and platform involves the collection, storage, and transmission of a variety of sensitive information, including proprietary and confidential information, as well as the personal information of our employees and customers. Some of our third-party service providers, such as identity verification and payment processing providers, also regularly have access to our customer data. In an effort to protect sensitive information, we rely on a variety of security measures, including encryption and authentication technology licensed from third parties. However, advances in computer capabilities, increasingly sophisticated tools and methods used by hackers and cyber terrorists, new discoveries in the field of cryptography, or other developments may result in our failure or inability to adequately protect sensitive information.

Like other eCommerce companies, we (along with our supply chain partners) are also vulnerable to hacking, malware, supply chain attacks, computer viruses, unauthorized access, and various other attacks by computer hackers (such as phishing or social engineering attacks, ransomware attacks, credential stuffing attacks, denial-of-service attacks, exploitation of software vulnerabilities, and other real or perceived cyberattacks) as well as cybersecurity incidents caused by telecommunication failures, user errors, or intentional or accidental actions or

inactions by users with authorized access to our systems. Additionally, as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, certain functional areas of our workforce remain in a remote work environment, which has heightened the risk of these potential vulnerabilities. Any of these incidents could lead to interruptions or shutdowns of our platform, loss or corruption of data or unauthorized access to, or disclosure of sensitive information. Cyberattacks could also result in the theft of our intellectual property, damage to our IT systems or disruption of our ability to make financial reports, and other public disclosures required of public companies. We have been subject to attempted cyber, phishing, or social engineering attacks in the past and may continue to be subject to such attacks and other cybersecurity incidents in the future. If we gain greater visibility, we may face a higher risk of being targeted by cyberattacks. Advances in computer capabilities, new technological discoveries, or other developments may result in cyberattacks or other incidents becoming more sophisticated or obscure and more difficult to detect. We and our third-party service providers may not have the resources or technical sophistication to anticipate or prevent all such cyberattacks. Moreover, techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to systems change frequently and may not be known until launched against us or our third-party service providers. Security breaches can also occur as a result of non-technical issues, including intentional or inadvertent actions by our employees, our third-party service providers, or their personnel.

We and our third-party service providers may experience cyberattacks aimed at disrupting our and their services. If we or our third-party service providers experience, or are believed to have experienced, security breaches that result in marketplace performance or availability problems or the loss or corruption of, or unauthorized access to or disclosure of, sensitive information, consumers may become unwilling to provide us the information necessary to make purchases on our website. Existing customers may also decrease or stop their purchases altogether. While we maintain cyber errors and omissions insurance coverage that covers certain aspects of cyber risks, these losses may not be adequately covered by insurance or other contractual rights available to us. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that exceed or are not covered by our insurance coverage or changes in our insurance policies, including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements, could make us unable to acquire such insurance and may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Furthermore, we may be required to disclose personal data pursuant to demands from individuals, privacy advocates, regulators, government agencies, and law enforcement agencies in various jurisdictions with conflicting privacy and security laws. Any disclosure or refusal to disclose personal data may result in a breach of privacy and data protection policies, notices, laws, rules, court orders, and regulations and could result in proceedings or actions against us in the same or other jurisdictions, damage to our reputation and brand, and inability to provide our products to customers in certain jurisdictions. Additionally, changes in the laws and regulations that govern our collection, use, and disclosure of customer data could impose additional requirements with respect to the retention and security of customer data, could limit our marketing activities, and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Failure to comply with federal, state, or foreign laws and regulations or our contractual obligations or industry requirements relating to privacy, data protection, and customer protection, or the expansion of current or the enactment of new laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection, and customer protection, could adversely affect our business and our financial condition.

We collect and maintain significant amounts of data relating to our customers and employees, and we face risks inherent in handling large volumes of data, transferring such data to third parties, processing such data for tracking and marketing purposes (or providing such data to third parties for tracking and marketing purposes), and protecting the security of such data. Our actual or perceived failure to comply with any federal, state, or foreign laws and regulations, or applicable industry standards that govern or apply to our collection, use, retention, sharing, and security of data, or any failure by any of our third party service providers to protect such data that they may maintain on our behalf, could result in enforcement actions that require us to change our business practices in a manner that may negatively impact our revenue, as well as expose ourselves to litigation, fines, civil, and/or criminal penalties and adverse publicity that could cause our customers to lose trust in us, negatively impacting our reputation and business in a manner that harms our financial position. Laws and regulations in the United States and around the world restrict how information about individuals is collected, processed, stored, used, and disclosed, as well as set standards for its security, implement notice requirements regarding privacy practices, and provide individuals with

certain rights regarding the use, disclosure, and sale of their protected personal information. These laws and regulations are still being tested in courts, and they are subject to new and differing interpretations by courts and regulatory officials. We are working to comply with the privacy and data protection laws and regulations that apply to us, and we anticipate needing to devote significant additional resources to complying with these laws and regulations. It is possible that these laws and regulations may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from jurisdiction to jurisdiction or inconsistent with our current policies and practices.

In the United States, both federal and various state governments have adopted, or are considering, laws, guidelines, or rules for the collection, distribution, use, and storage of information collected from or about consumers or their devices. For example, California enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act, or the CCPA, which went into effect on January 1, 2020. The CCPA gives California residents expanded rights to access and delete their personal information, opt out of certain personal information sharing, and receive detailed information about how their personal information is used. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as statutory damages and a private right of action for data breaches that is expected to increase data breach litigation. Further, in November 2020, California voters passed the California Privacy Rights Act, or CPRA. The CPRA, which is expected to take effect on January 1, 2023 and to create obligations with respect to certain data relating to consumers as of January 1, 2022, significantly expands the CCPA, including by introducing additional obligations such as data minimization and storage limitations, granting additional rights to consumers, such as correction of personal information and additional opt-out rights, and creates a new entity, the California Privacy Protection Agency, to implement and enforce the law. Personal information we handle may be subject to the CCPA and CPRA, which may increase our compliance costs and potential liability. Further, Virginia, Colorado, Utah, and Connecticut have all passed privacy laws that take effect in 2023, but aspects of these state privacy statutes remain unclear, resulting in further legal uncertainty and potentially requiring us to modify our data practices and policies and to incur substantial additional costs and expenses in an effort to comply. Other states have considered similar bills, which could be enacted in the future. In addition to fines and penalties that may be imposed for failure to comply with state law, some states also provide for private rights of action to customers for misuse of or unauthorized access to personal information. Our compliance with these changing and increasingly burdensome and sometimes conflicting regulations and requirements may cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices, which may impact our financial condition. If we fail to comply with these regulations or requirements, we may be exposed to litigation expenses and possible significant liability, fees, or fines. Further, any such claim, proceeding, or action could harm our reputation, brand, and business, force us to incur significant expenses in defense of such proceedings, distract our management, increase our costs of doing business, result in a loss of customers and suppliers or an inability to process credit card payments, and may result in the imposition of monetary penalties. We may also be contractually required to indemnify and hold harmless third parties from the costs or consequences of non-compliance with any laws, regulations, or other legal obligations relating to privacy or consumer protection or any inadvertent or unauthorized use or disclosure of data that we store or handle as part of operating our business.

Certain requirements from our third-party technology and platform providers may also cause us to modify our offerings due to privacy concerns or negatively affect our revenue due to reduced availability of information about consumers. For example, Apple iOS 14.5 requires apps in the Apple App Store to opt in to the tracking of users across apps and websites owned by third parties for advertising and measurement purposes. Changes like this may reduce the quality of the data and related metrics that can be collected or used by us and/or our partners. In addition, such changes could significantly inhibit the effectiveness of our targeted advertising and related activities.

In addition to risks posed by new privacy laws, we could be subject to claims alleging violations of long-established federal and state privacy and consumer protection laws, including those related to telephone and email communications with consumers. As an example, the Telephone Consumer Protection Act, or TCPA, is a federal law that imposes significant restrictions on the ability to make telephone calls or send text messages to mobile telephone numbers without the prior consent of the person being contacted. The TCPA provides for substantial statutory damages for violations, which has generated extensive class action litigation. In addition, class action plaintiffs in the United States are employing novel legal theories to allege that federal and state eavesdropping/wiretapping laws and state constitutions prohibit the use of analytics technologies widely employed by website and mobile app operators to understand how their users interact with their services. Despite our compliance efforts, our

use of text messaging communications or similar analytics technologies could expose us to costly litigation, government enforcement actions, damages, and penalties, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Outside of the United States, certain foreign jurisdictions, including the European Economic Area, or EEA, and the United Kingdom, have laws and regulations which are more restrictive in certain respects than those in the United States. For example, the EEA and the United Kingdom have adopted the General Data Protection Regulation, or GDPR, which may apply to our collection, control, use, sharing, disclosure, and other processing of data relating to an identified or identifiable living individual (personal data). The GDPR, and national implementing legislation in EEA member states and the United Kingdom, impose a strict data protection compliance regime including: providing detailed disclosures about how personal data is collected and processed (in a concise, intelligible and easily accessible form); granting new rights for data subjects in regard to their personal data (including the right to be "forgotten" and the right to data portability), as well as enhancing current rights (e.g., data subject access requests); requirements to have data processing agreements in place to govern the processing of personal data on behalf of other organizations; introducing the obligation to notify data protection regulators or supervisory authorities (and in certain cases, affected individuals) of significant data breaches; maintaining a record of data processing; and complying with the principal of accountability and the obligation to demonstrate compliance through policies, procedures, trainings, and audits.

In addition, we are subject, or may become subject, to various other data privacy and security laws and regulations of other foreign jurisdictions, including those in China and South Korea. On June 10, 2021, the Peoples Republic of China, or the PRC, passed the PRC Data Security Law, or the DSL. The DSL, which became effective on September 1, 2021, imposes data privacy and cybersecurity obligations on entities carrying out processing of personal data and stipulates that entities processing of data outside China will be liable for damages to the interests of PRC citizens. Also, on August 20, 2021, the PRC passed the Personal Information Protection Law, or the PIPL. The PIPL, which took effect in November 2021, puts in place rules for processing personal information of PRC citizens. Like the GDPR and CCPA, the DSL and PIPL apply to processing of personal information outside China but for purpose of providing products or services to PRC citizens.

Since we collect and process personal information on PRC citizens, we are or may become subject to and may be ordered to comply with PRC regulations associated with the DSL and PIPL. In addition, we may be subject to heightened PRC regulatory scrutiny in the future. As there remains significant uncertainty in the interpretation and enforcement of the DSL and the PIPL, we cannot assure you that we will comply with such regulations in all respects. Any non-compliance may subject us to fines, orders to remediate or terminate any actions that are deemed illegal by regulatory authorities, as well as damage to our reputation, or legal proceedings against us, which may affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

We also may be subject to European Union rules with respect to cross-border transfers of personal data out of the EEA. Recent legal developments in Europe have created complexity and uncertainty regarding transfers of personal data from the EEA to the United States. We may make use of alternative data transfer mechanisms such as standard contractual clauses approved by the European Commission, or the SCCs. On June 4, 2021, the European Commission adopted new SCCs under the GDPR for personal data transfers outside the EEA, which may require us to expend significant resources to update our contractual arrangements and to comply with such obligations. Further, data protection authorities may require measures to be put in place in addition to SCCs for transfers to countries outside of the EEA, as well as Switzerland and the United Kingdom. Our third-party service providers may also be affected by these changes. In addition to other impacts, we may experience additional costs to comply with these changes, and we and our customers face the potential for regulators in the EEA, Switzerland, or the United Kingdom to apply different standards to the transfer of personal data to the United States and other non-EEA countries, and to block, or require ad hoc verification of measures taken with respect to certain data flows to the United States and other non-EEA countries. We also may be required to engage in new contract negotiations with third parties that aid in processing data on our behalf, to the extent that any of our service providers or consultants have been relying on invalidated or insufficient contractual protections for compliance with evolving interpretations of and guidance for cross-border data transfers pursuant to the GDPR. In such cases, we may not be able to find alternative service providers, which could limit our ability to process personal data from the EEA, Switzerland, or the United Kingdom and increase our costs.

These recent developments may require us to review and amend the legal mechanisms by which we make and/or receive personal data transfers to/in the United States. As supervisory authorities issue further guidance on personal data export mechanisms, including circumstances where the standard contractual clauses cannot be used and/or start taking enforcement action, we could suffer additional costs, complaints, and/or regulatory investigations or fines, and/or if we are otherwise unable to transfer personal data between and among countries and regions in which we operate, it could affect the manner in which we provide our services, the geographical location or segregation of our relevant systems and operations, and could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The United Kingdom has implemented legislation similar to the GDPR, including the UK Data Protection Act and legislation similar to the GDPR referred to as the UK GDPR, which provides for fines of up to the greater of 17.5 million British Pounds or 4% of a company's worldwide turnover, whichever is higher. Additionally, the relationship between the United Kingdom and the European Union in relation to certain aspects of data protection law remains unclear following the United Kingdom's exit from the European Union, including with respect to regulation of data transfers between EU member states and the United Kingdom. On June 28, 2021, the European Commission announced a decision of "adequacy" concluding that the United Kingdom ensures an equivalent level of data protection to the GDPR, which provides some relief regarding the legality of continued personal data flows from the EEA to the United Kingdom. Some uncertainty remains, however, as this adequacy determination must be renewed after four years and may be modified or revoked in the interim. We cannot fully predict how the Data Protection Act, the UK GDPR, and other UK data protection laws or regulations may develop in the medium to longer term nor the effects of divergent laws and guidance regarding how data transfers to and from the United Kingdom will be regulated.

We depend on a number of third parties in relation to the operation of our business, a number of which process personal data on our behalf. Any violation of data or security laws by our third-party processors, or their acts or omissions that cause us to violate our legal obligations, could have an adverse effect on our business and result in the fines and penalties outlined below.

Fines for certain breaches of the GDPR are up to the greater of 20 million euros or 4% of total global annual turnover. In addition to the foregoing, a breach of the GDPR could result in regulatory investigations, reputational damage, orders to cease/change our processing of our data, enforcement notices, and/or assessment notices (for a compulsory audit). We may also face civil claims including representative actions and other class action type litigation (where individuals have suffered harm), potentially amounting to significant compensation or damages liabilities, as well as associated costs, diversion of internal resources, and reputational harm.

We are also subject to evolving E.U. privacy laws on cookies and e-marketing. In the European Union, regulators are increasingly focusing on compliance with requirements in the online behavioral advertising ecosystem, and current national laws that implement the ePrivacy Directive will be replaced by an E.U. regulation known as the ePrivacy Regulation which will significantly increase fines for non-compliance. In the European Union, informed consent is required for the placement of a cookie or similar technologies on a user's device and for direct electronic marketing. The GDPR also imposes conditions on obtaining valid consent, such as a prohibition on pre-checked consents and a requirement to ensure separate consents are sought for each type of cookie or similar technology. While the text of the ePrivacy Regulation is still under development, a recent European court decision and regulators' recent guidance are driving increased attention to cookies and tracking technologies. If regulators start to enforce the strict approach in recent guidance, this could lead to substantial costs, require significant systems changes, limit the effectiveness of our marketing activities, divert the attention of our technology personnel, adversely affect our margins, increase costs, and subject us to additional liabilities. Regulation of cookies and similar technologies, and any decline of cookies or similar online tracking technologies as a means to identify and potentially target individuals, may lead to broader restrictions and impairments on our marketing and personalization activities, and may negatively impact our efforts to understand users.

Furthermore, compliance with legal and contractual obligations requires us to make public statements about our privacy and data security practices, including the statements we make in our online privacy policy. Although we endeavor to comply with these statements, should they prove to be untrue or be perceived as untrue, even through circumstances beyond our reasonable control, we may face litigation, claims, investigations, inquiries, or other

proceedings by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission, state attorneys general, and other federal, state, and foreign regulators and private litigants alleging violations of privacy or consumer protection laws.

Any actual or perceived non-compliance with these rapidly changing laws, regulations, or standards or our contractual obligations relating to privacy, data protection, and consumer protection by us or the third-party companies we work with could result in litigation and proceedings against us by governmental entities, consumers, or others, fines and civil or criminal penalties for us or company officials, obligations to cease offerings or to substantially modify our business in a manner that makes it less effective in certain jurisdictions, negative publicity, and harm to our brand and reputation, and reduced overall demand for our products, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Use of social media, emails, push notifications, and text messages in ways that do not comply with applicable laws and regulations, lead to the loss or infringement of intellectual property, or result in unintended disclosure may harm our reputation or subject us to fines or other penalties.

We use social media, emails, push notifications, and text messages as part of our omni-channel approach to marketing. As laws and regulations evolve to govern the use of these channels, the failure by us, our employees, or third parties acting at our direction to comply with applicable laws and regulations in the use of these channels could adversely affect our reputation or subject us to fines or other penalties. In addition, our employees or third parties acting at our direction may knowingly or inadvertently make use of social media in ways that could lead to the loss or infringement of intellectual property, as well as the public disclosure of proprietary, confidential, or sensitive personal information of our business, employees, learners, partners, or others. Information concerning us or our customers, whether accurate or not, may be posted on social media platforms at any time and may have an adverse impact on our brand, reputation, or business. The harm may be immediate without affording us an opportunity for redress or correction and could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations, financial condition, and prospects.

#### Risks Related to Other Legal, Regulatory, and Taxation Matters

Government regulation of the internet and eCommerce is evolving, and unfavorable changes or failure by us to comply with these regulations could substantially harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We are subject to general business regulations and laws as well as regulations and laws specifically governing the internet and eCommerce. Existing and future regulations and laws could impede the growth of the internet, eCommerce, or mobile commerce, which could in turn adversely affect our growth. These regulations and laws may involve taxes, tariffs, privacy and data security, anti-spam, content protection, electronic contracts and communications, customer protection, and internet neutrality. It is not clear how existing laws governing issues such as property ownership, sales, and other taxes and customer privacy apply to the internet as the vast majority of these laws were adopted prior to the advent of the internet and do not contemplate or address the unique issues raised by the internet or eCommerce. It is possible that general business regulations and laws, or those specifically governing the internet or eCommerce, may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another and may conflict with other rules or our practices. We cannot be sure that our practices comply fully with all such laws and regulations. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to comply with any of these laws or regulations could result in damage to our reputation, a loss in business, and proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities, customers, suppliers, or others. Any such proceeding or action could hurt our reputation, force us to spend significant amounts in defense of these proceedings, distract our management, increase our costs of doing business, decrease the use of our website and mobile app by customers and suppliers, and may result in the imposition of monetary liabilities. We may also be contractually liable to indemnify and hold harmless third parties from the costs or consequences of our own non-compliance with any such laws or regulations. As a result, adverse developments with respect to these laws and regulations could substantially harm our business, financial con

#### We may face exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.

Certain of our foreign revenue is denominated in currencies of the countries and territories where we sell our products outside of the United States. Similarly, certain of our foreign operating expenses are denominated in the currencies of the countries and territories in which our third-party vendors are located. For example, to acquire the supply of raw materials or commodities such as wool that we expect to require for our business, we may enter into long-term contracts with pricing denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, changes in the value of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar have affected and may in the future continue to affect our net revenue and results of operations. For example, in 2022, our net revenue and results of operations have been negatively impacted by unfavorable foreign exchange rates due to the strengthening U.S. dollar in certain international markets. As a result of such foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, it has been and may continue to be more difficult to detect underlying trends in our business and results of operations. In addition, to the extent that fluctuations in currency exchange rates cause our results of operations to differ from our expectations or the expectations of our investors, the trading price of our Class A common stock could be lowered. We do not currently maintain a program to hedge transactional exposures in foreign currencies. However, in the future, we may use derivative instruments, such as foreign currency forward and option contracts, to hedge certain exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The use of such hedging activities may not offset any or more than a portion of the adverse financial effects of unfavorable movements in foreign exchange rates over the limited time the hedges are in place and may introduce additional risks if we are unable to structure effective hedges with such instruments.

Existing and potential tariffs imposed by the United States or other governments or a global trade war could increase the cost of our products, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations; new trade restrictions could prevent us from importing or selling our products profitably.

The United States and the countries in which our products are produced or sold have imposed and may impose additional quotas, duties, tariffs, or other restrictions or regulations, or may adversely adjust prevailing quota, duty, or tariff levels. The results of any audits or related disputes regarding these restrictions or regulations (including, for example, regarding the proper import classification code, or HTS code, for a given product) could have an adverse effect on our financial statements for the period or periods for which the applicable final determinations are made. Countries impose, modify, and remove tariffs and other trade restrictions in response to a diverse array of factors, including global and national economic and political conditions, which make it impossible for us to predict future developments regarding tariffs and other trade restrictions. For example, the U.S. government has in recent years imposed increased tariffs on imports from certain foreign countries, such as China, and any imposition of additional tariffs by the United States could result in the adoption of tariffs by other countries, leading to a global trade war. Any such future tariffs by the United States or other countries could have a significant impact on our business. While we may attempt to renegotiate prices with suppliers or diversify our supply chain in response to tariffs or shift production between manufacturers in different countries, such efforts may not yield immediate results or may be ineffective or not possible in the near-term. For example, starting in 2020, we began shifting production capacity from China to Vietnam, which means that the U.S. government's tariffs on certain imports from China currently only affect a small portion of our existing production volume. But we may be required to shift production capacity back to China (or other countries for which the U.S. government has imposed higher tariffs) due to the COVID-19 pandemic or lack of manufacturing expertise in relatively lower-tariff countries.

Trade restrictions, including tariffs, quotas, economic sanctions, embargoes, safeguards, and customs restrictions, could increase the cost or reduce the supply of products available to us, could increase shipping times, or may require us to modify our supply chain organization or other current business practices, any of which could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We are also dependent on international trade agreements and regulations. The countries in which we produce and sell our products could impose or increase tariffs, duties, or other similar charges that could negatively affect our results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.

Adverse changes in, or withdrawal from, trade agreements or political relationships between the United States and China, South Korea, Vietnam, or other countries where we sell or source our products, could negatively impact our results of operations or cash flows.

General geopolitical instability and the responses to it, such as the possibility of sanctions, trade restrictions, and changes in tariffs, including tariffs imposed by the United States and China, and the possibility of additional tariffs or other trade restrictions between the United States and other countries where we currently or might in the future manufacture or sell our products, could adversely impact our business. It is possible that further tariffs may be introduced, or increased. Such changes could adversely impact our business and could increase the costs of sourcing our products that are manufactured in countries other than the United States, or could require us to source more of our products from other countries.

If we fail to anticipate and manage any of these dynamics successfully, our gross margin and profitability could be adversely affected.

## The United Kingdom's withdrawal from the European Union may have a negative effect on global economic conditions, financial markets, and our business.

Following a national referendum and enactment of legislation by the government of the United Kingdom, the United Kingdom formally withdrew from the European Union and ratified a trade and cooperation agreement governing its future relationship with the European Union. The agreement, which is being applied provisionally from January 1, 2021 until it is ratified by the European Parliament and the Council of the European Union, addresses trade, economic arrangements, law enforcement, judicial cooperation, and a governance framework including procedures for dispute resolution, among other things. Because the agreement merely sets forth a framework in many respects and will require complex additional bilateral negotiations between the United Kingdom and the European Union as both parties continue to work on the rules for implementation, significant political and economic uncertainty remains about how the precise terms of the relationship between the parties will differ from the terms before withdrawal.

These developments, or the perception that any related developments could occur, have had and may continue to have an adverse effect on global economic conditions and financial markets, and may significantly reduce global market liquidity, restrict the ability of key market participants to operate in certain financial markets, or restrict our access to capital. Any of these factors could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations and reduce the price of our Class A common stock.

## Any failure to comply with trade, anti-corruption, and other regulations could lead to investigations or actions by government regulators and negative publicity.

The labeling, distribution, importation, marketing, and sale of our products are subject to extensive regulation by various federal agencies, including the Federal Trade Commission, as well as by various other federal, state, provincial, local, and international regulatory authorities in the countries in which our products are currently distributed or sold. If we fail to comply with any of these regulations, we could become subject to enforcement actions or the imposition of significant penalties or claims, which could harm our results of operations or our ability to conduct our business. Legal proceedings or any investigations or inquiries by governmental agencies related to these or any other matters, could result in significant settlement amounts, damages, fines, or other penalties, divert financial and management resources, and result in significant legal fees. An unfavorable outcome of any particular proceeding could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, the adoption of new regulations or changes in the interpretation of existing regulations may result in significant compliance costs or discontinuation of product sales and could impair the marketing of our products, resulting in significant loss of net revenue.

Most of our products are derived from third-party supply and manufacturing partners in foreign countries and territories, including countries and territories perceived to carry an increased risk of corrupt business practices. We also have subsidiaries and/or employees and other agents working in several foreign countries and territories, including, but not limited to, the People's Republic of China, South Korea, and Hong Kong. We are subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or FCPA, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18

U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA PATRIOT Act, the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, and possibly other anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in countries in which we conduct activities. These laws prohibit companies and their employees and third-party intermediaries from corruptly promising, authorizing, offering or providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or anything of value to foreign government officials, political parties and private-sector recipients for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business, directing business to any person or securing any advantage. In addition, U.S. public companies are required to maintain records that accurately and fairly represent their transactions and have an adequate system of internal accounting controls. In many foreign countries, including countries in which we may conduct business, it may be a local custom that businesses engage in practices that are prohibited by the FCPA or other applicable laws and regulations. We face significant risks if we or any of our directors, officers, employees, agents, or other partners or representatives fail to comply with these laws, and governmental authorities in the United States and elsewhere could seek to impose substantial civil and/or criminal fines and penalties, which could adversely affect our reputation, business, financial condition, and results of operations.

While we have implemented policies and procedures relating to anti-bribery and anti-corruption compliance, our employees, contractors, and agents, and companies to which we outsource certain of our business operations, may take actions in violation of our policies and applicable law, for which we may be ultimately held responsible and which could lead to an adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Any violation of the FCPA, other applicable anti-corruption laws, or anti-money laundering laws could result in whistleblower complaints, adverse media coverage, investigations, loss of export privileges, or severe criminal or civil sanctions, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, responding to any enforcement action may result in a significant diversion of management's attention and resources and significant defense costs and other professional fees.

## Our ability to source and distribute our merchandise profitably or at all could be harmed if new trade restrictions are imposed or existing trade restrictions become more burdensome.

Substantially all of our footwear and apparel products are currently manufactured outside of the United States. The United States and the countries in which our products are produced or sold internationally have imposed and may impose additional quotas, duties, tariffs, or other restrictions or regulations, or may adversely adjust prevailing quota, duty or tariff levels. Countries impose, modify, and remove tariffs and other trade restrictions in response to a diverse array of factors, including global and national economic and political conditions, which make it impossible for us to predict future developments regarding tariffs and other trade restrictions. Trade restrictions, including tariffs, quotas, export controls, trade sanctions, embargoes, safeguards, and customs restrictions, could increase the cost or reduce the supply of products available to us or may require us to modify our supply chain organization or other current business practices, any of which could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

#### Changes in tax laws may impact our future financial position and results of operations.

New income, sales, use, or other tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations, or ordinances could be enacted at any time, or interpreted, changed, modified, or applied adversely to us, any of which could adversely affect our business operations and financial performance. In particular, presidential and congressional elections in the United States could result in significant changes in, and uncertainty with respect to, tax legislation, regulation, and government policy directly affecting our business or indirectly affecting us because of impacts on our customers, suppliers, and manufacturers. For example, the U.S. government may enact significant changes to the taxation of business entities including, among others, a permanent increase in the corporate income tax rate and the imposition of minimum taxes or surtaxes on certain types of income. The likelihood of these changes being enacted or implemented is unclear. We are currently unable to predict whether such changes will occur and, if so, the ultimate impact on our business. To the extent that such changes have a negative impact on us, our suppliers, manufacturers, or our customers, including as a result of related uncertainty, these changes may adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

#### Our international operations may subject us to greater than anticipated tax liabilities.

The amount of taxes we pay in different jurisdictions depends on the application of the tax laws of various jurisdictions, including the United States, to our international business activities, tax rates, new or revised tax laws, or interpretations of tax laws and policies, and our ability to operate our business in a manner consistent with our corporate structure and intercompany arrangements. The taxing authorities of the jurisdictions in which we operate may challenge our methodologies for pricing intercompany transactions pursuant to our intercompany arrangements or disagree with our determinations as to the income and expenses attributable to specific jurisdictions. If such a challenge or disagreement were to occur, and our position was not sustained, we could be required to pay additional taxes, interest, and penalties, which could result in one-time tax charges, higher effective tax rates, reduced cash flows, and lower overall profitability of our operations. Our financial statements could fail to reflect adequate reserves to cover such a contingency. Similarly, a taxing authority could assert that we are subject to tax in a jurisdiction where we believe we have not established a taxable connection, often referred to as a "permanent establishment" under international tax treaties, and such an assertion, if successful, could increase our expected tax liability in one or more jurisdictions.

## We could be required to collect additional sales taxes that may increase the costs our customers would have to pay for our products and adversely affect our results of operations.

Following the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in 2018 in South Dakota v. Wayfair, Inc., a state may impose sales tax collection obligations on certain retailers, including eCommerce companies, that lack any physical presence within such state. The Supreme Court's Wayfair decision has removed a significant impediment to the enactment of laws imposing sales tax collection obligations on out-of-state eCommerce companies, and an increasing number of states have adopted such laws. Although we believe that we currently collect sales taxes in all states that require us to do so, a successful assertion by one or more states requiring us to collect sales taxes where we currently do not collect sales taxes, or to collect additional sales taxes in a state in which we currently collect sales taxes, could result in substantial tax liabilities (including penalties and interest). In addition, the imposition of additional sales tax collection obligations, whether for prior years or prospectively, could create additional administrative burdens for us, put us at a competitive disadvantage if similar obligations are not imposed on our competitors and decrease our future sales, which could have an adverse impact on our business and results of operations.

### Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards may be limited.

We have incurred substantial net operating losses during our history. Subject to the limitations described below, unused net operating losses generally may carry forward to offset future taxable income if we achieve profitability in the future, unless such net operating losses expire under applicable tax laws. Under current law, unused U.S. federal net operating losses generated in tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, will not expire and may be carried forward indefinitely, but the deductibility of such federal net operating loss carryforwards in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020, is limited to 80% of taxable income. It is uncertain if and to what extent various states will conform to current federal tax law. In addition, our ability to utilize our federal net operating carryforwards may be limited under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code. The limitations apply if we experience an "ownership change," which is generally defined as a greater than 50 percentage point change (by value) in the ownership of our equity by certain stockholders or groups of stockholders over a rolling three-year period. Similar provisions of state tax law may also apply to limit the use of our state net operating loss carryforwards. We have not yet completed a Section 382 analysis, and therefore, there can be no assurances that any previously experienced ownership changes have not materially limited our utilization of affected net operating loss carryforwards. Past or future changes in our stock ownership, including as a result of our initial public offering, some of which may be outside of our control, may have triggered or may trigger an ownership change that materially impacts our ability to utilize pre-change net operating loss carryforwards. In addition, there may be periods during which the use of net operating loss carryforwards is suspended or otherwise limited. Accordingly, our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards to offset taxable income may be subject

#### Risks Related to Our Status as a Public Benefit Corporation and Certified B Corporation

#### Our status as a public benefit corporation may not result in the benefits that we anticipate.

We are a PBC under Delaware law. As a PBC, we are required to produce a public benefit and to operate in a responsible and sustainable manner, while balancing our stockholders' pecuniary interests, the best interests of those materially affected by our conduct, and the specific public benefit of environmental conservation that is identified by our certificate of incorporation. While we believe our PBC status is meaningful to customers, brand, employees, and other business partners and that our public benefit of environmental conservation is of vital importance to our planet, there is no assurance that we will achieve our public benefit purpose or that the expected positive impact from being a PBC will be realized. Accordingly, being a PBC and complying with our related obligations could negatively impact our ability to provide the highest possible return to our stockholders.

As a PBC, we are required to provide our stockholders with a report at least biennially assessing our overall public benefit performance and our success in achieving our specific public benefit purpose. To the extent we are unable to provide this report in a timely manner, or if the report is not viewed favorably by our stockholders, parties doing business with us, regulators, or others because we are unable to report sufficient progress toward our public benefit or otherwise, our reputation and status as a PBC may be harmed, which could in turn have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

# If our publicly reported certified B Corp score declines, or if we lose our certified B Corp status, our reputation could be harmed and our business could suffer.

While not required by Delaware law or the terms of our certificate of incorporation, we have elected to have our social and environmental performance, accountability, and transparency assessed against the criteria established by an independent non-profit organization, B Lab, Inc., or B Lab. As a result of this assessment, we have been designated as a certified B Corp, which refers to a company that has been certified as meeting certain levels of social and environmental performance, accountability, and transparency. The standards set for B Corp certification may change over time. Our continued certification is at the sole discretion of B Lab. We believe that our B Corp status strengthens our credibility and trust among our customers, employees and business partners as well as within our industry. Investors who are focused on ESG- and sustainability-related initiatives may also place importance on our status as a B Corp, as an independent assessment of our social and environmental performance, accountability, and transparency. Any decline in our publicly reported B Corp score or change in our status, whether due to our choice or failure to meet the B Corp certification requirements, could create a perception that we are more focused on financial performance and no longer as committed to the values and standards shared by B Corps. This could harm our reputation and brand among customers, employees or business partners, which could harm our business and results of operations, and cause the stock price of our Class A common stock to decline.

Our directors have a fiduciary duty to consider not only our stockholders' interests, but also our specific public benefit and the interests of other stakeholders affected by our conduct. If a conflict between such interests arises, there is no guarantee such a conflict would be resolved in favor of our stockholders.

While directors of traditional corporations are required to make decisions they believe to be in the best interests of their stockholders, directors of a PBC have a fiduciary duty to balance the stockholders' pecuniary interests, the best interests of other stakeholders materially affected by the PBC's conduct and the company's specific public benefit. Under Delaware law, directors are shielded from liability for breach of these fiduciary obligations if they make informed and disinterested decisions that serve a rational purpose. Thus, our directors are not merely permitted, but obligated, to consider our specific public benefit and the interests of other stakeholders. In the event of a conflict between the financial interests of our stockholders and the interests of our specific public benefit or our other stakeholders, our directors are obligated to make informed and disinterested decisions that serve a rational purpose; thus, there is no guarantee that such a conflict would be resolved in favor of our stockholders' financial interests. Accordingly, Delaware law and our PBC status could result in our board of directors making decisions which are less financially lucrative for our stockholders in the short- and/or long-term if the public benefit and other stakeholder considerations are significant; this could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline.

# As a public benefit corporation, our focus on a specific public benefit purpose and producing a positive effect for society may negatively influence our financial performance.

As a PBC, our board of directors has a duty to balance (1) the pecuniary interest of our stockholders, (2) the best interests of those materially affected by our conduct, and (3) the specific public benefit of environmental conservation identified in our certificate of incorporation. While we believe our public benefit designation and obligations will benefit our stockholders, in balancing these interests our board of directors may authorize and we may take actions that we believe will benefit environmental conservation or some or all of our stakeholders, even if those actions do not maximize our short- or medium-term financial results. While we believe that this designation and obligation will benefit the company given the importance to our long-term success of our commitment to environmental conservation, it could cause our board of directors to make decisions and take actions not in keeping with the short-term or more narrow interests of our stockholders. Any longer-term benefits that are intended by or expected from such decisions or actions may not materialize within the timeframe we expect or at all and such decisions or actions may have an immediate negative effect. For example, we may choose to revise our policies in ways that we believe will further promote environmental conservation and sustainability, even though such changes may be costly; we may take actions, such as building or contracting with suppliers and service providers who have state-of-the-art manufacturing and distribution facilities with technology and quality control mechanisms that exceed the applicable legal requirements and industry standards, even though these actions may be more costly than other alternatives; we may be influenced to pursue programs and opportunities to demonstrate our commitments to our planet, the environment and the communities in which we live and work; or in responding to a possible proposal to acquire the company, our board of directors may be different from the interests of our stockholders.

We may be unable or slow to realize the benefits we expect from actions taken to promote environmental conservation, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline.

# As a public benefit corporation, we may be subject to increased derivative litigation concerning our duty to balance stockholder and public benefit interests, the occurrence of which may have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

As a PBC, our stockholders (if they, individually or collectively, own at least 2% of our outstanding capital stock or shares having at least \$2 million in market value (whichever is less)) are entitled to file a derivative lawsuit claiming that our directors failed to balance stockholder and public benefit interests. Such derivative actions would be subject to the provision of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation requiring that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, such lawsuits be exclusively brought in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction thereof, the federal district court of the State of Delaware. Although traditional corporations are subject to other types of derivative actions brought by stockholders, this type of claim does not exist for traditional corporations. Therefore, we may be subject to the possibility of increased derivative litigation, which would require the attention of management and, as a result, may adversely impact management's ability to effectively execute our strategy. Any such derivative litigation could be costly and have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

## Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

The market price of our Class A common stock may decline regardless of our operating performance, resulting in substantial losses for investors purchasing shares of our Class A common stock.

The market price of our Class A common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:

- actual or anticipated fluctuations in our financial condition and results of operations;
- the financial projections we may provide to the public, any changes in these projections, or our failure to meet these projections;

- failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of our company, changes in financial estimates or ratings by any securities analysts who follow our company, or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;
- announcements by us or our competitors of significant technical innovations, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, results of operations, or capital commitments;
- changes in stock market valuations and operating performance of other footwear and apparel companies generally, or those in our industry in particular;
- the sustainability targets we may provide to the public, any changes in these targets, or our failure to meet them;
- price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market, including as a result of trends in the economy as a whole;
- changes in our board of directors or management;
- sales of large blocks of our Class A common stock, including sales by our co-founders and co-Chief Executive Officers or our other executive officers and directors or by their affiliates;
- lawsuits threatened or filed against us;
- anticipated or actual changes in laws, regulations, or government policies applicable to our business;
- changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of debt or equity securities;
- short sales, hedging, and other derivative transactions involving our capital stock;
- general economic conditions in the United States and globally;
- other events or factors, including those resulting from war (such as Russia's invasion of Ukraine and the ongoing conflict), pandemics (including COVID-19), incidents of terrorism, or responses to these events; and
- the other factors described in this "Part II, Item 1A. Risk Factors" and in the section titled "Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

The stock market has recently experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. The market prices of securities of companies have experienced fluctuations that often have been unrelated or disproportionate to their results of operations. Market fluctuations could result in extreme volatility in the price of shares of our Class A common stock. Price volatility may be greater if the public float and trading volume of shares of our Class A common stock is low. Furthermore, in the past, stockholders have sometimes instituted securities class action litigation against companies following periods of volatility in the market price of their securities. Any similar litigation against us could result in substantial costs, divert management's attention and resources, and harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

#### The dual class structure of our common stock may adversely affect the trading market for our Class A common stock.

We cannot predict whether our dual class structure will result in a lower or more volatile market price of our Class A common stock or in adverse publicity or other adverse consequences. For example, certain index providers have announced restrictions on including companies with dual class or multiclass share structures in certain of their indexes. In July 2017, S&P Dow Jones and FTSE Russell announced changes to their eligibility criteria for the inclusion of shares of public companies on certain indices, including the Russell 2000, the S&P 500, the S&P MidCap 400, and the S&P SmallCap 600, to exclude companies with multiple classes of shares of common stock from being added to these indices. As a result, our dual class capital structure would make us ineligible for inclusion in any of these indices, and mutual funds, exchange-traded funds, and other investment vehicles that attempt to

passively track these indices will not be investing in our stock. Beginning in 2017, MSCI, a leading stock index provider, opened public consultations on their treatment of no-vote and multi-class structures and temporarily barred new multi-class listings from certain of its indices; however, in October 2018, MSCI announced its decision to include equity securities "with unequal voting structures" in its indices and to launch a new index that specifically includes voting rights in its eligibility criteria. These policies are still fairly new, and it remains unclear what effect, if any, they will have on the valuations of publicly traded companies excluded from the indices in the longer term, but it is possible that they may depress these valuations compared to those of other similar companies that are included. Furthermore, we cannot assure you that other stock indices will not take a similar approach to S&P Dow Jones or FTSE Russell in the future. Exclusion from indices could make our Class A common stock less attractive to investors and, as a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected.

Sales, directly or indirectly, of a substantial amount of our Class A common stock in the public markets by our existing security holders may cause the price of our Class A common stock to decline.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A common stock into the public market, particularly sales by our directors, executive officers, and principal stockholders, or the perception that these sales might occur, could cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline. Many of our existing security holders have substantial unrecognized gains on the value of the equity they hold and may take steps to sell their shares or otherwise secure or limit their risk exposure to the value of their unrecognized gains on those shares. We are unable to predict the timing or effect of such sales on the market price of our Class A common stock.

In addition, as of June 30, 2022, we had stock options outstanding that, if fully exercised, would result in the issuance of 13,684,092 shares of Class B common stock and 2,350,756 shares of Class A common stock. All of the shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options, and the 17,417,690 shares of Class A common stock reserved and available for future issuance under our 2021 Equity Incentive Plan and 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, are registered for public resale under the Securities Act. Accordingly, these shares will be able to be freely sold in the public market upon issuance subject to applicable vesting requirements.

Further, based on shares outstanding as of June 30, 2022, holders of up to 44,447,372 shares of our common stock have rights, subject to certain conditions, to require us to file registration statements for the public resale of such shares or to include such shares in registration statements that we may file for us or other stockholders.

The dual class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with our co-founders and co-Chief Executive Officers, Timothy Brown and Joseph Zwillinger, our other executive officers and directors, our principal stockholders, and their respective affiliates, which limits or precludes the ability of our other stockholders to influence corporate matters, including the election of directors and the approval of any change of control transaction.

Our Class B common stock has 10 votes per share and our Class A common stock has one vote per share. Our co-founders and co-Chief Executive Officers, Mr. Brown and Mr. Zwillinger, our other executive officers and directors, our principal stockholders, and their respective affiliates beneficially own a significant percentage of the voting power of our outstanding capital stock.

These stockholders will have the ability to control the outcome of matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of our directors and the approval of any change of control transaction. This concentrated control will limit or preclude the ability of our other stockholders to influence corporate matters for the foreseeable future, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other major corporate transaction requiring stockholder approval. In addition, this may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our capital stock.

Future transfers by holders of Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A common stock, subject to limited exceptions, such as certain transfers effected for estate planning purposes. The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock will have the effect, over time, of increasing the relative voting power of those holders of Class B common stock who retain their shares in the long term.

#### We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock, and we do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. We expect to retain future earnings, if any, to fund the development and growth of our business. Any future determination to pay dividends on our capital stock will be at the discretion of our board of directors.

#### Additional stock issuances could result in significant dilution to our stockholders.

We may issue additional equity securities to raise capital, make acquisitions, or for a variety of other purposes. Additional issuances of our stock may be made pursuant to the exercise or conversion of new or existing convertible debt securities, warrants, stock options, or other equity incentive awards to new and existing service providers. Any such issuances will result in dilution to existing holders of our stock. We rely on equity-based compensation as an important tool in recruiting and retaining employees. The amount of dilution due to equity-based compensation of our employees and other additional issuances could be substantial.

Delaware law, our status as a public benefit corporation, and provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could make a merger, tender offer, or proxy contest more difficult, limit attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management and depress the market price of our Class A common stock.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control of us or tender offer that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our Class A common stock, thereby depressing the market price of our Class A common stock.

As a PBC, we may be less attractive as a takeover target than a traditional company. PBCs may also not be attractive targets for activists or hedge fund investors because new directors would still have to consider and give appropriate weight to the public benefit along with stockholder value, and stockholders can enforce this through derivative suits. Furthermore, by requiring the boards of directors of PBCs to consider additional constituencies other than maximizing stockholder value, Delaware PBC law could potentially make it easier for such a board to reject a hostile bid, even where the takeover would provide the greatest short-term financial yield to investors.

In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management. Because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions could in turn affect any attempt by our stockholders to replace current members of our management team. Among others, these provisions include those that:

- provide for a dual class common stock structure in which holders of our Class B common stock may have the ability to control the outcome of matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the outstanding shares of our common stock;
- restrict the forum for certain litigation against us to Delaware or the federal courts, as applicable;
- provide that our board of directors has the exclusive right to expand the size of our board of directors and to elect directors to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board of directors or the resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors;
- divide our board of directors into three classes, Class I, Class II, and Class III, with each class serving staggered three-year terms, which may
  delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a majority of our board of directors;

- provide that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by the chair of our board of directors, a chief executive officer, or our board of directors, which may delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors;
- prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;
- provide that our board of directors may alter our amended and restated bylaws without obtaining stockholder approval;
- require the approval of holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of the shares of capital stock entitled to vote at an election of directors to adopt, amend, or repeal our amended and restated bylaws or repeal the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation regarding the election and removal of directors;
- require the approval of holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of the shares of capital stock entitled to vote at an election of directors to amend or repeal any provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation relating to our status as a PBC;
- require the approval of holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of the shares of capital stock entitled to vote at an election of directors to merge or consolidate with or into another entity if, as a result of such merger or consolidation, the capital stock of Allbirds would become, or be converted into or exchanged for the right to receive, shares or other equity interests in a domestic or foreign corporation that is not a public benefit corporation or similar entity and the certificate of incorporation (or similar governing document) of which does not contain a public benefit provision identical to ours;
- require that stockholders must provide advance notice and additional disclosures in order to nominate individuals for election to our board of
  directors or to propose matters that can be acted upon at a stockholders' meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from
  conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer's own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of our company; and
- authorize our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the terms of those shares, including preferences and voting
  rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer.

Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or DGCL, which generally prohibits a person who owns in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with us for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person acquired in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock, unless the merger or combination is approved in a prescribed manner.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for certain stockholder litigation matters and the U.S. federal district courts will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, which could limit our stockholders' ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, employees, or stockholders.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we otherwise consent in writing, (A) (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer, other employee or stockholder of Allbirds to us or our stockholders, (3) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, or our amended and restated bylaws (as either may be amended or restated) or as to which the DGCL confers exclusive jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or (4) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine of the law of the State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be exclusively brought in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such

court does not have subject matter jurisdiction thereof, the federal district court of the State of Delaware; and (B) the federal district courts of the United States shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act. Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all such Securities Act actions, and thus both state and federal courts have jurisdiction to entertain such claims. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation includes the provision outlined in (B) to prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exclusive forum provision shall not apply to claims seeking to enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or Exchange Act.

The choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder's ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers, and other employees, although our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid and several state trial courts have enforced such provisions and required that suits asserting Securities Act claims be filed in federal court, there is no guarantee that courts of appeal will affirm the enforceability of such provisions and a stockholder may nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than those designated in the exclusive forum provisions. In such instance, we would expect to vigorously assert the validity and enforceability of the exclusive forum provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation. This may require significant additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions and there can be no assurance that the provisions will be enforced by a court in those other jurisdictions. If a court were to find either exclusive forum provision contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with litigating Securities Act claims in state court, or both state and federal court, which could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the forum provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation.

#### **General Risk Factors**

Our estimates of market opportunity and forecasts of market growth may prove to be inaccurate, and even if the market in which we compete achieves the forecasted growth, our business could fail to grow at similar rates, if at all.

Market opportunity estimates and growth forecasts, including those we have generated ourselves, are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that may not prove to be accurate. The variables that go into the calculation of our market opportunity are subject to change over time, and there is no guarantee that any particular number or percentage of individuals covered by our market opportunity estimates will purchase our products at all or generate any particular level of revenue for us. Even if the market in which we compete meets the size estimates and growth forecasts, our business could fail to grow for a variety of reasons outside of our control, including competition in our industry. If any of these risks materialize, it could harm our business and prospects.

The requirements of being a public company may increase our costs, strain our resources, divert management's attention, and affect our ability to attract and retain executive management and qualified board members.

As a public company, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market, and other applicable securities rules and regulations. We expect that the requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming, and costly, and place significant strain on our personnel, systems, and resources. Furthermore, several members of our management team do not have prior experience in running a public company. For example, the Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and results of operations. As a result of the complexity involved in complying with the rules and regulations applicable to public companies, our management's attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Although we have already hired additional employees to assist us in complying with these requirements, we may need to hire more employees in the future or engage outside consultants, which will increase our operating expenses.

In addition, changing laws, regulations, and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure are creating uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs, and making some activities more time-consuming. These laws, regulations, and standards are subject to varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to disclosure and governance practices. We intend to invest substantial resources to comply with evolving laws, regulations, and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management's time and attention from business operations to compliance activities. If our efforts to comply with new laws, regulations, and standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application and practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against us, and our business may be harmed. We also expect that being a public company that is subject to these new rules and regulations will make it more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified members of our board of directors, particularly members who can serve on our audit and compensation and leadership management committees, and qualified executive officers.

As a result of the disclosure obligations required of a public company, our business and financial condition is more visible than it was as a private company, which may result in an increased risk of threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors and other third parties. If such claims are successful, our business, financial condition, and results of operations would be harmed, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, these claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them, would divert the resources of our management and harm our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

As a result of being a public company, we are obligated to develop and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting, and any failure to maintain the adequacy of these internal controls may adversely affect investor confidence in our company and, as a result, the value of our Class A common stock.

We will be required, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or Section 404, to furnish a report by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting commencing with our second annual report on Form 10-K. This assessment will need to include disclosure of any material weaknesses identified by our management in our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, our independent registered public accounting firm will be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in our first annual report required to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, following the date we are no longer an "emerging growth company." Our compliance with Section 404 will require that we incur substantial expenses and expend significant management efforts. We will need to hire additional accounting and financial staff with appropriate public company experience and technical accounting knowledge and compile the system and process documentation necessary to perform the evaluation needed to comply with Section 404.

During the evaluation and testing process of our internal controls, if we identify one or more material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, we will be unable to certify that our internal control over financial reporting is effective. We cannot assure you that there will not be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting in the future. Any failure to maintain internal control over financial reporting could severely inhibit our ability to accurately report our financial condition or results of operations. If we are unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm determines we have a material weakness or significant deficiency in our internal control over financial reporting, we could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline, and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities. Failure to remedy any material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, or to implement or maintain other effective control systems required of public companies, could also restrict our future access to the capital markets.

We are currently an "emerging growth company," and we cannot be certain if the reduced reporting and disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will make our Class A common stock less attractive to investors.

We are currently an "emerging growth company," as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or JOBS Act, and we may take advantage of certain exemptions from reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not "emerging growth companies," including the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. Pursuant to Section 107 of the JOBS Act, as an emerging growth company, we have elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies. As a result, our consolidated financial statements may not be comparable to the financial statements of issuers who are required to comply with the effective dates for new or revised accounting standards that are applicable to public companies, which may make our Class A common stock less attractive to investors. In addition, if we cease to be an emerging growth company, we will no longer be able to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards.

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of: (1) December 31, 2026, the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of our initial public offering; (2) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenue is \$1.07 billion or more; (3) the date on which we have, during the previous rolling three-year period, issued more than \$1 billion in non-convertible debt securities; and (4) the date we qualify as a "large accelerated filer," with at least \$700 million of equity securities held by non-affiliates.

We cannot predict if investors will find our Class A common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on these exemptions. For example, if we do not adopt a new or revised accounting standard, our future results of operations may not be comparable to the results of operations of certain other companies in our industry that adopted such standards. If some investors find our Class A common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our Class A common stock, and our stock price may be more volatile.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about our business, the price of our Class A common stock and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business, our market and our competitors. We do not have any control over these analysts. If few securities analysts commence coverage of us, or if industry analysts cease coverage of us, the trading price for our Class A common stock would be negatively affected. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our Class A common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our Class A common stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our Class A common stock could decrease, which might cause our Class A common stock price and trading volume to decline.

## We may incur losses from fraud or theft.

We have occasionally in the past incurred and may in the future incur losses from various types of fraud, including stolen credit card numbers, claims that a customer did not authorize a purchase, and merchant fraud. As a general matter, we are liable for fraudulent credit card transactions. Although we have measures in place to detect and reduce the occurrence of fraudulent activity on our digital platform, those measures may not always be effective. In addition to the direct costs of such losses, if the fraud is related to credit card transactions and becomes excessive, it could potentially result in us paying higher fees or affecting our ability to accept credit cards for payment. Our failure to adequately prevent fraudulent transactions could damage our reputation, result in litigation or regulatory action, and lead to expenses that could substantially impact our results of operations.

Additionally, we have occasionally in the past been, and may in the future be, subject to fraudulent purchases by individuals purchasing our products in bulk with the intention of unlawfully reselling such products at a premium.

While we have taken steps to detect and prevent such practices, our failure to identify those activities may adversely affect our brand and reputation.

We have occasionally in the past incurred and may in the future incur losses from theft or "leakage" of our products in our stores or in our distribution centers. While we have taken steps to detect and prevent such issues, those steps may not always be effective. In addition to the direct costs of such losses, such theft or "leakage" of our products could result in lost revenue and unlawful reselling of our products, which could adversely affect our brand and reputation.

#### If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes appearing in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, as provided in the section titled "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Estimates" in the Form 10-K. The results of these estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabilities, and equity, and the amount of revenue and expenses. Significant estimates and judgments involve: revenue recognition, stock-based compensation, and the fair value of our common stock. Our results of operations may be adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions, which could cause our results of operations to fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the market price of our Class A common stock.

#### We may be subject to periodic claims and litigation that could result in unexpected expenses and could ultimately be resolved against us.

From time to time, we may be involved in litigation and other proceedings, including matters related to product liability claims, stockholder class action and derivative claims, commercial disputes, and copyright infringement, challenging trademarks, and other intellectual property claims, as well as trade, regulatory, employment, and other claims related to our business or our sustainability and ESG practices, statements, and goals. Any of these proceedings could result in significant settlement amounts, damages, fines, or other penalties, divert financial and management resources, and result in significant legal fees. An unfavorable outcome of any particular proceeding could exceed the limits of our insurance policies or the carriers may decline to fund such final settlements and/or judgments and could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. In addition, any proceeding could negatively impact our reputation among our customer and our brand image.

# Extreme weather conditions, natural disasters, political crises and instability, and other catastrophic events, including those caused by climate change, could negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition.

Extreme weather conditions and volatile changes in weather conditions in the areas in which our offices, retail stores, suppliers, customers, distribution centers, and vendors are located could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. Moreover, natural disasters such as earthquakes, hurricanes, tsunamis, floods, monsoons or wildfires, public health crises, such as pandemics and epidemics (including, for example, the COVID-19 pandemic), political crises, such as terrorist attacks, war, and other political instability, or other catastrophic events, whether occurring in the United States or abroad, and their related consequences and effects, including energy shortages, could disrupt our operations, the operations of our vendors and other suppliers, or result in economic instability that could negatively impact customer spending, any or all of which would negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition. For example, our principal offices are located in Northern California, an area which has a history of earthquakes and wildfires, and are thus vulnerable to damage or disruption. In particular, these types of events could impact our global supply chain, including the ability of vendors to provide raw materials where and when needed, the ability of third parties to manufacture and ship merchandise, and our ability to ship products to customers from or to the impacted region(s).

In February 2022, armed conflict escalated between Russia and Ukraine. The sanctions announced by the United States and other countries against Russia and Belarus following Russia's invasion of Ukraine to date include restrictions on selling or importing goods, services, or technology in or from affected regions and travel bans and asset freezes impacting connected individuals and political, military, business, and financial organizations in Russia and Belarus. The United States and other countries could impose wider sanctions and take other actions should the conflict further escalate. Although we do not currently do business in either Russia, Belarus, or Ukraine, it is not possible to predict the broader consequences of this ongoing conflict, which could include further sanctions, embargoes, regional instability, and geopolitical shifts. It is also not possible to predict with certainty this ongoing conflict's additional adverse effects on existing macroeconomic conditions, consumer spending habits, currency exchange rates, and financial markets, all of which have impacted and could further impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

# We may require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital might be unavailable or might be available only by diluting existing stockholders.

We intend to continue making investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to support this growth. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our rate of revenue growth, the timing and extent of international expansion efforts and other growth initiatives, the expansion of our marketing activities and overall economic conditions. To the extent that current and anticipated future sources of liquidity are insufficient to fund our future business activities and requirements, we may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. In recent months, there has been volatility in and disruptions to the global economy, including the equity and debt financial markets. Any such volatility in and disruptions to the equity or debt markets, or further deterioration of such markets, including as a result of political unrest or war, may make any necessary equity or debt financing more difficult to obtain in a timely manner or on favorable terms, more costly or more dilutive. If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our Class A common stock. Any debt financing secured by us in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities. In addition, we may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited, and our business and prospects could fail or be adversely affected.

#### ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

(a) Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.

#### (b) Use of Proceeds

On November 2, 2021, the registration statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-259188) for our initial public offering, or IPO, of our Class A common stock was declared effective by the SEC. On November 5, 2021, we closed our IPO and 23,221,152 shares of our Class A common stock were issued and sold at a public offering price of \$15.00 per share, inclusive of the exercise in full by the underwriters of their option to purchase up to an additional 3,028,845 shares of Class A common stock. The shares of Class A common stock sold consisted of 16,850,799 shares offered by us and 6,370,353 shares offered by certain existing stockholders, for an aggregate price of approximately \$348.3 million. We received approximately \$252.8 million in offering proceeds before deducting underwriting discounts and offering expenses, and the selling stockholders received approximately \$95.6 million in offering proceeds before deducting underwriting discounts and offering expenses. We did not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares of our Class A common stock by the selling stockholders. Upon completion of the sales of the shares of our Class A common stock, our IPO terminated.

The underwriters of our IPO were Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC; J.P. Morgan Securities LLC; BofA Securities, Inc.; Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated; William Blair & Company, L.L.C.; Piper Sandler & Co.; Cowen and

Company, LLC; Guggenheim Securities, LLC; KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc.; Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated; Telsey Advisory Group LLC; C.L. King & Associates, Inc.; Drexel Hamilton, LLC; Loop Capital Markets LLC; Penserra Securities LLC; Samuel A. Ramirez & Company, Inc.; and Siebert Williams Shank & Co., LLC. We paid the underwriters of our IPO underwriting discounts and commissions totaling \$15.8 million and incurred \$5.4 million in offering costs. Thus, our net offering proceeds, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses, were approximately \$232 million. Other than the proceeds payable directly to the selling stockholders, no payments were made to our directors or officers or their associates, holders of 10% or more of any class of our equity securities, or any affiliates.

There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO as described in our final prospectus filed with the SEC on November 4, 2021 pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4).

### ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

Not applicable.

### ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

#### **ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION**

None.

### **ITEM 6. EXHIBITS**

The documents listed in the Exhibit Index of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are incorporated by reference or are filed with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, in each case as indicated therein (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).

|                   | _  | Incorporated by Reference |             |         |                     |
|-------------------|--|---------------------------|-------------|---------|---------------------|
| Exhibit<br>Number | Exhibit Title  | Form                      | File Number | Exhibit | Filing Date         |
| 3.1               | Ninth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant.   | 8-K                       | 001-40963   | 3.1     | November 5,<br>2021 |
| 3.2               | Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant.   | 8-K                       | 001-40963   | 3.2     | November 5, 2021    |
| 31.1*             | Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. |                           |             |         |                     |
| 31.2*             | Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. |                           |             |         |                     |
| 32.1†             | Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.                     |                           |             |         |                     |
| 32.2†             | Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.                     |                           |             |         |                     |
| 101.INS*          | Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document      |                           |             |         |                     |
| 101.SCH*          | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document   |                           |             |         |                     |
| 101.CAL*          | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document   |                           |             |         |                     |
| 101.DEF*          | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document  |                           |             |         |                     |
| 101.LAB*          | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document   |                           |             |         |                     |
| 101.PRE*          | Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document  |                           |             |         |                     |
| 104               | The cover page from the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022, has been formatted in Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibits 101    |                           |             |         |                     |

<sup>\*</sup> Filed herewith.

<sup>†</sup> The certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are not deemed filed with the SEC and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Registrant under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

## **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

## ALLBIRDS, INC.

Date: August 9, 2022 By: /s/ Joseph Zwillinger

Joseph Zwillinger

Co-Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 9, 2022 By: /s/ Michael Bufano

Michael Bufano Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

# CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

#### I, Joseph Zwillinger, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Allbirds, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - (b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 9, 2022

/s/ Joseph Zwillinger

Joseph Zwillinger Co-Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

# CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

#### I, Michael Bufano, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Allbirds, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
  - (b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 9, 2022

/s/ Michael Bufano
Michael Bufano
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

# CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350) as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Joseph Zwillinger, Co-Chief Executive Officer of Allbirds, Inc. (the "Company"), hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

- 1. The Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2022, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the "Periodic Report"), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and
- 2. The information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 9, 2022

/s/ Joseph Zwillinger
Joseph Zwillinger
Co-Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

# CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 13a-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. §1350) as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Michael Bufano, Chief Financial Officer of Allbirds, Inc. (the "Company"), hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

- 1. The Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2022, to which this Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.2 (the "Periodic Report"), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and
- 2. The information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 9, 2022

/s/ Michael Bufano
Michael Bufano
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)